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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
| ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended May 31, 2014.
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number 1-15829
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(thefct:

Title of each clas Name of each exchange on which registt
Common Stock, par value $0.10 per shar New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(¢ghefct:None
Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a vkelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edbéturities Act. YeRI No O
Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Rule 13 or Settis(d) of the Exchange Act. Y& No ™

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant éE)filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4L88ring the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the Regigtwas required to file such reports), and (2)deen subject to such filing requirements for thst{®0 days. Ye& No[O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant basnitted electronically and posted on its corporegbsite, if any, every Interactive Date File reqdito be submitted and posted
pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8§ 232.40%is chapter) during the preceding 12 monthdgosuch shorter period that the Registrant wasired to submit and post such files).
YesM NoO

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquitlers pursuant to Item 405 of RegulatiorK§ 229.405 of this chapter) is not contained mer@nd will not be contained, to the k
of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy aférmation statements incorporated by referendeairt 111 of this Form 10-K or any amendment to thsm 10-K.M

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantlésge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&wge the definitions of “large
accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smalieporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchaige

Large accelerated filed Accelerated filel] Non-accelerated file[d Smaller reporting compan]
(Do not check if a smaller reporting compa

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantshall company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExge Act). Yesl NoM™

The aggregate market value of the common stockthehibn-affiliates of the Registrant, computed &ference to the closing price as of the last bssigay of the Registrant’s most
recently completed second fiscal quarter, Nover@Be2013, was approximately $40.5 billion. The Regint has no non-voting stock.

As of July 11, 2014, 285,423,144 shares of the Regit's common stock were outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrant’s definitive proxy staent to be delivered to stockholders in conneatith the 2014 annual meeting of stockholders théld on September 29, 2014 are
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

FedEx Corporation (“FedEXx”) provides a broad pditfof transportation, e-commerce and business@es\through companies competing
collectively, operating independently and managdthboratively, under the respected FedEx bran@és&ltompanies are included in four
business segments:

» FedEx Express: Federal Express Corporation (“FedEx Expressthésworld’s largest express transportation compafigring time-
definite delivery to more than 220 countries amdtt&ies, connecting markets that comprise moamt®0% of the world’s gross domestic
product. The FedEx Express segment also includé&X¥&rade Networks, Inc., which provides internaibtrade services, specializing in
customs brokerage and global ocean and air frédgivarding, and FedEx SupplyChain Systems, Incickvbffers a range of supply chain
solutions.

* FedEx Ground : FedEx Ground Package System, Inc. (“FedEx Gropis leading North American provider of small-kage ground
delivery services. FedEx Ground provides low-cday-certain service to any business address it #ieand Canada, as well as
residential delivery to nearly 100% of U.S. resicenthrough its FedEx Home Delivery service. ThaBxeGround segment also includes
FedEx SmartPost, Inc., which specializes in thesobdation and delivery of high volumes of low-wkigless time-sensitive business-to-
consumer packages using the U.S. Postal Sel"USP¢") for final delivery to any residential address or B&x in the U.S

» FedEx Freight : FedEx Freight, Inc. (“FedEx Freight”) is a leaglid.S. provider of less-than-truckload (“LTL") fggit services across all
lengths of haul, offering: FedEx Freight Priorityhien speed is critical to meet supply chain neadd;FedEx Freight Economy, when ti
can be traded for cost savings. The FedEx Freggnnent also offers freight delivery service to npasnts in Canada, Mexico, Puerto
Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands and includes Fe@kstom Critical, Inc., a leading North Americayider of time-specific, critical
shipment service:!

» FedEx Services: FedEx Corporate Services, Inc. (“FedEx Servicpsdyides our other companies with sales, marketirffgrmation
technology, communications and back-office suppidre FedEx Services segment also includes FedBExCamect, Inc., which is
responsible for customer service, billings andemilbns for our U.S. customers and offers techrsapport services, and FedEx Office i
Print Services, Inc. (“FedEx Office”), which proeisldocument and business services and retail awcess package transportation
businesse:

For financial information concerning our reportablesiness segments, refer to the accompanyingdialesection, which includes
management’s discussion and analysis of resultp@fations and financial condition and our constéd financial statements.

Our website is located &dex.com Detailed information about our services, e-conuaeools and solutions, and citizenship efforts lsan
found on our website. In addition, we make our AadriReports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Fa¥Q, Current Reports on Formks-
and all amendments to such reports available drebarge, through our website, as soon as reabopedzcticable after they are filed with or
furnished to the SEC. These and other SEC filimgsagailable through the Investor Relations pageunfwebsitehttp://investors.fedex.com
The information on our website, however, is nobiporated by reference in, and does not form gdathis Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Except as otherwise specified, any reference waa indicates our fiscal year ended May 31 of ter yeferenced.
Strategy

FedEx was incorporated in Delaware on October 9718 serve as the parent holding company and gecstrategic direction to the FedEx
portfolio of companies. We intend to continue leaging and extending the FedEx brand and providimngcastomers with convenient,
seamless access to our entire portfolio of integraervices.

We believe that sales and marketing activitiesya$as the information systems that support thteresive automation of our delivery
services, are functions that are best coordinatemba operating companies. Through the use of agdhinformation systems that connect the
FedEx companies, we make it convenient for custsrteuse the full range of FedEx services. We belthat seamless information
integration is critical to obtain business synesgi@em multiple operating units. For example, oebsite fedex.com provides a single point
of contact for our customers to access FedEx EspFesiEx Ground and FedEx Freight shipping, pickshfpment tracking, customer
service and invoicing information, as well as Fed&fice services. Similarly, by making one callRedEx Expedited Freight Services, our
customers can quickly and easily evaluate surfadear freight shipping options available from FedExpress, FedEx Freight and FedEx
Custom Critical in order to select the service Imeséting their needs. Through this one point ot@aci customers can select from a broad
range of freight services, based on their pickup deldivery requirements, time sensitivity and tharacteristics of the products being ship
Also, we have integrated our LTL and parcel sadesnis to enhance the effectiveness of our saledseéiod provide additional simplicity for
our customers.

We manage our business as a portfolio — in the-tenm best interest of the enterprise, not a paleticoperating company. As a result, we
base decisions on capital investment, expansiaeldfery, information technology and retail netwgrknd service additions or enhancem
on achieving the highest overall long-term retunrcapital for our business as a whole. For eaclEkedmpany, we focus on making
appropriate investments in the technology and sssstessary to optimize our long-term earningsoperdnce and cash flow. We are also
focused on increasing returns to our stockholde®videnced by our share repurchase program anddlnt increase in our quarterly
dividend.

While we have increased our emphasis on competitigctively and managing collaboratively, we congnto believe that operating
independent networks, each focused on its own cispemarkets, results in optimal service qualigliability and profitability from each
business unit. Each FedEx company focuses exclysivethe market sectors in which it has the mapeetise and can be independently
enhanced and managed to provide outstanding seovimér customers. Each company’s operations,stastture and culture are designed to
serve the unique customer demands of a particidakehsegment and as a result, we are able to adapetworks in response to changing
needs.

Our “compete collectively, operate independentlgnage collaboratively” strategy also provides fity in sizing our various operating
companies to align with varying macro-economic ¢tos and customer demand for the market segnienthich they operate, allowing us
to leverage and manage change. Volatility and tairdy have become the norms in the global trartaion market, and we are able to use
our flexibility to accommodate changing conditianghe global economy. For example, in responsguggish economic growth, in 2013 we
retired from service 10 aircraft and related engiaed shortened the depreciable lives of an additio6 aircraft and related engines. In 2014,
we began replacing some of our retired aircrafhwhie more efficient, lower-emission Boeing 767-808ighter aircraft (“767F"). The 767F

is approximately 30% more fuel efficient and ha# operating costs that are more than 20% lower tha MD10 aircraft it is replacing.
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At the same time, we continue to expand networlacip at our growing and highly successful FedEgubid segment where we continue to
boost package volumes.

The following four trends have driven world comneend shaped the global marketplace, and we baheyewill continue to do so over the
long term:

Globalization: As the world’s economy has become more fully indégpl, companies are sourcing and selling globaliyh customers in
more than 220 countries and territories, we fatiitthis supply chain through our global reachivde} services and information
capabilities. Despite the recent slow-down in gldkmde growth, we continue to believe that glabatiion will drive international volume
growth over the long tern

Supply Chain Acceleration: While the growth of global trade has slowed, congaof all sizes continue to depend on the deliofifyst-
in-time inventory to help them compete. We haveta&dvantage of the move toward more efficient sugipains by helping customers
obtain more visibility into their supply chains anéar real-time information to manage inventoryniotion, thereby reducing overhead and
obsolescence and speeding -to-market.

Increase in High-Tech and High-Value-Added Businesses: High-tech and high-value-added goods have increasedpercentage of total
economic output, and our various operating comgaoiier a unique menu of services to fit virtualy shipping needs of high-tech and
high-value-added industries

Growth of E-Commerce: E-commerce continues to be a catalyst for the dtiree trends and is a vital growth engine for heisses, as the
Internet is increasingly being used to purchaselg@md services. Through our global transportaimhtechnology networks, we
contribute to and benefit from the growth of e-coence. During the most recent holiday season, weas&5% growth in the volume of
e-commerce shipment

These trends have produced an unprecedented eaparisiustomer access — to goods, services anchiatton. Through our global
transportation, information technology and retaitworks, we help to make this access possible. d&rue to position our companies to
facilitate and capitalize on this access and moweatd stronger long-term growth, productivity andfiability. To this end, we are investing
in long-term strategic projects focused on expamdind modernizing our global networks to accomnedisture volume growth and increase
customer convenience, such as investments in B&n@dMB767F aircraft. We also continue to broadenraack effectively bundle our
portfolio of services in response to the needsdesires of our customers. For example, during 204,

Continued to reduce transit times and provide tebgtckup experience within FedEx Gror's growing and highly profitable netwot

Made strategic acquisitions in Southern Africad¢quire the businesses operated by our servicegepin seven countries, which gives us
access to an established regional ground netwatlegtensive knowledge of the Southern African reg

Reached a significant milestone in our FedEx ExpEagopean growth program when we opened the T@8thstation in fewer than three
years, which growth program has resulted in thétaddof over 3,600 team members across Europelandolliout of intri-country
services in 13 countrie

Continued to execute our aggressive plan to exgladlobal freight forwarding presence of FedExder&letworks — by opening
additional facilities (over 140 freight forwardimdfices are now open in 27 countries), and esthinigsnew alliances throughout the wot

Expanded our temperature controlled packaging gartfo include a new “cold shipping” packaging ioptfor customers that require a
refrigerated environment of 2-8° Celsius up to 86rs for their shipments, which should be of pattc benefit to the healthcare industry,
as it is easy to use, reliable, -effective and environmenta-friendly.
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» Expanded the availability of our sensor-based Senaee service, which provides customers with neai-time tracking of a package’s
vital statistics within the inransit supply chain or stationary inventory morniitg, to Canadian domestic shippers and acros®@0tades ir
Europe, Latin America and Asia Pacific, all the letadding new capabilities to provide customers witeater flexibility and reacl

Profit Improvement Initiative

During 2013, we saw challenging global economicditions — particularly for FedEx Express, as ongashifts from priority to deferred
shipping services significantly impacted profitéil In response to these trends, in 2013 we ancediprofit improvement programs
targeting annual profitability improvement of $hilion at FedEx Express. Our plans position Fed&press to exit 2016 with a run rate of
$1.6 billion of additional operating profit fromet2013 base business. Our profit improvement progiiaclude multiple initiatives, primarily
across FedEx Express and FedEx Services, tha¢dweing our overall cost structure.

For example, in 2014 we completed a voluntary mogoffering cash buyouts to eligible Ulsased employees in certain staff functions. .
result of this program, approximately 3,600 empésykeft the company. We are also streamlining sdgpoctions and eliminating redundant
systems and processes. At the same time, in add@ionodernizing our air fleet, we are transforming U.S. domestic express network by
closing and realigning regional and district famh, reorganizing pickup and delivery operatiofslevmaintaining our outstanding service
levels, improving flight and crew scheduling, réfig aircraft maintenance processes and improviegdificiency of our vehicle fleet.
Internationally, we are working to improve the duyabf our international revenue as customers caito make more economical choices in
a low-growth global economy by moving the line-hafitertain slower-moving shipments to third-pargnsportation providers and better
leveraging capacity within the FedEx Express iraéaomal network through, for example, the reductiéflights to and from Asia. Recent
international acquisitions will also help drive igases in international domestic revenues. Lastlyare improving revenue quality by adding
value for our customers with innovative and maikating solutions, such as expanding our smallnaediumsize customer base and add
services for vertical industries, including hea#tteeand aerospace. Our way forward is clear, asontnue to make FedEx an even leaner,
more efficient business.

Reputation and Responsibility

By competing collectively under the FedEx brand, aperating companies benefit from one of the wenidost recognized brands. FedEx is
one of the most trusted and respected compantbg iworld, and the FedEx brand name is a poweafessand marketing tool. Among the
many reputation awards we received during 2014Ekednked 8th iFORTUNEmMagazine’'s “World’s Most Admired Companies” list the
13th consecutive year we have been ranked in theQmn the list. Additionally, FedEx ranked 18thtbe Reputation Institute’s “2014 Most
Reputable U.S. Companies” list, which measurestigorate reputations of the largest U.S. comparasgd on consumers’ trust, esteem,
admiration and good feeling towards a company.lj.aist 2014 FedEx was again listed Gorporate Responsibility Magaziné’s00 Best
Corporate Citizens” list.

FedEx is well recognized as a leader, not onlyhéttansportation industry and for technologicabivation, but also in global citizenship. \
understand that a sustainable global businessdgdiour global citizenship, and we are committedonnecting the world responsibly and
resourcefully. Our latest published update to dobagl citizenship report is availablefatp://csr.fedex.comThese reports describe how we
think about our responsibilities in the area ofglocitizenship and include important goals andriv&that demonstrate our commitment to
fulfilling these responsibilities.
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Our People

Along with a strong reputation among customerstapdyeneral public, FedEx is widely acknowledged gseat place to work. For instance,
for the past three years, since its inaugural seleBedEx Express was named as one of the topl gloimg@anies to work for by The Great
Place to Worl® Institute in its ranking of the Woddest Multinational Workplaces. In order to evencbnsidered for this honor, a comp:
must appear on at least five national Great Plad¥drk lists and have at least 5,000 employeesdmade. It is our people — our greatest
asset —that give us our strong reputation. In additiostgerior physical and information networks, FedBg An exemplary human netwc
with more than 300,000 team members who are “absglpositively” focused on safety, the highestiedl and professional standards, and
the needs of their customers and communities. Ttrawr internal Purple Promise and Humanitarian Alyaograms, we recognize and
reward employees who enhance customer servicerantbpe human welfare. For additional informationaam people-first philosophy and
workplace initiatives, selettp://csr.fedex.com

Our Community

FedEx is committed to actively supporting the comities we serve worldwide through the strategiestment of our people, resources and
network. We provide financial contributions, in-#icharitable shipping services and volunteer effbyt our team members to help a variety
of non-profit organizations achieve their goals amake a measurable impact on the world. We haeetbore focus areas: disaster
preparedness, relief and recovery (American Red<irect Relief, Heart to Heart International et Salvation Army); pedestrian and
road safety (Safe Kids Worldwide, UN Road Safetyldbmration and United Nations Decade of ActionRwad Safety); and environmental
sustainability (Arbor Day Foundation, EMBARQ, Nata Fish & Wildlife Foundation and The Nature Cawsaécy). We support minority
access to higher education by funding scholarshigsa major sponsor of the National Civil Rightsfdum and also support Teach for
America, Junior Achievement and ORBIS InternatioAalditionally, FedEx supports communities throughiiie U.S. with an annual United
Way employee giving campaign. In the aftermath yiffioon Haiyan that left millions of people in Scegist Asia in desperate need of food,
water and access to medical and pharmaceuticalissppedEx stepped in and assisted in deliveringerthan $10 million worth of relief aid
and medical supplies to communities across th@nedior additional information on our community aiwement and disaster relief efforts,
seehttp://csr.fedex.com

The Environment

In furtherance of our commitment to protecting ém¥ironment, we recently updated one of our lomgitgoals to increase FedEx Express
vehicle fuel efficiency to reflect the significagmtogress we have made over the last several yeawe have already reached more than 27
percent cumulative improvement in fuel economy &iB@05. Our goal is to now increase FedEx Exprebgle fuel efficiency by 30 percent
by 2020. We continue with our goal to reduce afteaissions by 30 percent by 2020 on an emisgi@ngvailable-tomwile basis, a goal th
we increased from 20 percent in 2012. We haveestablished a goal of obtaining 30 percent of eufyel from alternative fuels by the year
2030. These efforts help us continue to reduceenuironmental footprint as evidenced in 2013 whensaved 83.9 million gallons of jet fuel
and lowered our aircraft carbon dioxide emissiantsrisity by 22.3 percent as compared to 2005 levedd| while our revenues were up.

We will continue to expand on-site renewable engpggyeration in our facilities where feasible. Toetnaur future operational needs, as
discussed above, we are adding more fuel-effic@@ntaft to our fleet. The use of newer and moed-&fficient aircraft is reducing our
greenhouse gas emissions and airport noise anehsiog our jet fuel efficiency. Our electric detiydleet has grown to over 360 low-
emission hybrid-electric vehicles and over 200 z&rossion electric vehicles. We operate nine dalaifities around the world, including the
newest roof top solar-electric system at FedEx &sgs distribution hub in Newark, New Jersey, @84 solar modules covering 3.5 acres
across three buildings on the roof of the Newar. o addition, ten FedEx facilities in the U.Siw¢luding our FedEx Express facility in Las
Vegas, Nevada, our FedEx Express World Headquanéiemphis and our enterprise data center in @GolorSprings, Colorado, have
received certification in Leadership in Energy &mvironmental Design (LEER ), the U.S. Green BuitdiCouncil’s system for rating the
environmental performance of buildings. FedEx Expriegas made LEED certification the standard foripéwilt U.S. facilities.
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We also continue to evaluate the environmental otgpaf our packaging and copy and print serviced,rainimize waste generation through
efforts that include recycling and the use of cppper with recycled content, among other environtaigrresponsible available choices. In
fact, FedEx was ranked transportation sector leiaddie CDP (formerly Carbon Disclosure Projectdlél Forest Report in 2013 as a result
of our commitment to responsible paper procureraeRedEx Office. One example of our environmentedlgponsible innovation is our
FedEx Carbon-Neutral Envelope Shipping prograneroff carbomeutral envelope shipping at no extra charge ta@tist.omer. Through th
program, FedEx Express makes an investment in bpsbgects that displace or sequester greenhousemassions from the atmosphere,
neutralizing the impacts of the carbon emissionitethduring the shipment of all FedEx envelopesiad the world. Since the program
launched in April 2012, we have offset more thafl,080 metric tons of C@e. For additional information on the ways we araimizing our
impact on the environment, skp://csr.fedex.com

Governance

FedEx has an independent Board of Directors coradchtti the highest quality corporate governanceirguhe past year, we have added
highly qualified, independent directors to the Rbar Kimberly A. Jabal, Chief Financial Officer anglerseer of the legal and human
resources functions at Path, Inc., a privately-lselcial networking company, and Marvin R. Ellis&xgcutive Vice Presidentd.S. Stores ¢
The Home Depot, Inc. The Board has taken signifistaps to enhance its accountability to stockhslderecent years. For example, in
September 2011, stockholders approved our proposahend FedEXx’s certificate of incorporation iderto allow holders of 20 percent or
more of FedEx’s common stock the right to call splemeetings of stockholders. Additionally, in JU2@12, the Board adopted a lead
independent director corporate governance structure

Our Board of Directors periodically reviews all asfs of our governance policies and practicesydiof our Corporate Governance
Guidelines and our Code of Business Conduct anit€tim light of best practices and makes whatetanges are necessary to further our
longstanding commitment to the highest standard®giorate governance. The Guidelines and the Gultieh apply to all of our directors,
officers and employees, including our principal@xéve officer and senior financial officers, ara#able in the corporate governance sec
of the Investor Relations page of our websithtad://investors.fedex.comNe will post in the Corporate Governance sectibthe Investor
Relations page of our website information regarding amendment to, or waiver from, the provisiohthe Code to the extent such
disclosure is required.
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Business Segments

The following describes in more detail the operaiof each of our reportable segments:
FedEx Express Segment

FedEx Express

Overview

FedEx Express invented express distribution 40syago in 1973 and remains the industry leader igiray rapid, reliable, time-definite
delivery of packages and freight to more than 28@htries and territories through one integratedalmetwork. FedEx Express offers a wide
range of U.S. domestic and international shippernyises for delivery of package and freight, cortimecmarkets that generate more than !

of the world’s gross domestic product through dimedoor, customs-cleared service, with a money-hackantee. FedEx Express’s
unmatched air route authorities and extensive pranation infrastructure, combined with leading-edigformation technologies, make it the
world’s largest express transportation companyExdeixpress employs approximately 162,000 emplogedshas approximately 55,500
drop-off locations (including FedEx Office cente830 aircraft and approximately 55,000 vehicled tailers in its integrated global
network.

Services

FedEx Express offers a wide range of U.S. domaestitinternational shipping services for deliverypatkages and freight. Overnight and
deferred package services are backed by money¢uamrantees and extend to nearly the entire U.Sulptipn. FedEx Express offers three
U.S. overnight package delivery services: FedEstEvernight, FedEx Priority Overnight and FedEarfsiard Overnight. FedEx SameDay
service is available for urgent shipments up t@@0nds to virtually any U.S. destination. FedEx egs also offers U.S. express overnight
and deferred freight services backed by money-aekantees to handle the needs of the time-defieiight market. Additionally, FedEx
One Rate was introduced in October 2013 and giv8s tlistomers a simple, predictable flat rate shgppption that is calculated based on
the packaging type, service selected and destmatio

International express and deferred package deliwvittya money-back guarantee is available to miase 220 countries and territories, with a
variety of time-definite services to meet distinastomer needs. FedEx International Priority paeksagvices provide time-definite delivery
within one, two or three business days worldwidedEx International Economy package services prowide-definite delivery within five
business days worldwide. FedEx International Firsvides a time-definite, customs-cleared, dooddor express service with a pre-defined
delivery commitment as early as 8:00 a.m. in th®.1.B:00 a.m. in Europe, and 10:00 a.m. in Asiaada and Latin America, covering 19
destination countries. FedEx Express also offersedtic pickup-and-delivery services within certagm-U.S. countries, including the United
Kingdom, Canada, China, India, Mexico, Brazil, m@anPoland and South Africa. In addition, FedEx1ezgp offers comprehensive
international express and deferred freight seryibasked by a money-back guarantee, real-timeittga@nd advanced customs clearance.

We also provide FedEx Delivery Manager, which alawr U.S. residential customers to customize hdetigeries to fit their schedule by
providing a range of options to schedule datesitions and times of delivery. By signing ugdedex.com customers can receive notification
of FedEx Express and FedEx Ground packages entmtheir homes, and can choose various delivetipog.

For information regarding FedEx Express e-shippiaags and solutions, see “FedEx Services — Custdraehnology.”
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International Expansiol

We are focused on the long-term expansion of dermational presence, especially in key marketh siscChina, India, Europe, Latin
America and Southern Africa. In 2014 we made aeggia move in Southern Africa by acquiring the besises operated by our service
provider in the following seven countries: Southiéd, Botswana, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Swarrid and Zambia.

This acquisition, along with our 2013 acquisitimigransportation companies in Poland, France aadiBand our 2012 acquisition of a
Mexican domestic express package delivery compgimgs us more robust transportation networks withase countries and added
capabilities in these important international mékeontinues our strategic European, Latin Ameraad African growth plans and is
expected to provide important contributions to lamg-term growth, productivity and profitability.dditionally, in May 2014, we reached a
significant milestone in our European growth progrehen we opened our 100th new station — in Se\sbethern Spain.

Since we began serving mainland China in 1984, ave lexpanded our service to cover more than 43 @tross the country and, in 2009,
we began operations at our new Asia-Pacific huheatsuangzhou Baiyun International Airport in sarthChina. Our new North Pacific
regional hub at the Kansai International AirporOeaka, Japan, which opened in April 2014, serges@nsolidation point for shipments
from northern Asia to the U.S., and operates d@atamational gateway for customers in western dapdditionally, in October 2012, we
announced plans to establish a new InternationpitdSs and Cargo Hub in Shanghai. This new facikith designated onsite customs
clearance, will be located at Shanghai’'s Pudongriattional Airport and is slated for completiorearly 2017. These hubs will allow us to
continue to better serve our global customers dbirginess in the Asia-Pacific markets.

To facilitate the use of our growing internationatwork, we offer a full range of internationaldeaconsulting services and a variety of on
tools that enable customers to more easily determimd comply with international shipping requiretsen

U.S. Postal Service Agreement

In 2013, FedEx Express entered into a new sevenagraement with the USPS for the provision of dstiaeair transportation services to the
USPS for its First Class, Priority and Express Méit runs through September 2020. FedEx Expresspabvides transportation and delivery
for the USPS’s international delivery service aci&obal Express Guaranteed (GXG) under a sepagaézment.

Pricing

FedEx Express periodically publishes list pricegsrService Guides for the majority of its sergck general, U.S. shipping rates are based
on the service selected, destination zone, wegige, any ancillary service charge and whethectistomer charged the shipment to a FedEx
account. International rates are based on thedi/pervice provided and vary with size, weight,taegion and, whenever applicable, whether
the customer charged the shipment to a FedEx atdeedEx Express offers its customers discountemgdly based on actual or potential
average daily revenue produced.

FedEx Express has an indexed fuel surcharge farddi@estic and U.S. outbound shipments and fomshifs originating internationally,
where legally and contractually possible. The sargh percentage is subject to monthly adjustmesgdan a rounded average of a certain
spot price for jet fuel. For example, the fuel finge for June 2014 was based on the average spafqr jet fuel published for April 2014.
Changes to the FedEx Express fuel surcharge, wdlenlated according to the average spot pricedioiuel and FedEx Express trigger
points, are applied effective from the first Mond#ythe month. These trigger points may change fiiame to time, but information on the
fuel surcharge for each month is availabléedex.conapproximately two weeks before the surcharge isicgige. The weighted average L
domestic and U.S. outbound fuel surcharge as @&ptge of the base rates for the past three yemsadl4 — 9%; 2013 — 12%; and 2012
— 14%. These percentages reflect certain fuel sugehr@ductions that are associated with our arnvasg rate increases.

-9-



Table of Contents

Operations

FedEx Express’s primary sorting facility, locatedMiemphis, serves as the center of the companyl8pieuhub-and-spoke system. A second
national hub facility is located in Indianapolis.dddition to these national hubs, FedEx Expressabes regional hubs in Newark, Oakland,
Fort Worth and Greensboro and major metropolitatirgpfacilities in Los Angeles and Chicago.

Facilities in Anchorage, Paris, Guangzhou, ColoBoeh and Osaka serve as sorting facilities for esppackage and freight traffic moving
to and from Asia, Europe and North America. Addiibmajor sorting and freight handling facilitie® docated at Narita Airport in Tokyo,
Stansted Airport outside London and Pearson Airmoitoronto. The facilities in Guangzhou, Paris)dgme/Bonn and Osaka are also
designed to serve as regional hubs for their résemarket areas. A facility in Miami — the Miar@ateway Hub — serves our South
Florida, Latin American and Caribbean markets.

Throughout its worldwide network, FedEx Expressrafes city stations and employs a staff of custogeerice agents, cargo handlers and
couriers who pick up and deliver shipments in tla¢ign’s service area. In some international areafependent agents (Global Service
Participants) have been selected to complete dids/and to pick up packages. For more informagipout our sorting and handling facilitic
see Part |, Item 2 of this Annual Report on ForrKlOnder the caption “FedEx Express Segment.”

FedEx Office offers retail access to FedEx Expsiggping services at all of its U.S. and Canad@aiklocations. FedEx Express also has
alliances with certain other retailers to providestore drop-off sites. Our unmanned FedEx DropeBgxovide customers the opportunity to
drop off packages in office buildings, shoppingteesand corporate or industrial parks.

Fuel Supplies and Cos

During 2014, FedEx Express purchased jet fuel franous suppliers under contracts that vary intlermond which provide for estimated
amounts of fuel to be delivered. The fuel represgily these contracts is purchased at market pBaeEsuse of our indexed fuel surcharge,
we do not have any jet fuel hedging contracts.“GedEx Express — Pricing.”

The following table sets forth FedEx Express'’s sdst jet fuel and its percentage of consolidatanues for the last five fiscal years:

Total Jet Percentage of

Fuel Cost Consolidated
Fiscal Year (in millions) Revenues
2014 $ 3,50¢ 7.7%
2013 3,68:¢ 8.3
2012 3,867 9.1
2011 3,17¢ 8.1
2010 2,347 6.7

Most of FedEx Express’s vehicle fuel needs aresfsadi by retail purchases with various discounts.
Competition

As described in Item 1A of this Annual Report oniRdL0-K (“Risk Factors”), the express package arajht markets are both highly
competitive and sensitive to price and serviceeeigly in periods of little or no macro-economiogth. The ability to compete effectively
depends upon price, frequency, capacity and spestheduled service, ability to track packagesgmixdf geographic coverage, reliability
and innovative service offerings.
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Competitors within the U.S. include other packagkvery concerns, principally United Parcel Seryice. (“UPS”), passenger airlines
offering express package services, regional dgligencerns, air freight forwarders and the USP8HBxeExpress’s principal international
competitors are DHL, UPS, TNT Express, foreign plbatithorities, freight forwarders, passengerradiand all-cargo airlines. Many of
FedEx Express’s international competitors are guwent-owned, -controlled osubsidized carriers, which may have greater regsytowel
costs, less profit sensitivity and more favoralgerating conditions than FedEx Express.

Employee!

David J. Bronczek is the President and Chief Exeeudfficer of FedEx Express, which is headquadéneMemphis, Tennessee. As of
May 31, 2014, FedEx Express employed approximdt&®;000 permanent full-time and approximately 50,08rmanent part-time
employees, of which 13% are employed in the Memptesa. FedEx Express’s international employeelsdraggregate represent 37% of all
employees.

The pilots of FedEx Express, who constitute a speitentage of our total employees, are represdmtdite Air Line Pilots Association,
International (“ALPA”"),and are employed under a collective bargainingeageat. This agreement became amendable in Marc3y 20d th
parties are currently in negotiations.

Attempts by other labor organizations to organiggain other groups of employees occur from timéni@. Although these organizing
attempts have not resulted in any certificatiom &f.S. domestic collective bargaining represergatdther than ALPA), we cannot predict the
outcome of these labor activities or their efféfcany, on FedEx Express or its employees. CedéiiredEx Express’s nod-S. employees a
unionized. FedEx Express believes its employe¢ioaksare excellent.

FedEx Trade Networks

FedEx Trade Networks provides international tregteises, specializing in customs brokerage andajlobean and air freight forwarding.
Specifically, FedEx Trade Networks provides int¢ioraal trade advisory services, including assistanith the Customs-Trade Partnership
Against Terrorism (C-TPAT) program, and throughWerldTariff subsidiary, publishes customs duty &axiinformation for approximately
180 customs areas worldwide. Additionally, FedEade Networks provides customs clearance serviedsefEx Express at its major U.S.
hub facilities.

FedEx Trade Networks continues to execute an agigeeplan to expand its global freight forwardinggence — by opening additional
facilities (over 140 freight forwarding offices amew open in 27 countries) and establishing neiarades throughout the world. Value-added
services of FedEx Trade Networks include Globall€rBata, an information tool that allows customersack and manage imports. In
addition, in 2014, FedEx Trade Networks launchedBxelnternational Direct Priority Ocean servicedridia, offering specialized ocean
freight forwarding services to the U.S. for comanéxporting products out of India. The servicaise cost-effective than air freight, but
faster and more reliable than traditional oceaphg.

FedEx Trade Networks has approximately 4,700 engglsyand 145 offices in 130 service locations tHnougNorth America and in Asia,
Europe, the Middle East, Latin America and AfriEedEx Trade Networks maintains a network of air acehn freight-forwarding service
providers and has entered into strategic alliate@sovide services in certain countries in whictides not have owned offices.
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FedEx SupplyChain Systems

FedEx SupplyChain is an integrated logistics prewiffering a range of supply chain solutions thaerage FedEx information technology
and transportation networks around the world. Tdragany offers services that include critical inmptiogistics, transportation management
and temperature-controlled transportation througktavork of owned and managed resources — alllyigitegrated via advanced
information technology systems. FedEx SupplyChésn affers expanded visibility and control featyras well as new stocking locations to
support worldwide FedEx Critical Inventory Logigticustomers with high-value, critical orders.

FedEx Ground Segment
FedEx Ground
Overview

By leveraging the FedEx brand, maintaining a lostadructure and efficiently using information taotogy and advanced automation
systems, FedEx Ground continues to enhance its eiitinp position as a leading provider of businasd residential money-back guaranteed
ground package delivery services. FedEx Groundesezustomers in the North American small-packag&etafocusing on business and
residential delivery of packages weighing up to #60nds. Ground service is provided to 100% ofcthatinental U.S. population and
overnight service of up to 400 miles to nearly 108R@the continental U.S. population. Service i®gsovided to nearly 100% of the
Canadian population. In addition, FedEx Groundrsfiervice to Alaska and Hawaii through a groundl @nnetwork operation coordinated
with other transportation providers.

FedEx Ground continues to improve the speed, raadrservice capabilities of its network, by redgdiransit time for many of its lanes and
introducing or expanding overnight ground servitenany metropolitan areas. FedEx Ground’s ongogtgzork expansion program is
substantially increasing the company’s daily pickapacity through the addition of new hubs featuthre latest automated sorting
technology, the expansion of existing hubs andce#pansion or relocation of other existing faciltie

The company offers our FedEx Home Delivery servidgich reaches nearly 100% of U.S. residences. ¥éttine Delivery is dedicated to
meeting the delivery needs of residential custoraatsprovides routine Saturday and evening deliaed/premium options such as day-
specific, appointment and signature delivery. FeHiBre Delivery brings unmatched services to regideshippers and their customers and
is the first residential ground package delivenyise to have offered a money-back guarantee.

Additionally, FedEx Delivery Manager allows our Ur8sidential customers to customize home delisdndit their schedule by providing a
range of options to schedule dates, locations iamestof delivery. By signing up &dex.com customers can receive notification of FedEx
Ground packages en route to their homes and carseh@rious delivery options.

Pricing

FedEx Ground periodically publishes list pricestfoe majority of its services in its Service Guititegeneral, U.S. shipping rates are base
the service selected, destination zone, weight, simy ancillary service charge and whether thteomer charged the shipment to a FedEx
account.

Effective in January 2015, FedEx Ground will apgimensional weight pricing to all shipments. CuthgrFedEx Ground applies
dimensional weight pricing only to packages meagutihree cubic feet or greater. Dimensional wemgfting is a common industry practice
that sets the transportation price based on packa@lgeme — the amount of space a package occupieddtion to its actual weight.
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FedEx Ground has an indexed fuel surcharge, wkishlject to a monthly adjustment. The surchargeepgage is based on a rounded
average of the national U.S. on-highway averageegdur a gallon of diesel fuel as published monthhthe U.S. Department of Energy. For
example, the fuel surcharge for June 2014 was hasd¢lge average diesel fuel price published foril/A@¥114. Changes to the FedEx Ground
fuel surcharge, when calculated according to theded index average and FedEx Ground trigger panesapplied effective from the first
Monday of the month. These trigger points may cleangm time to time, but information on the fuetcharge for each month is available at
fedex.conapproximately two weeks before the surcharge isicaige.

Operations

FedEx Ground operates a multiple hub-apdke sorting and distribution system consistin§38 facilities, including 33 hubs, in the U.S.
Canada. FedEx Ground conducts its operations pifimvaith approximately 42,000 owner-operated veddchnd approximately 44,000
company-owned trailers. To provide FedEx Home Beinservice, FedEx Ground leverages its existicgyp operation and hub and
linehaul network. FedEx Home Delivery’s operati@ns often co-located with existing FedEx Groundlitées to achieve further cost
efficiencies.

Advanced automated sorting technology is used#astline the handling of millions of packages ddilging overhead laser and six-sided
camera-based bar code scan technology, hub corsvelgmtronically guide packages to their approprifgstination chute, where they are
loaded for transport to their respective destimat@yminals for local delivery. Software systemd &mternet-based applications are also
deployed to offer customers new ways to conneetimal package data with external delivery informratiFedEx Ground provides shipment
tracing and proof-of-delivery signature functiobalihrough the FedEx websitiedex.com For additional information regarding FedEx
Ground e-shipping tools and solutions, see “Fedé&xiSes — Technology.”

FedEx Office offers retail access to FedEx Grounigping services at all of its U.S. and Canadidairécations. FedEx Ground is also
available as a service option at many FedEx AutledriShipCenters in the U.S.

As of May 31, 2014, FedEx Ground had approximadélyp00 employees. In addition, FedEx Ground raieidependent small businesses
to conduct its linehaul and pickup-and-delivery rigpiens, as the use of independent contractorglisswited to the needs of the ground
delivery business and its customers. Henry J. Maitite President and Chief Executive Officer olBe Ground. FedEx Ground is
headquartered in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, amatiitsary competitors are UPS, the USPS and regidelatery carriers.

Independent Contractor Mod

Although FedEx Ground is involved in numerous laitssand other proceedings (such as state tax er attministrative challenges) where
the classification of its independent contracteratiissue, a number of recent judicial decisiappert the company’s classification, and the
company believes its relationship with its contoastis generally excellent. For a description efsth proceedings, see Item 1A of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K (“Risk Factors”) and Note 18 accompanying consolidated financial statements

FedEx Ground has made changes to its relationshipghe small businesses it contracts with thatpag other things, provide incentives for
improved service and enhanced regulatory and attrapliance by the contractors. For example, Fedéu@ has implemented its
Independent Service Provider (“ISP”) model in a bemof states. The ISP model requires pickup-aristedg contractors based in those
states to, among other things: (i) assume respiitysior the pickup-and-delivery operations of antire geographic service area that includes
multiple routes, and (ii) negotiate independeneagrents with FedEx Ground, rather than agree taralard contract. To date, FedEx Gro
has transitioned to the ISP model in 17 stateseBéipg on a number of considerations, FedEx Gronay transition to it in other states as
well.
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In addition, because of state-specific legal amileory issues, FedEx Ground only contracts witkitiesses that (i) are organized as
corporations registered and in good standing uapplicable state law, and (ii) ensure that theispenel who provide services under an
operating agreement with FedEx Ground are treatetear employees. FedEx Ground also has an onguaitignwide program to incentivize
owners who choose to grow their businesses by gddimtes. During May 2014, approximately 90% of Be@round’s package volume was
delivered by business owners operating multiplée®u

FedEx SmartPost

FedEx SmartPost (a subsidiary of FedEx Ground)éading national small-parcel consolidator, whigecializes in the consolidation and
delivery of high volumes of low-weight, less timensitive business-to-consumer packages, using #iSUor final delivery to residences.
The company picks up shipments from customersuygict e-tailers and catalog companies), providesngpand linehaul services and then
delivers the packages to a USPS facility for fiubalivery by a postal carrier. Through its netwoflR@ distribution hubs and approximately
7,700 employees, FedEx SmartPost provides deligeayl residential addresses in the U.S., includh@ Boxes and military destinations. For
more information about our relationship with theRE see Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 1(QHisk Factors”).

FedEx Freight Segment
FedEx Freight

FedEx Freight is a leading North American provideLTL freight services, offering choice, simpligiand reliability to meet the needs of
LTL shippers — FedEx Freight Priority, when spegdritical to meet supply chain needs, and FedEight Economy, when time can be
traded for cost savings. Through one comprehemsteork of service centers and advanced informaty@ems, FedEx Freight provides
service to virtually every U.S. ZIP code (includiAtaska and Hawaii) with industry-leading trangiés. FedEx Freight Priority, which has
the fastest published transit times of any naticleNiTL service, offers a no-fee money-back guaeanteeligible shipments. Internationally,
FedEx Freight Canada offers FedEx Freight Pricriyvice, serving most points in Canada, as weleaEx Freight Priority and FedEx
Freight Economy service between Canada and theRedEx Freight Priority has the fastest publisitaddit times of any LTL service
connecting the U.S. and major Canadian marketofior Montreal, Vancouver, Ottawa and Calgary) witsingle network. In addition,
FedEx Freight serves Mexico, Puerto Rico and tt& Mirgin Islands via alliances.

Through its many service offerings, FedEx Freigint match customers’ time-critical needs with induktading transit times. With the
expansion of FedEx electronic solutions, LTL shigfgeave the convenience of a single shipping aakiing solution for FedEx Freight,
FedEx Express and FedEx Ground. These solutiong feight shipping easier and provide customerg aesess to their account
information. The FedEx Freight Advance Notice featavailable on FedEx Freight Priority shipmentssuhe company’s innovative
technology systems to proactively notify FedEx §héicustomers via the Internet, e-mail or fax wheshipment may be delayed beyond its
estimated delivery date, providing customers witater visibility and control of their LTL freiglshipments. Customers can also process
cross-border LTL shipments to and from Canada aeglid®, as well as intra Canada and Mexico shipmémtsugh FedEx Ship Manager at
fedex.con, FedEx Ship Manager Software, FedEx Ship Managere® and FedEx Web
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Services. Additionally, FedEx Freight A.M. offergight delivery by 10:30 a.m. within and betweea thS. and Canada, backed by a money-
back guarantee. FedEx Freight has an indexed fuetharge that applies to certain LTL shipments,ciwhi$ subject to weekly adjustment
based on a rounded average of the national U.8ighway average price for a gallon of diesel fO#lis surcharge was increased by 3
percentage points effective June 2, 2014 butrstitlains one of the lowest among the major LTL eagrin the U.S.

As of May 31, 2014, FedEx Freight was operatingraxmately 62,000 vehicles and trailers from a ratnof approximately 370 service
centers, and the FedEx Freight segment had appatedyn36,000 employees. William J. Logue is thesRient and Chief Executive Officer
FedEx Freight, which is based in Memphis, TennedsegEx Freight’'s primary competitors are YRC Waiilde Inc. (which includes YRC
Regional Transportation and YRC Freight), Con-wasidght (a subsidiary of Con-way Inc.), UPS Freigbig Dominion Freight Line, Inc.
and ABF Freight (a subsidiary of ArcBest Corpona}io

FedEx Custom Critical

FedEx Custom Critical provides a range of expeditiate-specific freight-shipping services throughthe U.S., Canada and Mexico. Among
its services are Surface Expedite, for exclusivearsd network-based transport of critical shipmants expedited shipments; Air Expedite,
which offers an array of air solutions to meet ou®trs’ critical delivery times; White Glove Servcdor shipments that require extra care in
handling, temperature control or specialized séguand ShipmentWatch, an offering through whickEe Custom Critical manages
SenseAwar@ devices to track customers’ shipmenky-programming the device to the customer’s requémets prior to the shipment,
sending the device to the shipper and then praggtimonitoring the shipment from pickup to delivehy addition, its subsidiary FedEx
Truckload Brokerage provides freight brokerage tofhs within the U.S. and into and out of Canada lslexico. Service is available 24 ho

a day, 365 days a year. FedEx Custom Critical nantisly monitors shipments through an integrategetary shipment-control system,
including two-way satellite communications on estle-use shipments. Through the company’s Shippoakit, customers can quote, ship,
track and map shipments; view and print out copfess shipment’s bill of lading, proof of deliverya@ invoice; and manage their online
accounts. FedEx Custom Critical utilizes approxathat,350 vehicles, operated by independent caimraand their drivers.

FedEx Services Segment
FedEXx Services

FedEx Services provides our other companies wigssearketing, information technology, communigasi, customer service and certain
other back-office support. Through FedEx Servicasits subsidiary FedEx TechConnect, we provideravenient single point of access for
many customer support functions, enabling us toeneffiectively sell the entire portfolio of transfaiion services and to help ensure a
consistent and outstanding experience for our ousts.

T. Michael Glenn is the President and Chief Exeru@fficer of FedEx Services, which is based in &g, Tennessee. As of May 31, 2C
the FedEx Services segment had approximately 2’ &6Goyees (including approximately 15,000 at Fe@¥fice).
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Customer Technology

FedEx is a world leader in technology, and FedEméter Frederick W. Smith’s vision thahé information about a package is as importa
the delivery of the package itself” remains att¢bes of our comprehensive technology strategyatt, fFedEx won first place in the category
of Productivity Innovation, and ranked No. 14 ovleoa the 2014 InformationWeek Elite 100 list —@ngpilation of the top business
technology innovators in the U.S.

Our technology strategy is driven by our desireciastomer satisfaction. We strive to build techgglsolutions that will solve our customers
business problems with simplicity, convenience gspgnd reliability. The focal point of our stratagyur award-winning website, together
with our customer integrated solutions.

Thefedex.conwebsite was launched nearly 20 years ago, andglthat time, customers have shipped and trackédrslof packages at
fedex.con. Thefedex.conwebsite is widely recognized for its speed, easgsefand customer-focused featuresfediex.com our customers
ship packages, determine international documemtagiquirements, track package status, pay inv@ndsaccess FedEx Office services. The
advanced tracking capability within FedEx Trackprgvides customers with a consolidated view of umimband outbound shipments.

FedEx Mobile is a suite of services available orstweeb-enabled mobile devices, such as the BlackBemd Android™ smartphones, and
includes enhanced support for Apple products, ssctine iPhon& |, iPod touéh and iPad devices. THEX®Iobile website has expanded
to more than 220 countries and territories anca2guages. FedEx Mobile allows customers to traglstatus of packages, create shipping
labels, get account-specific rate quotes and aalrepsoff location information. FedEx Office has dwn iPhoné@ |, iPa8l and Android™
apps that allow customers to print directly fromittsmartphones to any FedEx Office location inwh®. or have the order delivered right to
their door, while also allowing customers to getamt-specific pricing, track print orders or pag&s, or find the nearest FedEx Office
location. FedEx Office self-serve printers givetousers even more flexibility by allowing direct UBcess to print documents, as well as
the ability to retrieve documents submitted via GlecCloud Print, HP ePrint, Breezy and Canon Fo&nisint Services for Salesforce with a
secure retrieval code. In addition, FedEx Offick-serve printers and mobile applications give oustrs the ability to login to their Google
Drive, Box and Dropbox cloud accounts, select audwent and print. FedEx also uses wireless dataatah devices to scan bar codes on
shipments, thereby enhancing and acceleratingabkage information available to our customers.

FedEx innovation continued in 2014 with our FedbExp&Get® pilot program, which is a new shipping afalivery option available at select
retail locations that allows customers to use stdnde kiosks and lockers that are managed elactdbnto ship or pick up packages at their
convenience.

We design our e-commerce tools and solutions tealséy integrated into our customers’ applicatiassyell as into third-party software
developed by leading e-procurement, systems irntiegrand enterprise resource planning companies FOdEx Ship Manager suite of
solutions offers a wide range of options to helpawstomers manage their parcel and LTL shippirdjassociated processes.

Marketing

The FedEx brand name is symbolic of outstandingieerreliability and speed. Emphasis is placegamoting and protecting the FedEx
brand, one of our most important assets. As atidSedlEx is one of the most widely recognized bsandhe world. In addition to television,
print and digital advertising, we promote the FedhEand through corporate sponsorships and speate For example, FedEx sponsors:

* PGA TOUR and the Champions Tour golf organizatiassthe “Official Shipping Company,” and FedExCapeason-long points
competition for PGA TOUR playel
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The Title sponsor of the FedEx St. Jude ClasdRGA TOUR event that raises millions of dollars &ir Jude Childre’s Research Hospit
» The National Football League (NFL), as“ Official Delivery Service Spons” and“ Official Office Services Provider of the N”

» FedExField in Washington, D

» The #11 Joe Gibbs Racing Toyota Camry driven byripetamlin in the NASCAR Sprint Cup Seri

« ATP World Tour me’s professional tennis circuit and French Open tetmirnamen

» FedExForum in Memphis, T

Information Security

FedEx Services has a team of highly qualified msifinals dedicated to securing information aboutcastomers’ shipments and protecting
our customers’ privacy, and we strive to providage, secure online environment for our custom#issare committed to compliance with
applicable information security laws, regulatiomsl éndustry standards — including, for example,Blagment Card Industry Data Security
Standard, a set of comprehensive requirementafrarecing payment account data security developatéi?ayment Card Industry Security
Standards Council. For a description of risks egldb information security, see Item 1A of this AahReport on Form 10-K (“Risk Factojs”

Global ISO 9001 Certification

FedEx Services provides our customers with a heghllof service quality, as evidenced by our 1SO29€ertification for our global express
and ground operations. ISO 9001 registration isired by thousands of customers around the woddEK’s global certification,
encompassing the processes of FedEx Express, Fexdftnd and FedEx Services, enhances our singlé-pbarccess strategy and solidifies
our reputation as the quality leader in the transpion industry. ISO 9001 is currently the mogbrous international standard for Quality
Management and Assurance. ISO standards were gex¢ehy the International Organization for Standaation in Geneva, Switzerland to
promote and facilitate international trade. Morantti 50 countries, including European Union memhbesJ.S. and Japan, recognize ISO
standards.

FedEx Office

FedEx Office’s network of digitally-connected locats offers access to copying and digital printimgpugh retail and web-based platforms,
signs and graphics, professional finishing, comprgstals, and the full range of FedEx day-defigiteund shipping and time-definite global
express shipping services. FedEx Office’s netwdibcations provides convenient access points ttEkeExpress and FedEx Ground
services for higher margin retail customers. Cust@may also have their FedEx Express, FedEx Grandd-edEx Home Delivery packa
delivered to any FedEx Office location nationwidedhoosing the Hold at FedEx Location option whatiating a shipment — or even when
a shipment is on its way — free of charge.

In addition, FedEx Office offers packing servicasd packing supplies and boxes are included ireftsl product assortment. By allowing
customers to have items professionally packed bygiafy trained FedEx Office team members and gfeépped using any of the full range
FedEx day-definite ground shipping and time-deéigtobal express shipping services, FedEx Offiowides a complete “pack-and-ship”
solution. FedEx Office is rolling out a new packisgyvice, Pack Plus, which expands our packingsaipping capabilities. FedEx Office
locations with Pack Plus offerings have new cusbam building capabilities and techniques, a motrisb assortment of specialty boxes and
enhanced packing supplies, equipment and toolsrt@ ur customers’ needs.
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Almost all FedEx Office locations provide local kiap and delivery service — an offering wherebyea Ex courier picks up a custonmeejbh

at the customer’s location and then returns thistied product to the customer — with options andise areas varying by location.
Additionally, through cloud printing with FedEx @fé Print Online, customers can upload files fraams of the most popular cloud websites
including Box, Dropbox and Google Drive™ and thetest from a variety of printing options, and cémase to pick up their completed

order at FedEx Office locations nationwide or htheorder delivered right to their door. Custonads® have the ability to access these same
cloud files through a USB drive or mobile devicesalf-serve copiers in FedEx Office locations, givthem seamless access to their files
across our online and retail channels. Lastly, ex offer our FedEx SameDay City service in sele@.\ZIP codes, which allows customers
to get their packages across town in the same dhylacal delivery by FedEx Office uniformed empéms.

As of May 31, 2014, FedEx Office operated approxetyal,800 locations, including 31 locations in féareign countries, as well as 31
closed production centers. FedEx Office is headgqted in Dallas, Texas.

Trademarks

The “FedEx” trademark, service mark and trade nsnessential to our worldwide business. FedEXx, kdepress, FedEx Ground, FedEx
Freight, FedEx Office, FedEx Services, FedEx Suppjin, FedEx TechConnect, FedEx Trade NetworksEk&martPost and FedEx
Custom Critical, among others, are trademarks jcemarks and trade names of Federal Express Gaiipoy or the respective companies
which registrations, or applications for regisiatiare on file, as applicable. We have authorigg@dugh licensing arrangements, the use of
certain of our trademarks, service marks and treaees by our contractors and Global Service Ppatids to support our business. In
addition, we license the use of certain of ourdradrks, service marks and trade names on prombitenes for the primary purpose of
enhancing brand awareness.

Regulation

Air . Under the Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as amehdeth the U.S. Department of Transportation (“DX0And the Federal Aviation
Administration (“FAA”) exercise regulatory authoribver FedEx Express.

The FAA's regulatory authority relates primarilyaperational aspects of air transportation, incigdiircraft standards and maintenance, as
well as personnel and ground facilities, which rfrayn time to time affect the ability of FedEx Expseto operate its aircraft in the most
efficient manner. FedEx Express holds an air caceetificate granted by the FAA pursuant to P4@ df the federal aviation regulations.
This certificate is of unlimited duration and remsin effect so long as FedEx Express maintairstaisdards of safety and meets the
operational requirements of the regulations.

In September 2010, the FAA proposed rules that esignificantly reduce the maximum number of haansduty and increase the minimum
amount of rest time for our pilots, and thus reguis to hire additional pilots and modify certafroar aircraft. When the FAA issued final
regulations in December 2011, ali¥go carriers, including FedEx Express, were exdrom these new pilot fatigue requirements, aredear
required to continue complying with previously eteakcflight and duty time rules. In December 2012, EAA reaffirmed the exclusion of us
from the new rule. It is reasonably possible, hosvethat future security or flight safety requirertsecould impose material costs on us.
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The DOT'’s authority relates primarily to economépects of air transportation. The DOT'’s jurisdintixtends to aviation route authority and
to other regulatory matters, including the transfieroute authority between carriers. FedEx Exphedds various certificates issued by the
DOT, authorizing FedEx Express to engage in U.8.iaternational air transportation of property andil on a worldwide basis.

Under the Aviation and Transportation Security 822001, as amended, the Transportation SecuritpiAdtration (“TSA”), an agency
within the Department of Homeland Security, hapoasibility for aviation security. The TSA contirsi® require FedEx Express to comply
with a Full All-Cargo Aircraft Operator Standardcheity Plan, which contains evolving and strictusdly requirements. These requirements
are not static, but change periodically as thelt@$uegulatory and legislative requirements, irsipg additional security costs and creating a
level of uncertainty for our operations. It is reaably possible that these rules or other futuceisty requirements could impose material
costs on us.

FedEx Express participates in the Civil ReserveFéet (“CRAF") program. Under this program, theSUDepartment of Defense may
requisition for military use certain of FedEx Expsts wide-bodied aircraft in the event of a dedareed, including a national emergency.
FedEx Express is compensated for the operationyhacraft requisitioned under the CRAF programstahdard contract rates established
each year in the normal course of awarding corgrddtrough its participation in the CRAF prograradEx Express is entitled to bid on
peacetime military cargo charter business. FedEpdss, together with a consortium of other carrieusrently contracts with the U.S.
Government for such charter flights.

Ground. The ground transportation performed by FedEx Espiis integral to its air transportation servidé®e enactment of the Federal
Aviation Administration Authorization Act of 1994eogated the authority of states to regulate thesraoutes or services of intermodal all-
cargo air carriers and most motor carriers. Staigg now only exercise jurisdiction over safety amslirance. FedEx Express is registered in
those states that require registration.

The operations of FedEx Ground, FedEx Freight adE Custom Critical in interstate commerce areerly regulated by the DOT and !
Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, whielain limited oversight authority over motor cars. Federal legislation preempts
regulation by the states of rates and servicetmstate freight transportation.

Like other interstate motor carriers, our operatjancluding those at FedEx Express, are subjemtitimin DOT safety requirements govert
interstate operations. In addition, vehicle weigihd dimensions remain subject to both federal tated segulations.

International. FedEx Express’s international authority perntite icarry cargo and mail from points in its U.8ute system to numerous
points throughout the world. The DOT regulatesrimi¢ional routes and practices and is authorizédvtestigate and take action against
discriminatory treatment of U.S. air carriers aloroBhe right of a U.S. carrier to serve foreignnieiis subject to the DOT's approval and
generally requires a bilateral agreement betweetJt. and the foreign government. In addition,déwier must then be granted the
permission of such foreign government to providectfir flights and services. The regulatory envirant for global aviation rights may frc
time to time impair the ability of FedEx Expressoferate its air network in the most efficient manmdditionally, global air cargo carriers,
such as FedEx Express, are subject to current@edfal additional aviation security regulationfoyeign governments.

Our operations outside of the U.S., such as Fedfxdsss growing international domestic operations, ase aubject to current and poten
regulations, including certain postal regulationd &censing requirements, that restrict, makedaiff and sometimes prohibit, the ability of
foreign-owned companies such as FedEx Expressnmpete effectively in parts of the international destic transportation and logistics
market.
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Communication Because of the extensive use of radio and ottrenwnication facilities in its aircraft and groumdnsportation operations,
FedEx Express is subject to the Federal CommupnmtaCommission Act of 1934, as amended. Additignétle Federal Communications
Commission regulates and licenses FedEx Expres8isties pertaining to satellite communications.

Environmenta. Pursuant to the Federal Aviation Act, the FAAthathe assistance of the U.S. Environmental Priate@tgency, is authorize

to establish standards governing aircraft noisdEkeExpress’s aircraft fleet is in compliance wétlrrent noise standards of the federal
aviation regulations. In addition to federal regdigia of aircraft noise, certain airport operatoevé local noise regulations, which limit airct
operations by type of aircraft and time of day. Séesgulations have had a restrictive effect orekdexpress’s aircraft operations in some of
the localities where they apply but do not haveatemal effect on any of FedEx Express’s signifioaarkets. Congress’s passage of the
Airport Noise and Capacity Act of 1990 establislaedational Noise Policy, which enabled FedEx Exptesplan for noise reduction and
better respond to local noise constraints. Fedgx&ss’s international operations are also subgenbtse regulations in certain of the
countries in which it operates.

Concern over climate change, including the impagiabal warming, has led to significant U.S. antbrnational legislative and regulatory
efforts to limit greenhouse gas (“GHG&Ejnissions, including our aircraft and diesel engingssions. For example, during 2009, the Euro
Commission approved the extension of the EuropadaariEmissions Trading Scheme (“ETS”) for GHG enaiss, to the airline industry.
Under this decision, all FedEx Express flights #na wholly within the European Union are now cedeby the ETS requirements, and each
year we are required to submit emission allowaites amount equal to the carbon dioxide emissimm such flights. For a description
such efforts and their potential effect on our asicture and operating results, see Item 1AisfAlnnual Report on Form 10-K (“Risk
Factors”).

We are subject to federal, state and local enviertal laws and regulations relating to, among othieigs, the shipment of dangerous goods,
contingency planning for spills of petroleum protiy¢he disposal of waste oil and the disposaboéts and other products used in FedEx
Office’s copy machines. Additionally, we are subjecnumerous regulations dealing with undergrofwad storage tanks, hazardous waste
handling, vehicle and equipment emissions and ramskthe discharge of effluents from our properdied equipment. We have
environmental management programs to ensure conepliaith these regulations.

CustomsOur activities, including customs brokerage andyfieforwarding, are subject to regulation by tha@&u of Customs and Border
Protection and the TSA within the Department of ltand Security (customs brokerage and securitgfsthe U.S. Federal Maritime
Commission (ocean freight forwarding) and the D@IF freight forwarding). Our offshore operationg aubject to similar regulation by the
regulatory authorities of foreign jurisdictions.

Labor. All U.S. employees at FedEx Express are coveretth®yRailway Labor Act of 1926, as amended (the “RL#hile labor relations
within the U.S. at our other companies are goveiethe National Labor Relations Act of 1935, asaded (the “NLRA”). Under the RLA,
groups that wish to unionize must do so acros@naiie classes of employees. The RLA also requirasdatory government-led mediation
of contract disputes supervised by the National istézh Board before a union can strike or an emg@i@an replace employees or impose
contract terms. This part of the RLA helps minimilze risk of strikes that would shut down largetjpms of the economy. Under the NLRA,
employees can unionize in small localized groupd, government-led mediation is not a required Bite¢pe negotiation process.

The RLA was originally passed to govern railroad arpress carrier labor negotiations. As transgortasystems evolved, the law expanded
to cover airlines, which are the dominant natidremhsportation systems of today. As an air exptasser with an integrated air/ground
network, FedEx Express and its employees have ¢émered by the RLA since the founding of the conypanl971. The purpose of the RI

is to offer employees a process by which to uniefizthey choose) and engage in collective baiggiwhile also protecting global
commerce from damaging work stoppages and delgexifgally, the RLA ensures that an entire trama@mn system, such as at FedEx
Express, cannot be shut down by the actions ofa kegment of the network.
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The U.S. Congress has, in the past, considerediadaganges in labor laws that would make it e@asieunions to organize units of our
employees. For example, there is always a podyililat Congress could remove most FedEx Expreggogmes from the jurisdiction of the
RLA, thereby exposing the FedEx Express networptaradic labor disputes and the risk that smalligsaof employees could disrupt the
entire air/ground network. In addition, federal atate governmental agencies have and may corttrnia&e actions that could make it easier
for our employees to organize under the RLA or NLRAr a description of these potential labor lawraies, see Item 1A of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K (“Risk Factors”).

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We present information about our risk factors oggza72 through 76 of this Annual Report on FornK10-
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

FedEx Express Segment

FedEx Express’s principal owned and leased praggeiticlude its aircraft, vehicles, national, regioand metropolitan sorting facilities,
administration buildings, FedEx Drop Boxes and gtcessing and telecommunications equipment.

Aircraft and Vehicle:

As of May 31, 2014, FedEx Express’s aircraft fleetsisted of the following:

Maximum Gross
Structural Payload

Description Owned Leased Total (Pounds per Aircraft) @
Boeing B777F 25 0 25 233,30t
Boeing MD11 38 26 64 192,60(
Boeing MD1(-30 15 1 16 175,90(
Boeing MD1(-10 45 0 45 137,50(
Boeing 767F 4 0 4 127,10(
Airbus A30(-600 35 36 71 106,60(
Airbus A31(-200/300 29 0 29 83,17(
Boeing B75-200 10€ 0 10€@ 63,00(
ATR 72-202/212 21 0 21 17,97(
ATR 42-300/320 26 0 26 12,07(
Cessna 208| 24< 0 24% 2,83(
Total 58i 63 65(

(€3]

o Maximum gross structural payload includes reveraydqad and container weigl

Includes 18 aircraft not currently in operation awehiting completion of modificatiol
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The B777Fs are tv-engine, wid-bodied cargo aircraft that have a longer rangelanygr capacity than any other aircraft we opel
e The MD11s are threengine, wid-bodied aircraft that have a longer range and lacgpacity than MD10:s

e The MD10s are three-engine, wide-bodied aircrat trave received an Advanced Common Flightdeck (A@édification, which
includes a conversion to a t-pilot cockpit, as well as upgrades of electrical ather system:

» The B767Fs are tv-engine, lon-range, wid-bodied cargo aircraf
 The A300s and A310s are t-engine, wid-bodied aircraft that have a longer range and mapacity than B757:
 The B757s are tw-engine, narro-bodied aircraft configured for cargo servi

» The ATR and Cessna 208 turbo-prop aircraft areskés independent operators to support FedEx Egmesrations in areas where
demand does not justify use of a larger airc

An inventory of spare engines and parts is maiethiior each aircraft type.

In addition, FedEx Express leases smaller airtoadiperators, and these operators use the aitorafove FedEx packages to and from
airports served by FedEx Express’s larger jet aftciThe lease agreements generally call for theele to provide the flight crews,
maintenance, fuel and other supplies required &vaip the aircraft, and FedEx Express reimburseketisee for these items. The lease
agreements are for terms not exceeding one yeaarangkenerally cancelable upon 30 days’ notice.

At May 31, 2014, FedEx Express operated approximate 000 ground transport vehicles, including pigkand delivery vans, larger trucks
called container transport vehicles and over-ttegttoactors and trailers.

Aircraft Purchase Commitmen

The following table is a summary of the number gk of aircraft we were committed to purchasefaday 31, 2014, with the year of
expected delivery:

B757 B767F® B777F® Total

2015 13 12 — 25
2016 — 11 2 13
2017 — 11 — 11
2018 — 10 2 12
2019 — 4 2 6
Thereaftel — — 12 12
Total 13 48 18 79

@ As of May 31, 2014, our obligation to purchase folithese aircraft was conditioned upon there beimgvent that causes FedEx Exp

or its employees to not be covered by the R

As of May 31, 2014, our obligation to purchase rohéhese aircraft was conditioned upon there beimgvent that causes FedEx Exp
or its employees to not be covered by the R

@

As of May 31, 2014, deposits and progress paynr#896 million had been made toward aircraft pasgs and other planned aircraft-
related transactions. Also see Note 17 of the apemying consolidated financial statements for nief@mation about our purchase
commitments.

-22-



Table of Contents

Sorting and Handling Facilities

At May 31, 2014, FedEx Express operated the folmwnajor sorting and handling facilities:

Lease
Sorting Expiration
Capacity
Square (per hour)
Location Acres Feet (1) Lessor Year
National
Memphis, Tennessee 784 3,663,000 475,00( Memphis-Shelby County 203¢
Airport Authority
Indianapolis, Indiana 31¢€ 2,509,001 214,00( Indianapolis Airport 202¢
Authority
Regional
Fort Worth, Texas 16€ 948,00( 76,000 Fort Worth Alliance Airport 2021
Authority
Newark, New Jerse 70 595,00!( 156,00( Port Authority of New York 203(
and New Jerse
Oakland, Californi: 75 448,93! 63,00( City of Oaklanc 203¢
Greensboro, N. Carolina 16& 593,00( 29,00( Piedmont Triad Airport 2031
Authority
Metropolitan
Chicago, lllinois 66 597,00( 23,00( City of Chicagc 2018/202(5)
Los Angeles, Californii 34 305,301 57,00( City of Los Angeles 2021/202/6)
International
Anchorage, Alask&) 64 332,00 25,00( State of Alaska, 202¢
Department of
Transportation and
Public Facilities
Paris, Franc(®) 111 1,238,00 63,000 Aeroports de Pari 202¢
Cologne, German(®) 7 325,00! 20,00( Cologne Bonn Airpor 204C
Guangzhou, Chiné) 158 873,00t 64,00( Guangdong Airport 202¢
Management Cory
Osaka, Japaf?) 17 425,20 9,00¢ New Kansa 2024
International Airport
Co., Ltd.

(€3]
@
®

Documents and packagt
Handles international express package and frelgptrgents to and from Asia, Europe and North Ame!l

Handles intra-Europe express package and freigpitngmts, as well as international express packaddraight shipments to and from
Europe.

Handles intr-Asia express package and freight shipments, asaseafiternational express package and freight sigsrto and from Asi
Property is held under two separate le— lease for original hub expires in 2018, and leaseéw facility expires in 202¢

Property is held under two separate leases — feaserting and handling facility expires in 202hd lease for ramp expansion expires
in 2025.

@)
®)
(6)
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FedEx Express'’s primary sorting facility, whichses as the center of its multiple hub-and-spokéesysis located at the Memphis
International Airport. FedEx Express’s facilitigstae Memphis International Airport also includecaaft hangars, aircraft ramp areas, vehicle
parking areas, flight training and fuel facilitieglministrative offices and warehouse space. Fé&ipxess leases these facilities from the
Memphis-Shelby County Airport Authority (the “Authity”). The lease obligates FedEx Express to maindad insure the leased property
and to pay all related taxes, assessments andaitheges. The lease is subordinate to, and FedpreEX's rights thereunder could be
affected by, any future lease or agreement betwreeAuthority and the U.S. Government.

FedEx Express has additional international soréind-handling facilities located at Narita AirpartTokyo, Stansted Airport outside London
and Pearson Airport in Toronto. FedEx Express h#sa substantial presence at airports in Hong Kbaigvan, Dubai and Miami.

Administrative and Other Properties and Facilit

The World Headquarters of FedEx Express is locatetdutheastern Shelby County, Tennessee. FedExegxpwns its headquarters cam
which comprises nine separate buildings with apipnately 1.3 million square feet of space. FedExresp also leases 39 facilities in the
Memphis area for administrative offices and waretesu

FedEx Express owns or leases 641 facilities fgrstiition operations in the United States. In aolajt6 18 city stations are owned or leased
throughout FedEx Express’s international netwotke Majority of these leases are for terms of fiveeh years. City stations serve as a
sorting and distribution center for a particuldy @r region. We believe that suitable alternafamilities are available in each locale on
satisfactory terms, if necessary.

As of May 31, 2014, FedEx Express had approximaté|p00 Drop Boxes. FedEx Express also has appadglynl4,200 FedEx Authorized
ShipCenters and other types of staffed drop-offions, such as FedEx Office centers. InternatipnBedEx Express had approximately
6,000 drop-off locations.

FedEx Ground Segment

FedEx Ground’s corporate offices are located inRitesburgh, Pennsylvania area in an approximé&i@0,000 square-foot building owned by
FedEx Ground. As of May 31, 2014, FedEx Grounddgguroximately 44,000 company-owned trailers andexhor leased 538 facilities,
including 33 hubs. In addition, approximately 4@@vner-operated vehicles support FedEx Groundsiness. Of the 341 facilities that
support FedEx Home Delivery, 256 arelooated with existing FedEx Ground facilities. Ledgacilities generally have terms of five year
less. The 33 hub facilities are strategically ledato cover the geographic area served by FedEwr@rarhe hub facilities average
approximately 363,000 square feet and range infedpe 54,000 to 715,000 square feet.

FedEx Freight Segment

FedEx Freight's corporate headquarters are lodat&temphis, Tennessee, with some administrativieedffor the FedEx Freight business in
Harrison, Arkansas. As of May 31, 2014, FedEx Hreaperated approximately 62,000 vehicles andetrsihnd approximately 370 service
centers, which are strategically located to progervice throughout North America. These facilitiasge in size from approximately 860 to
220,000 square feet of office and dock space. F&istom Critical’'s headquarters are located in Gréio.
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FedEx Services Segment

FedEx Services’ corporate headquarters are lodatelemphis, Tennessee. FedEx Services and FedExeExfease state-of-the-art
technology centers in Collierville, Tennessee rigviTexas, Colorado Springs, Colorado, and OrlaRttnida. These facilities house
personnel responsible for strategic software dgetmnt and other functions that support FedEx'srteldgy and e-commerce solutions.
FedEx Office’s corporate headquarters are locatdhbilas, Texas in leased facilities. As of May 3014, FedEx Office operated
approximately 1,800 locations, including 31 locasian four foreign countries, as well as 31 clogastuction centers. Substantially all Fec
Office centers are leased, generally for termsvef tio ten years with varying renewal options. Pe@Hfice centers are generally located in
strip malls, office buildings or stand-alone stures and average 4,000 square feet in size. Weahaudti-year agreement with OfficeMax to
offer U.S. domestic FedEx Express and FedEx Grahiqgping services at all U.S. OfficeMax retail lboas (more than 800 locations).

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

FedEx and its subsidiaries are subject to legalg@dings and claims that arise in the ordinarysmof their business. For a description of
material pending legal proceedings, see Note IBe&ccompanying consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Information regarding executive officers of FedBxas follows (included herein pursuant to Instare® to Item 401(b) of RegulationkSanc
General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K):

Name and Office Age Positions and Offices Held and Business Experience

Frederick W. Smith 69 Chairman, President and Chief Executive OfficeFefEx since January 1998; Chairman of FedEx

Chairman, President and Chief Express since 1975; Chairman, President and ChiedEive Officer of FedEx Express from April

Executive Officer 1983 to January 1998; Chief Executive Officer ofiEe Express from 1977 to January 1998; and
President of FedEx Express from June 1971 to Fepdgv5.

David J. Bronczek 60 President and Chief Executive Officer of FedEx Esggrsince January 2000; Executive Vice

President and Chief Executive President and Chief Operating Officer of FedEx Esprfrom January 1998 to January 2000; Si

Officer, FedEx Express Vice President — Europe, Middle East and Afric&etlEx Express from June 1995 to January

1998; Senior Vice President — Europe, Africa andiMeranean of FedEx Express from June
1993 to June 1995; Vice President — Canadian Opesabf FedEx Express from February 1987
to March 1993; and several sales and operationagedial positions at FedEx Express from 1976
to 1987. Mr. Bronczek serves as a director of md#onal Paper Company, an uncoated paper and
packaging compan
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Name and Office Age

Positions and Offices Held and Business Experien

Robert B. Carter 55
Executive Vice President — FedEx
Information Services and Chief
Information Officer

T. Michael Glenn 58
Executive Vice President -Markei
Development and Corporate
Communications

Alan B. Graf, Jr. 60
Executive Vice President and Ch
Financial Officer

Executive Vice President — FedEx Information Sezgiand Chief Information Officer of FedEx
since January 2007; Executive Vice President aridf@iformation Officer of FedEx from June
2000 to January 2007; Corporate Vice PresidentGindf Technology Officer of FedEx from
February 1998 to June 2000; Vice President — Catpdsystems Development of FedEx Express
from September 1993 to February 1998; Managingdbire— Systems Development of FedEx
Express from April 1993 to September 1993. Mr. 8aserves as a director of First Horizon
National Corporation, a financial services holdamgmpany.

Executive Vice President — Market Development andpGrate Communications of FedEx since
January 1998; Senior Vice President — Marketingst@uer Service and Corporate
Communications of FedEx Express from June 1994nodry 1998; Senior Vice President —
Marketing and Corporate Communications of FedExresp from December 1993 to June 1994;
Senior Vice President — Worldwide Marketing CataReyvices and Corporate Communications
of FedEx Express from June 1993 to December 19893ip8Vice President -€atalog and Reme
Services of FedEx Express from September 1992rte 1093; Vice President — Marketing of
FedEx Express from August 1985 to September 1982yarious management positions in sales
and marketing and senior sales specialist of Fagigxess from 1981 to 1985. Mr. Glenn serves as
a director of Pentair, Inc., a diversified indusitmanufacturing company operating in water and
technical products business segments, and asciatié Level 3 Communications, Inc., a global
communications services compa

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial OffioeFedEx since January 1998; Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of FedEx Egsrfrom February 1996 to January 1998;
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial OfficeFedEx Express from December 1991 to
February 1996; Vice President and Treasurer of k&tdpress from August 1987 to December
1991; and various management positions in financesasenior financial analyst of FedEx Express
from 1980 to 1987. Mr. Graf serves as a directdvliimi-America Apartment Communities, Inc., a
real estate investment trust that focuses on d@oguiconstructing, developing, owning and
operating apartment communities, and as a direfthNtKE, Inc., a designer and marketer of
athletic footwear, apparel, equipment and accessdor sports and fithess activitis
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Name and Office Age

Positions and Offices Held and Business Experien

William J. Logue 56
President and Chief Executive
Officer, FedEx Freight Corporati

Henry J. Maier 60
President and Chief Executive
Officer, FedEx Ground

Christine P. Richards 59
Executive Vice President, General
Counsel and Secretary

President and Chief Executive Officer of FedEx gineiCorporation (parent of FedEx Freight)
since March 2010; President of FedEx Freight Caton from December 2009 to February 2010;
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating OffieeU.S. of FedEx Express from March 2008
to November 2009; Executive Vice President — U.Bei@tions and System Support of FedEx
Express from September 2006 to March 2008; Senige Fresident — U.S. Operations of FedEx
Express from August 2004 to September 2006; S&fiaw President — Air-Ground and Freight
Services of FedEx Express from 1999 to August 20k President — National Hub Operations,
Memphis Hub of FedEx Express from 1995 to 1999;aribus operations management positions
with FedEx Express from 1989 to 19¢

President and Chief Executive Officer of FedEx @Gbgince June 2013; Executive Vice President
— Strategic Planning and Communications of FedExuGddrom September 2009 to June 2013;
Senior Vice President -Strategic Planning and Communications of FedEx Gdduom Decembe
2006 to September 2009; Vice President — MarketifnigedEx Services from March 2000 to
December 2006; Vice President — Marketing and Conications of FedEx Ground from June
1999 to March 2000; and various management posifiofogistics, sales, marketing and
communications with RPS, Inc. and Caliber Logistios. from 1986 to 199¢

Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Sagref FedEx since June 2005; Corporate
Vice President — Customer and Business TransactibRedEx from March 2001 to June 2005;
Senior Vice President and General Counsel of F&#xices from March 2000 to June 2005; €
Vice President — Customer and Business TransactibRsdEx from November 1999 to March
2001; Vice President — Customer and Business Tctiosa of FedEx Express from 1998 to
November 1999; and various legal positions withEBeBixpress from 1984 to 19¢

Executive officers are elected by, and serve atliberetion of, the Board of Directors. There isammngement or understanding between any
executive officer and any person, other than actbreor executive officer of FedEx or of any of stsbsidiaries acting in his or her official
capacity, pursuant to which any executive officasvgelected. There are no family relationships @etwany executive officer and any other
executive officer or director of FedEx or of anyitsfsubsidiaries.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

FedEx’s common stock is listed on the New York 8tBgchange under the symbol “FDX.” As of July 1012, there were 12,877 holders of
record of our common stock. The following tablesdfetth, for the periods indicated, the high and &ale prices, as reported on the NYSE,
and the cash dividends paid per share of commak.sto

Sale Prices
High Low Dividend
Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 20
Fourth Quarte $144.8¢ $130.6¢ $ 0.1t
Third Quartel 144.3¢ 128.1° 0.1t
Second Quarte 140.5¢ 106.3¢ 0.1t
First Quarte 113.3¢ 94.6( 0.1t
Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 20
Fourth Quarte $109.6¢ $ 90.61 $ 0.14
Third Quartel 107.5( 87.9¢ 0.14
Second Quarte 94.2¢ 83.92 0.14
First Quarte! 93.17 83.8( 0.14

FedEx also paid a cash dividend on July 3, 20120per share). We expect to continue to pay regularterly cash dividends, though each
subsequent quarterly dividend is subject to revaed approval by our Board of Directors. We evaltlgedividend payment amount on an
annual basis at the end of each fiscal year. Téwgr@o material restrictions on our ability to deeldividends, nor are there any material
restrictions on the ability of our subsidiariedri@nsfer funds to us in the form of cash dividerndans or advances.

The following table provides information on FedExépurchases of our common stock during the fogutrter of 2014.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Total Number o Maximum

Shares Purchas Number of
Shares That Ma
as Part of Yet Be Purchase

Average Pric Publicly

Total Number of Announced Under the

Perioc Shares Purchas¢? Paid per Sha Programs Programs
Mar. 1-31, 2014 1,642,55; $ 135.4¢ 1,642,55; 13,565,60
Apr. 1-30, 2014 2,875,82; 133.9¢ 2,875,82; 10,689,78
May 1-31, 2014 5,347,37 135.8: 5,347,37I 5,342,41i

Total 9,865,75! $ 135.2: 9,865, 75|

@ In January 2014, we entered into accelerated sbptechase (“ASR”) agreements with two banks tarelpase an aggregate of $2.0

billion of our common stock. During the third querbf 2014, 11.4 million shares were initially delied to us based on then-current
market prices. During the fourth quarter of 20h%, ASR transactions were completed and we rec&vetillion additional shares. The
final number of shares delivered upon settlememtach ASR agreement was determined based on aidideothe volume-weighted
average price of our stock during the term of #spective transactions. In total, 14.8 million sisavere delivered under the ASR
agreements
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The repurchases above were made under a shareliepamprogram that was approved by our Board @&udBirs in October 2013. This
repurchase program has, in addition to the thestiegi repurchase authorization, authorized us tolase, in the open market or in privately
negotiated transactions, up to an aggregate ofiidmshares of our common stock. As of July 2Q14, 2,145,534 shares remained
authorized for purchase under our share repurghraggams.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Selected financial data as of and for the five yemded May 31, 2014 is presented on page 13G@soAtimual Report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RES ULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

Management's discussion and analysis of resultgefations and financial condition is presentegages 36 through 77 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK
Quantitative and qualitative information about menksk is presented on page 129 of this AnnualoRegn Form 10-K.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

FedEx’s consolidated financial statements, togethtr the notes thereto and the report of Ernstd@uivg LLP dated July 14, 2014 thereon,
are presented on pages 80 through 128 of this Arfte@ort on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Management'’s Evaluation of Disclosure Controls andProcedures

The management of FedEX, with the participationwfprincipal executive and financial officers, leamluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures in ensuringtiginformation required to be disclosed in olindis under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, sumnharidereported within the time periods specifiethis Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms, including ensurirgt such information is accumulated and communictidtedEx management as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosure. Based on such evaluation, oumcfral executive and financial officers
have concluded that such disclosure controls ancepiures were effective as of May 31, 2014 (theafrtde period covered by this Annual
Report on Form 10-K).

Assessment of Internal Control Over Financial Repding

Management’s report on our internal control oveaficial reporting is presented on page 78 of timisu&l Report on Form 10-K. The report
of Ernst & Young LLP with respect to our internaintrol over financial reporting is presented ong@§ of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During our fiscal quarter ended May 31, 2014, nangje occurred in our internal control over finahaéporting that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, onteérnal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Certain Officers; Compensatory Arrangements of
Certain Officers

On July 13, 2014, Steven R. Loranger provided eatichis decision to retire from the Board of Dims of FedEx Corporation, effective
immediately before the next annual meeting of FéslEtockholders on September 29, 2014, and notistarreelection. Mr. Loranger has
served with distinction on the FedEx Board since&0
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PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Information regarding members of the Board of Diineg, compliance with Section 16(a) of the Seaesiftxchange Act of 1934, as amended,
FedEx’'s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics antdinesther aspects of FedEx’s corporate governéweh as the procedures by which
FedEx’s stockholders may recommend nominees tBdlaed of Directors and information about the Au@immittee, including its members
and our “audit committee financial expert”) will peesented in FedEx’s definitive proxy statemenit®©2014 annual meeting of
stockholders, which will be held on September Z8,£ and is incorporated herein by reference. imétion regarding executive officers of
FedEx is included above in Part | of this AnnuapB# on Form 10-K under the caption “Executive €dfis of the Registrant” pursuant to
Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K gaedneral Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K. Informatiegarding FedEx’'s Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics is included above in Part mlteof this Annual Report on Form 10-K under thptimn “Reputation and Responsibility
— Governance.”

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information regarding director and executive congadion will be presented in FedBxdefinitive proxy statement for its 2014 annuakltrey
of stockholders, which will be held on Septemb&; 2014, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information regarding security ownership of certa@neficial owners and management and related tsbdadr matters, as well as equity
compensation plan information, will be presente&éilExSs definitive proxy statement for its 2014 annuaktirgy of stockholders, which w
be held on September 29, 2014, and is incorpofsesin by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information regarding certain relationships anai$eections with related persons (including FedEpdlicies and procedures for the review
preapproval of related person transactions) aretttir independence will be presented in FedEx'midiee proxy statement for its 2014
annual meeting of stockholders, which will be hetdSeptember 29, 2014, and is incorporated hekereference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information regarding the fees for services progitg Ernst & Young LLP during 2014 and 2013 andAlelit Committee’s administration
of the engagement of Ernst & Young LLP, includihg Committee’s preapproval policies and proced(sesh as FedEx’s Policy on
Engagement of Independent Auditor), will be preedrih FedEx's definitive proxy statement for itslaGannual meeting of stockholders,
which will be held on September 29, 2014, and ¢®iporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(8)(1) and (2) Financial Statements; Financial Stament Schedules

FedEx’s consolidated financial statements, togetfittr the notes thereto and the report of Ernst@uivg LLP dated July 14, 2014 thereon,
are listed on pages 34 through 35 and presentpad@ses 80 through 128 of this Annual Report on FboAK. FedEx’s “Schedule 11 —
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts,” together wittetreport of Ernst & Young LLP dated July 14, 2@idreon, is presented on pages 131
through 132 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. éther financial statement schedules have beertemhiiecause they are not applicable or
the required information is included in FedEx’s solidated financial statements or the notes thereto

(a)(3) Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index on pages E-1 through E-&flist of the exhibits being filed or furnished Wwidr incorporated by reference into this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amentiedRegistrant has duly caused this
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigtieereunto duly authorized.

FEDEX CORPORATION

Dated: July 14, 2014 By: /s/ FREDERICK W. SMITH
Frederick W. Smitt
Chairman, President ai
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has sigead below by the following persons
on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities amthe dates indicated.

Signature Capacity Date

/s FREDERICK W. SMITH Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer Bivéctor July 14, 201
Frederick W. Smitt (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ ALAN B. GRAF, JR. Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office July 14, 201
Alan B. Graf, Jr (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ JOHN L. MERINO Corporate Vice President and Principal Accountirificér July 14, 201.
John L. Merinc (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ JAMES L. BARKSDALE * Director July 14, 201.
James L. Barksda

/s/ JOHN A. EDWARDSON * Director July 14, 201.
John A. Edwardso

/sl MARVIN R. ELLISON * Director July 14, 201
Marvin R. Ellison

/s/ KIMBERLY A. JABAL * Director July 14, 201.
Kimberly A. Jaba

/s/ SHIRLEY ANN JACKSON * Director July 14, 201

Shirley Ann Jackso
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Signature Capacity Date

/s/ STEVEN R. LORANGER * Director July 14, 201«
Steven R. Lorange

/s GARY W. LOVEMAN * Director July 14, 201
Gary W. Lovemat

/sl R. BRAD MARTIN * Director July 14, 201-
R. Brad Martin

/s/ JOSHUA COOPER RAMO *  Director July 14, 2014
Joshua Cooper Ran

/s SUSAN C. SCHWAB * Director July 14, 2014
Susan C. Schwe

/s/ DAVID P. STEINER * Director July 14, 201-
David P. Steine

/s/ PAUL S. WALSH * Director July 14, 2014
Paul S. Walsl

*By: /s/ JOHN L. MERINO July 14, 201-

John L. Merino
Attorney-in-Fact
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND
FINANCIAL CONDITION

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL SECTION

The financial section of the FedEx Corporation @Eg") Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Reportdnsists of the following
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Resul®mérations and Financial Condition (‘“MD&A”"), the @solidated Financial Statements
and the notes to the Consolidated Financial State&snand Other Financial Information, all of whidielude information about our significant
accounting policies, practices and the transactioatsunderlie our financial results. The followiniP&A describes the principal factors
affecting the results of operations, liquidity, itapresources, contractual cash obligations ardtthiical accounting estimates of FedEx. The
discussion in the financial section should be ieatbnjunction with the other sections of this AahReport, particularly “Item 1: Business”
and our detailed discussion of risk factors inctlgethis MD&A.

ORGANIZATION OF INFORMATION

Our MD&A is composed of three major sections: Ressaf Operations, Financial Condition and Critidacounting Estimates. These secti
include the following information:

» Results of operations includes an overview of amsolidated 2014 results compared to 2013, and 2&i8ts compared to 2012. This
section also includes a discussion of key actiowksexvents that impacted our results, as well a®otlook for 2015

» The overview is followed by a financial summary amdlysis (including a discussion of both histdraaerating results and our outlook
for 2015) for each of our reportable transportaegments

» Our financial condition is reviewed through an gsi@ of key elements of our liquidity, capital rases and contractual cash obligations,
including a discussion of our cash flows and onafficial commitment:

 Critical accounting estimates discusses those ¢iahstatement elements that we believe are impbttaunderstanding certain of the
material judgments and assumptions incorporat@difrfinancial results

* We conclude with a discussion of risks and uncetits that may impact our financial and operatesgpits.
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

We provide a broad portfolio of transportation,anerce and business services through companigsaetmg collectively, operating
independently and managed collaboratively, underdéspected FedEx brand. Our primary operating emiep are Federal Express
Corporation (“FedEx Express”), the world’s largespress transportation company; FedEx Ground PacBggtem, Inc. (“FedEx Ground§g,
leading North American provider of small-packageuyrd delivery services; and FedEx Freight, InceffEx Freight”), a leading U.S.
provider of less-than-truckload (“LTL") freight seéces. These companies represent our major sdineggand, along with FedEx Corporate
Services, Inc. (“FedEx Services”), form the coreof reportable segments.

Our FedEx Services segment provides sales, magkétiformation technology, communications and derteck-office support to our
transportation segments. In addition, the FedExiSes segment provides customers with retail acdmeBsdEx Express and FedEx Ground
shipping services through FedEx Office and Prinies, Inc. (“FedEx Office”) and provides custorservice, technical support and billing
and collection services through FedEx TechConnect,(“FedEx TechConnect”). See “Reportable Segsidor further discussion and refer
to “ltem 1: Business” for a more detailed descdptof each of our operating companies.
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The key indicators necessary to understand ouiatipgrresults include:
 the overall customer demand for our various sesvir@sed on mac-economic factors and the global econo

 the volumes of transportation services providedubgh our networks, primarily measured by our averdajly volume and shipment
weight;

» the mix of services purchased by our custon

« the prices we obtain for our services, primarilyaswred by yield (revenue per package or poundveintee per hundredweight and
shipment for LTL freight shipments

 our ability to manage our cost structure (capitqlenditures and operating expenses) to matchrahpifblume levels; an
+ the timing and amount of fluctuations in fuel pgand our ability to recover incremental fuel caktsugh our fuel surcharge

The majority of our operating expenses are dirdatiyacted by revenue and volume levels. Accordingly expect these operating expenses
to fluctuate on a year-over-year basis consistétht tive change in revenues and volumes. Therefiogegiscussion of operating expense
captions focuses on the key drivers and trendsdtimgpexpenses other than changes in revenuesamche. The line item “Other operating
expenses” includes costs predominantly associatiidowtside service contracts (such as securityfacitity services), insurance, uniforms,
professional fees and advertising.

Except as otherwise specified, references to yindisate our fiscal year ended May 31, 2014 or driday 31 of the year referenced and
comparisons are to the prior year. Referencesttransportation segments include, collectively, BedEx Express, FedEx Ground and
FedEx Freight segments.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

The following table compares summary operatingltegdollars in millions, except per share amoufis}the years ended May 31:

Percent Chang

2014 2013 20122 2014/2013 2013/2012
Revenues $ 4556 $ 44,28 $ 42,68 3 4
Operating incom: 3,44¢ 2,551 3,18¢ 35 (20
Operating margil 7.€% 5.8% 7.5% 18(Cbp (17Qbp
Net income $ 2,09 $ 1,561 $ 2,032 34 (23)
Diluted earnings per sha $ 6.7t $ 4.91 $ 6.41 37 (23)

@ Operating expenses include $560 million for bussrreslignment costs and a $100 million impairmérarge resulting from the decision

to retire 10 aircraft and related engines at Felipress

Operating expenses include an impairment char@d & million resulting from the decision to ret&4é aircraft and related engines at
FedEx Express and the reversal of a $66 millioallegserve that was initially recorded in 2011 edEx Express

@
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The following table shows changes in revenues gedating income by reportable segment for 2014 @ethto 2013, and 2013 compare
2012 (dollars in millions):

Revenue: Operating Incom:
Dollar Change Percent Chang Dollar Change Percent Chang
2014/

2014/ 2013/ 2014/ 2013/ 2013/ 2014/ 2013/

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
FedEx Express segmeht $ (50 $ 65€ — 2 $617 $ (705 111 (56)
FedEx Ground segme® 1,03¢ 1,00t 10 1C 167 24 9 1
FedEx Freight segme®) 35€ 11¢ 7 2 111 46 53 28
FedEx Services segme (44) (92) 3 (5) — — — —
Other and elimination (2D (82 NM NM — — — —
$1,28( $1,60: 3 4 $ 89 $ (635 35 (20

@ FedEx Express segment 2013 operating expensesl@$i05 million of direct and allocated businesgdigament costs and an

impairment charge of $100 million resulting frone ttiecision to retire 10 aircraft and related engidelditionally, FedEx Express
segment 2012 operating expenses include an impatrcharge of $134 million resulting from the dearsio retire 24 aircraft and related
engines and the reversal of a $66 million legatmes that was initially recorded in 201

FedEx Ground segment 2013 operating expenses :&ii@5 million of allocated business realignmersts:
FedEx Freight segment 2013 operating expensesdi@d@&0 million of direct and allocated businesdigaanent costs

@
®

Overview

Our revenues and earnings for 2014 increased dneptoved performance of all our transportationnsegts. In addition, our 2014 results
benefited from lower pension expense, our voluneamployee severance program and reduced variat#atime compensation, partially
offset by the significant negative net impact ddlfian estimated $70 million year-over-year negsitwpact of severe weather and one fewer
operating day. Our year-ovgear earnings comparisons benefited from the immfuis the prior year results of business realignnho®sts ani
an aircraft impairment charge (described below).

In 2014, we repurchased an aggregate of $4.9 miifaour common stock through open market purchasdgshrough accelerated share
repurchase (“ASR”) agreements with two banks. Shgparchases in 2014 had a modest positive impaetmings per diluted share. See
additional information on the share repurchase amogn Note 1 of the accompanying consolidatedniona statements.

Our 2013 results include business realignment adsks60 million, primarily related to our volunyacash buyout program. Furthermore, in
2013, we retired from service 10 aircraft and edagngines, which resulted in a noncash assetimpat charge of $100 million. These ite
negatively impacted our earnings by $1.31 per @édwthare. Beyond these factors, our results fod P@hefited from the strong performance
of FedEx Ground, which continued to grow marketrahand ongoing profit improvement at FedEx Freigtawever, a decline in

profitability was experienced at our FedEx Expresgment resulting from ongoing shifts in demandhfiaur priority international services to
economy international services which could notuily offset by network cost and capacity reduction2013.
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The following graphs for FedEx Express, FedEx Grband FedEx Freight show selected volume trendgh@nsands) for the years ended

May 31:
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International domestic average daily package voluepeesents our international intra-country expmserations, including countries
such as India, Mexico and Bra:
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The following graphs for FedEx Express, FedEx Grband FedEx Freight show selected yield trend#hferears ended May 31.:
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Revenue

Revenues increased 3% in 2014, primarily due thérigolumes at FedEx Ground and FedEx Freight &ld increases at FedEx Ground.
Revenues at all of our transportation segment91id 2vere negatively impacted by one fewer operatengand unusually severe weather. At
our FedEx Ground segment, revenues increased 1@%ilih due to higher volume from market share gantsincreased yields as a result of
rate increases. Revenues at FedEx Freight incré&@edliring 2014 primarily due to higher averagdydaiL shipments and revenue per
LTL shipment. At FedEx Express, revenues wereaftalower fuel surcharges and lower freight revemere offset by revenue growth in our
base U.S. and international export package busaresgrowth in our freight-forwarding business atdEx Trade Networks. The continuing
demand shift from our priority international seescto our economy international services dampeseshue growth at FedEx Express.

Revenues increased 4% in 2013 primarily drivenigydases in international domestic revenue at F&dxress and volume growth at Fec
Ground. At FedEx Ground, revenues increased 1020113 primarily due to volume growth from marketighgains. At FedEx Express,
revenues increased 2% due to increases in inten@tilomestic revenues from recent acquisitionsgaoaith in our freight-forwarding
business at FedEx Trade Networks. Base revenuetlyeiviFedEx Express in 2013 was constrained byagjletonomic conditions as shifts in
demand from our priority international serviceoto economy international services and lower regeslted in declines in international
export package yields. At FedEx Freight, revennesiased 2% in 2013 as a result of higher yieldaadage daily LTL shipments.
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Operating Income

The following tables compare operating expensesasggd as dollar amounts (in millions) and as egmerof revenue for the years ended
May 31:

2014 2013 2012
Operating expense

Salaries and employee bene $ 16,55t $ 16,57( $ 16,09¢
Purchased transportati 8,011 7,272 6,33t
Rentals and landing fe: 2,622 2,521 2,481
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,581 2,38¢ 2,11z
Fuel 4,557 4,74¢ 4,95¢
Maintenance and repai 1,862 1,90¢ 1,98(
Business realignment, impairment and other che — 66CM 134@
Other 5,92 5,672 5,39(

Total operating expens $ 42,12: $ 41,73¢ $ 39,49

Percent of Revent

2014 2013 2012
Operating expense
Salaries and employee bene 36.2% 37.2% 37. 1%
Purchased transportati 17.€ 16.4 14.¢
Rentals and landing fe: 5.7 5.7 5.8
Depreciation and amortizatic 5.7 5.4 5.C
Fuel 10.C 10.7 11.€
Maintenance and repai 41 4.3 4.€
Business realignment, impairment and other che — 1.50 0.2@
Other 13.C 12.¢ 12.€
Total operating expens 92.4 94 .2 92.F
Operating margil 7.€% 5.8% 7.5%

@ Includes predominantly severance costs associadtacbwr voluntary buyout program and charges résylfirom the decision to retire 10

aircraft and related engines at FedEx Expt
@ Represents charges resulting from the decisioati®r24 aircraft and related engines at FedEx &g
Operating income increased in 2014 primarily assalt of increased yields and higher volumes aEked@round and FedEx Express and
improved volumes, revenue per shipment and op@atefficiencies at FedEx Freight. Our resultsdtiour transportation segments were
positively impacted by the inclusion in 2013 of tsoassociated with our business realignment proguagiran aircraft impairment charge as
described below. Operating income in 2014 incluasignificant negative net impact of fuel, one fewperating day and year-over-year
impact of unusually severe weather.

Purchased transportation costs increased 10% ih @04 to volume growth at FedEx Ground, higheraatilon of third-party transportation
providers at FedEx Express, including recent bsimequisitions at FedEx Express, higher utiliratibthird-party transportation providers
at FedEx Freight and the expansion of our freighiviirding business at FedEx Trade Networks. Degtieci and amortization expense
increased 8% in 2014 primarily due to acceleratgutekiation on certain aircraft scheduled for egtient, and aircraft recently placed in
service at FedEx Express. Salaries and employesfiteeaxpense in 2014 was flat due to the benfftita our voluntary employee buyout
program, lower pension expense, the delayed timirapsence of merit increases for many of our eygas and reduced variable incentive
compensation. Maintenance and repairs decreasad 2044 due to network adjustments at FedEx Expaadshe continued modernization
of our aircraft fleet, which impacted the timinga#rtain maintenance events.
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The following graph for our transportation segmesttews our average cost of jet and vehicle fuegp#on for the years ended May 31.:

Average Fuel Cost per Gallon
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Fuel expense decreased 4% during 2014 primariltali@ver average price per gallon of jet fuel &mader aircraft fuel usage. Our fuel
surcharges, which are more fully described in Qadntitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarRisk” section of this MD&A, have
timing lag and are designed to pass through tlee @f fuel not included in our base shipping ratesur customers. Our results are affected
by the net impact of fuel, which is the fuel sungetiming lag that exists between when fuel pridesnge and when indexed fuel surcharges
automatically adjust. Based on a static analysth@impact to operating income of year-over-ydanges in fuel prices compared to year-
over-year changes in fuel surcharges, fuel hadrafgiant negative impact on operating income in£0

Our analysis considers the estimated impact ofé¢taction in fuel surcharges included in the basesrcharged for FedEx Express and F¢
Ground services. However, this analysis does nasider the negative effects that fuel surchargelemay have on our business, including
reduced demand and shifts by our customers to lgieddting services. While fluctuations in fuel shecge rates can be significant from
period to period, fuel surcharges represent orieeimany individual components of our pricing stowe that impact our overall revenue and
yield. Additional components include the mix of\sees sold, the base price and extra service chargeobtain for these services and

level of pricing discounts offered. In order to yide information about the impact of fuel surcharge the trend in revenue and yield growth,
we have included the comparative fuel surchargesriat effect for 2014, 2013 and 2012 in the accawipg discussions of each of our
transportation segments.

In 2013, our operating income and operating madlgicreased primarily due to the impact of busineaBgnment costs, aircraft impairment
charges and accelerated aircraft depreciation. B#jtuese factors, operating income was positivalyacted in 2013 by higher volumes and
increased yields at our FedEx Ground segment arndcbgased yields and higher volumes at our FedEight segment. However, the
ongoing shifts in demand from priority internatibearvices to economy international services ameklaates resulted in a substantial decline
in profitability at FedEx Express.

Purchased transportation increased 15% in 2013cduelume growth at FedEx Ground, internationalibess acquisitions during the year
and the expansion of our freight forwarding busénsisFedEx Trade Networks. Salaries and benefite@sed 3% in 2013 primarily due to
increases in pension and group health insurands, qtially offset by lower incentive compensatarcruals. Other expenses increased 5%
in 2013 primarily due to the impact of internatibaaquisitions and the reversal in 2012 of a legaérve.

-42-



Table of Contents

Fuel expense decreased 4% during 2013 primariljtai@ver jet fuel prices and lower aircraft fuslage. Based on a static analysis of the
impact to operating income of year-over-year charigduel prices compared to year-oyear changes in fuel surcharges, fuel had a neg
impact on operating income in 2013.

I nterest Expense

Interest expense increased $78 million in 2014 aril;mdue to increased interest expense from oowndiy 2014 debt offering, 2013 debt
issuances and a reduction in capitalized intehefgtrest expense increased $30 million in 2013 aritndue to a reduction in capitalized
interest and increased interest expense from 26fBissuances.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 36.3% in 2014, 36.4%003 and 35.3% in 2012. Our 2012 rate was favoratbhacted by the conclusion of the
Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) audit of our 20009 consolidated income tax returns. Our permarm@mestment strategy with respec
unremitted earnings of our foreign subsidiaries/mted a 1.2% benefit to our 2014 effective tax r&ar cumulative permanently reinvested
foreign earnings were $1.6 billion at the end af£@nd $1.3 billion at the end of 2013.

The components of the provision for federal incamess for the years ended May 31 were as followsnfllions):

2014 2013 2012
Current $ 624 $ 51z $ (120
Deferred 23¢€ 17E 947
Total Federal Provisio $ 862 $ 687 $ 827

Our current federal income tax expenses in 201@ taa lesser extent 2013 and 2014, were significaeduced by accelerated depreciation
deductions we claimed under provisions of the AoariTaxpayer Relief Act of 2013 and the Tax Reaied the Small Business Jobs Acts of
2010. Those Acts, designed to stimulate new busime®stment in the U.S., accelerated our depieniaeductions for qualifying
investments, such as our Boeing 777 Freighter (TB7yaircraft. These were timing benefits onlytliat depreciation benefits accelerated
into an earlier year are foregone in later years.

For 2015, we expect our effective tax rate to lievben 36.0% and 37.0%. The actual rate, howevdrdepend on a number of factors,
including the amount and source of operating incoiie also expect our current federal income taxeesp to increase in 2015 due to
expected higher earnings, along with other itenth &s lower accelerated depreciation benefits.

Additional information on income taxes, includingreffective tax rate reconciliation, liabilitiegrfuncertain tax positions and our global tax
profile can be found in Note 12 of the accompanyiogsolidated financial statements.

Business Acquisitions

On May 1, 2014, we expanded the international sergfferings of FedEx Express by completing ouruésition of the businesses operater
our previous service provider Supaswift (Pty) Litdseven countries in Southern Africa, for $36 miilin cash from operations. A significant
amount of the purchase price was allocated to gdbdavhich was entirely attributed to our FedEx Egps reporting unit. This acquisition
gives us an established regional ground networkeaitehsive knowledge of the Southern African region
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In 2013, we completed our acquisitions of Rapid@me€ta Logistica e Transporte S.A., a Braziliangpamtation and logistics company, for
$398 million; TATEX, a French express transportattompany, for $55 million; and Opek Sp. z o.d?ddish domestic express package
delivery company, for $54 million.

In 2012, we completed our acquisition of Servidizcionales Mupa, S.A. de C.V. (MultiPack), a Mexickomestic express package delivery
company, for $128 million.

These acquisitions were completed using cash fleenations. The financial results of these acquingsinesses are included in the FedEx
Express segment from the date of acquisition ané wet material, individually or in the aggregatepur results of operations and therefore,
pro forma financial information has not been présen

Profit | mprovement Programs

During 2013, we announced profit improvement proggarimarily through initiatives at FedEx Expressl &edEx Services targeting annual
profitability improvement of $1.6 billion at FedExpress. We expect the majority of the benefitenfimur profit improvement programs to
occur in 2015 and 2016 as our various cost reduetia efficiency initiatives gain traction. Our psaposition FedEx Express to exit 2016
with a run rate of $1.6 billion in additional opgng profit from the 2013 base business. Our abibtachieve the profit improvement target
and other benefits from these programs is depengent a number of factors, including the healtthefglobal economy and future customer
demand.

During 2014, we completed a program to offer vaimpicash buyouts to eligible U.Based employees in certain staff functions. Assaltef
this program, approximately 3,600 employees leftdtbmpany. Costs of the benefits provided undevdhentary employee severance
program were recognized in 2013 when eligible eygs accepted their offers. Payments under thigano were made at the time of
departure and totaled approximately $300 millio2@14 and $180 million in 2013.

The cost of the program is included in the captB®usiness realignment, impairment and other chdrigesur consolidated statements of
income. Also included in that caption are otheeaxdl costs directly attributable to our businesdignment activities, such as professional
fees. See Note 1 of the accompanying consolidateddial statements for further discussion of tbkimtary employee severance program.

In addition, see the “Long-lived Assets” sectioroaf “Critical Accounting Estimates” for a discussiof fleet modernization actions taken in
2013 and 2012.

Outlook

We anticipate revenue and earnings growth in 20/l by ongoing improvements in the results obdlbur transportation segments as our
expectations for moderate global economic growibhedrolume and yield improvements. Our resultsGa2 will benefit from continued
execution of the profit improvement programs nabdve, including our voluntary employee severamognam. This program provided a
modest benefit in 2014 due to the staggered nafiuttee employee departure dates. However, théb@rikefit of the voluntary severance
program will be realized in 2015. Our earnings §sare results for 2015 will also benefit from oare repurchase program announced in
2014 (a benefit of approximately $0.45 per dilutbdre) and lower pension expense due to strongrasses in 2014. Our expectations for
earnings growth in 2015 are dependent on key eaxttémotors including fuel prices and the pace gfriavement in the global economy.

Our capital expenditures for 2015 are expecteddrease to approximately $4.2 billion for additibaiacraft deliveries in 2015 to support our
fleet modernization program and continued expansfahe FedEx Ground network. We will continue t@keiate our investments in critical
long-term strategic projects to ensure our capitpenditures generate high returns on investmentsee balanced with our outlook for
global economic conditions. For additional detaitskey 2015 capital projects, refer to the “Cagrakources” and “Liquidity Outlook”
sections of this MD&A.
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Our outlook assumes no year-over-year net fuel ahgad is dependent upon a stable pricing environrioe fuel, as volatility in fuel prices

impacts our fuel surcharge levels, fuel expensedmmiand for our services. Historically, our fuelchiarges have largely offset incremental
fuel costs; however, volatility in fuel costs maygact earnings because adjustments to our fueharges lag changes in actual fuel prices
paid. For example, we purchase jet fuel on a glbhais with pricing terms correlated to four prignpat fuel indices. Therefore, the trailing

impact of adjustments to our fuel surcharges cgmifstantly affect our earnings either positivelyregatively in the short-term.

As described in Note 18 of the accompanying codatéd financial statements and the “Independentr&ctior Model” section of our FedEx
Ground segment MD&A, we are involved in a numbelagfsuits and other proceedings that challengstites of FedEx Ground’s owner-
operators as independent contractors. FedEx Granticipates continuing changes to its relationshiitls its owner-operators. The nature,
timing and amount of any changes are dependerteoautcome of numerous future events. We cannsbnedly estimate the potential
impact of any such changes or a meaningful rang®@htial outcomes, although they could be mdtediawever, we do not believe that a
such changes will impair our ability to operate andfitably grow our FedEx Ground business.

See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of these ahémpotential risks and uncertainties that couldemally affect our future performance.
Seasonality of Business

Our businesses are cyclical in nature, as seafianalations affect volumes, revenues and earniHgstorically, the U.S. express package
business experiences an increase in volumes ilNatember and December. International businessicpkarly in the Asia-to-U.S. market,
peaks in October and November in advance of the hhlRlay sales season. Our first and third fisgedrters, because they are summer
vacation and post winter-holiday seasons, haveiistly experienced lower volumes relative to otperiods. Normally, the fall is the
busiest shipping period for FedEx Ground, while Becember, June and July are the slowest pef@d$edEx Freight, the spring and fall
are the busiest periods and the latter part of Dbee through February is the slowest period. FaiExeOffice, the summer months are
normally the slowest periods. Shipment levels, afieg costs and earnings for each of our comparerslso be adversely affected by
inclement weather, particularly the impact of sewemter weather in our third fiscal quarter.

RECENT ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE

New accounting rules and disclosure requirememssigmnificantly impact our reported results and ¢benparability of our financie
statements.

On June 1, 2013, we adopted the authoritative geelégssued by the Financial Accounting Standarded®¢'FASB”) requiring additional
information about reclassification adjustments afidccumulated other comprehensive income, inclpdhlmnges in accumulated other
comprehensive income balances by component andiségm items reclassified out of accumulated ott@mprehensive income. We have
adopted this guidance by including expanded accai®dlother comprehensive income disclosure reqeinésrin Note 9 of our consolidated
financial statements.

On May 28, 2014, the FASB and International AccoghBtandards Board issued a new accounting stdriar will supersede virtually all
existing revenue recognition guidance under US GA#®I International Financial Reporting Standardlk)s standard will be effective for
us beginning in fiscal 2018. The fundamental ppies of the new guidance are that companies shieatzhnize revenue in a manner that
reflects the timing of the transfer of servicestistomers and the amount of revenue recognizegtteflhe consideration that a company
expects to receive for the goods and services geoviThe new guidance establishes a $itep approach for the recognition of revenue. B
on our preliminary assessment, we do not anticifietethe new guidance will fundamentally changereuenue recognition policies,
practices or systems.
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We believe that no other new accounting guidance admpted or issued during 2014 that is relevatitdaeaders of our financial statements.
However, there are numerous new proposals undela@mwent which, if and when enacted, may have mfgignt impact on our financial
reporting.

REPORTABLE SEGMENTS

FedEx Express, FedEx Ground and FedEx Freightsepteur major service lines and, along with Fe8Ewvices, form the core of our
reportable segments. Our reportable segments iet¢healfollowing businesses:

FedEx Express Segment FedEx Express (express transportat
FedEx Trade Networks (air and ocean freight fonvay@dnd customs brokerag
FedEx SupplyChain Systems (logistics servit

FedEx Ground Segment FedEx Ground (sme«package ground deliver
FedEx SmartPost (sm-parcel consolidatol
FedEx Freight Segmen FedEx Freight (LTL freight transportatio
FedEx Custom Critical (tin-critical transportation
FedEx Services Segmer FedEx Services (sales, marketing, information tetdgy, communications and be-office functions)

FedEx TechConnect (customer service, technical@tipillings and collections
FedEx Office (document and business services ackbga acceptanc

FEDEX SERVICES SEGMENT

The FedEx Services segment operates combined saeseting, administrative and information techmggldunctions in shared services
operations that support our transportation busgsasd allow us to obtain synergies from the coathin of these functions. For the
international regions of FedEx Express, some dfdtfanctions are performed on a regional basisda\Ek Express and reported in the FedEx
Express segment in their natural expense line itdims FedEx Services segment includes: FedEx Senwehich provides sales, marketing,
information technology, communications and certank-office support to our other companies; FedEx Tecirn@ot, which is responsible 1
customer service, technical support, billings aoltections for U.S. customers of our major busingsiss; and FedEx Office, which provides
an array of document and business services arnitlaetass to our customers for our package tratsiian businesses.

The FedEx Services segment provides direct andeicidsupport to our transportation businessesyandllocate all of the net operating costs
of the FedEx Services segment (including the netaiing results of FedEx Office) to reflect thd fidst of operating our transportation
businesses in the results of those segments. WitkiFedEx Services segment allocation, the nettipg results of FedEx Office, which are
an immaterial component of our allocations, arecated to FedEx Express and FedEx Ground. We reaevaluate the performance of
our transportation segments based on operatingnadmclusive of FedEx Services segment allocajidrsr the FedEx Services segment,
performance is evaluated based on the impact tdtas allocated net operating costs on our trariation segments.

The operating expenses line item “Intercompanygésiron the accompanying unaudited financial surifesaf our transportation segments
reflects the allocations from the FedEx Servicegramt to the respective transportation segments.‘litercompany charges” caption also
includes charges and credits for administrativeises provided between operating companies andinesther costs such as corporate
management fees related to services received f@rgkcorporate oversight, including executiveasfs and certain legal and finance
functions. The allocations of net operating coststased on metrics such as relative revenuesiorated services provided. We believe
these allocations approximate the net cost of gingithese functions and our allocation method@sgire refined as necessary to reflect
changes in our businesses.
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OTHER INTERSEGMENT TRANSACTIONS

Certain FedEx operating companies provide tranafiort and related services for other FedEx compamigside their reportable segment.

Billings for such services are based on negotiedézs, which we believe approximate fair value, arereflected as revenues of the billing
segment. These rates are adjusted from time toliémed on market conditions. Such intersegmenhumseand expenses are eliminated in
our consolidated results and are not separatefyifai in the following segment information, besauthe amounts are not material.
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FEDEX EXPRESS SEGMENT

FedEx Express offers a wide range of U.S. domastitinternational shipping services for deliverypatkages and freight including priority
services, which provide time-definite delivery viittone, two or three business days worldwide, afdrded or economy services, which

provide time-definite delivery within five businedays worldwide. The following tables compare rawes) operating expenses, operating
expenses as a percent of revenue, operating inantheperating margin (dollars in millions) for tyears ended May 31.:

Revenues

Package
U.S. overnight bo:
U.S. overnight envelog
U.S. deferrec
Total U.S. domestic package revet
International priority
International econom
Total international export package revel
International domesti®

Freight:

uU.S.

Total package revent

International priority
International airfreigh

Other®

Total freight revenu

Total revenue

Operating expense
Salaries and employee bene
Purchased transportati
Rentals and landing fe:
Depreciation and amortizatic

Fuel

Maintenance and repai
Business realignment, impairment and other ch&®
Intercompany charge®

Other®

Total operating expens

Operating incom:
Operating margii®

Percent Chang

2014
2014 2013 2012 2013
$ 6,55¢ $ 6,51¢ $ 6,54¢ 1
1,63¢ 1,70¢ 1,747 (4)
3,18¢ 3,02( 3,001 6
11,37¢ 11,23¢ 11,29: 1
6,451 6,58¢ 6,84¢ o)
2,22¢ 2,04¢ 1,85¢ 9
8,68( 8,63z 8,70¢ 1
1,44¢ 1,39¢ 852 3
21,50 21,26¢ 20,85¢ 1
2,35¢ 2,56% 2,49¢ (8)
1,59¢ 1,67¢ 1,827 (5)
20t 27€ 307 (26)
4,15¢ 4,51¢ 4,63: 8)
1,46: 1,381 1,02¢ 5
27,12: 27,17: 26,51 —
9,91¢ 10,04¢ 9,657 1)
2,511 2,331 1,82¢ 8
1,70¢ 1,68¢ 1,68( 1
1,48¢ 1,35( 1,16¢ 10
3,94: 4,13( 4,30¢ (5)
1,18¢ 1,244 1,33¢ (5)
— 247 134 NM
2,027 2,37¢ 2,19: (15)
3,17¢ 3,21( 2,05¢ 1)
25,94¢ 26,61¢ 25,25t @)
$ 1,17: $ 55E $ 1,26( 111
4.3% 2.0% 4.8% 23(bp

48

2013,

2012

L)
2
1

@
10
M
64

2

3

(8)

(10)

©)
35
2

4
28

15
4
(7)

NM
8
9
5
(56)
(280)bp
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Percent of Revent

2014 2013 2012
Operating expense
Salaries and employee bene 36.5% 37.(% 36.4%
Purchased transportati 9.3 8.6 6.8
Rentals and landing fe: 6.3 6.2 6.3
Depreciation and amortizatic 5.5 5.C 4.4
Fuel 14.t 15.2 16.2
Maintenance and repai 4.4 4.€ 5.C
Business realignment, impairment and other ch&® — 0.€ 0.5
Intercompany charge® 7.5 8.7 8.3
Other® 11.7 11.¢ 11.2
Total operating expens 95.7 98.C 95.2
Operating margii® 4.3% 2.C% 4.8%

(€3]
@
®

International domestic revenues represent ournat&mal intri-country express operations including countries fichMexico and Braz
Includes FedEx Trade Networks and FedEx SupplyC&gstems

2013 includes $143 million of predominantly sevesanosts associated with our voluntary buyout @ogand a $100 million
impairment charge resulting from the decision toe€l0 aircraft and related engines. 2012 reptssempairment charges resulting from
the decision to retire 24 aircraft and related eagi

Includes allocations of $262 million in 2013 fordimess realignment cos

Includes predominantly costs associated with oatsatvice contracts (such as security, facilityises and cargo handling), professional
fees, uniforms, insurance and advertising. 201Ridwes reversal of a $66 million legal reserve thas initially recorded in 201:

The direct and indirect charges described in n@pand (4) above reduced 2013 operating margih3fybasis points. The charges and
credit described in notes (3) and (5) above red204@ operating margin by 20 basis poil

)
®)

(6)
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The following table compares selected statisticgi{ousands, except yield amounts) for the yeaite@May 31:

Percent
Change
2014, 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012
Package Statistic®
Average daily package volume (AD\
U.S. overnight bo: 1,16¢ 1,13¢ 1,14¢ 3 @
U.S. overnight envelog 53¢ 574 58€ (6) 2
U.S. deferrec 86¢ 83¢ 84% 4 D
Total U.S. domestic AD\ 2,571 2,545 2,571 1 (1)
International priority 41( 421 421 3 —
International econom 17C 15t 13¢ 10 12
Total international export ADY 58( 57¢ 55¢ 1 3
International domesti® 81¢ 78t 49k 4 59
Total ADV 3,97( 3,90 3,631 2 8
Revenue per package (yieli
U.S. overnight bo; $ 22.1¢ $ 22.52 $ 22.31 (2 1
U.S. overnight envelog 11.9% 11.6¢€ 11.6¢ 3 —
U.S. deferrec 14.4¢ 14.1¢ 13.8i 2 2
U.S. domestic composi 17.4: 17.3: 17.12 1 1
International priority 61.8¢ 61.2¢ 63.41 1 (©)]
International econom 51.7¢ 51.7i 52.7i — 2
International export composi 58.9¢ 58.7: 60.8: — (©)]
International domesti® 6.9t 6.9¢ 6.7¢ (0] 4
Composite package yie 21.3Z 21.3¢ 22.4¢ — 5)
Freight Statistic®
Average daily freight pound
u.S. 7,85¢ 7,61z 7,48 3 2
International priority 2,92 3,04¢ 3,30: 4 8
International airfreigh 79¢ 1,06¢ 1,171 (25) (9
Total average daily freight poun 11,57¢ 11,72¢ 11,96: (D) 2
Revenue per pound (yielc
u.S. $ 1.1¢ $ 1.32 $ 1.3C (12) 2
International priority 2.1t 2.1¢ 2.1¢ — —
International airfreigh 1.01 1.01 1.0z — D
Composite freight yieli 1.41 1.51 1.51] @) —

(€3]
@

Package and freight statistics include only theraijpens of FedEx Expres

International domestic statistics represent owarimtional intra-country express operations, inclgaountries such as Mexico and
Brazil.

FedEx Express Segment Revenues

FedEx Express segment revenues were flat in 20dwet fuel surcharges, lower freight revenue, loeahange rates and one fewer
operating day were offset by revenue growth inldi8. and international export package base busarasshe growth of our freight-
forwarding business at FedEx Trade Networks. Iritamid the continuing demand shift from our prigribternational services to our econa
international services dampened revenue growth.

Freight yields decreased 7% in 2014 due to lowekdurcharges and lower rates. Freight averagg paiinds decreased by 1% in 2014 due
to weakness in global economic conditions and dgpesductions. U.S. domestic yields increased %014 primarily due to higher rates
and weight per package, partially offset by lowerl fsurcharges. International export package ree®@mcreased 1% in 2014 as base busines:
growth was offset by lower fuel surcharges anddxmand shift to our loweyielding economy services. International prioritglgs increase

1% in 2014, while international priority volumesctiaed 3%. Within this category, volumes for lowegelding distribution services declined,
while international priority volumes, excluding geedistribution services, increased 1%. Internatidomestic average daily volumes
increased 4% in 2014 primarily due to prior yeaeinational business acquisitions.
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FedEx Express segment revenues increased 2% in@2Bi&rily due to the impact of international acijtibns during the year and growth in
our freight-forwarding business at FedEx Trade Meks. Revenue growth was constrained by global @mdnconditions as revenue growth
from higher international export volume was offisgtdecreased yields due to shifts in demand fronpdarity international services to our
economy international services, as well as lowestan 2013, international domestic revenues asad 64% due to acquisitions in Brazil,
France and Poland. International export revenues dawn in 2013 as revenue per package decreaselli8%6 the demand shift to our
lower-yielding economy services and lower ratesewnlume increased 3% driven by our economy ses/iA decrease in U.S. domestic
package volumes more than offset an increase inddi8estic package yield, resulting in slightly B&niJ.S. domestic package revenues in
2013. Total average daily freight pounds decre@8dn 2013 due to weakness in economic global ¢immdi.

Our fuel surcharges are indexed to the spot pacgef fuel. Using this index, the U.S. domestid autbound fuel surcharge and the
international fuel surcharges ranged as followdtieryears ended May 31:

2014 2013 2012

U.S. Domestic and Outbound Fuel Surcha

Low 8.0(% 10.0(% 11.5(%

High 10.5( 14.5( 16.5(

Weightec-average 9.47 11.8¢ 14.2:
International Fuel Surcharge

Low 12.0¢ 12.0¢ 13.5(

High 19.0C 20.5(C 23.0C

Weightec-average 16.2¢ 17.0Z 17.4F

In January 2014, we implemented a 3.9% averagprist increase for FedEx Express U.S. domesti8, export and U.S. import services. In
January 2013, we implemented a 5.9% average |t prcrease for FedEx Express U.S. domestic, &€&kfort and U.S. import services,
while we lowered our fuel surcharge index by twocpatage points.

FedEx Express Segment Operating | ncome

FedEx Express operating income and operating mang014 were positively impacted by the inclusior2013 of costs associated with our
business realignment program and an aircraft impait charge as discussed below. In addition, F&pxess results in 2014 benefited fr
the revenue growth in our U.S. and internationalogikpackage business, lower pension expense,abumtary employee severance program
and lower maintenance expense. These factors vagtially offset by lower freight revenues, a siggaiht negative net impact of fuel and

higher depreciation expense. In addition, operatiagme in 2014 reflects one fewer operating day ya@ar-over-year negative impact of
severe weather.

In 2014, salaries and employee benefits decrea¥ediuk to lower pension expense, the delayed timirasence of annual merit increases
for many of our employees, benefits from our vaduptemployee severance program and lower variabkentive compensation.
Intercompany charges decreased 15% in 2014 dire imc¢lusion in the prior year results of costoamsged with the business realignment
program at FedEx Services, as well as lower alémtatles and information technology costs. Purchaasportation costs increased 8% in
2014 due to higher utilization of third-party traostation providers, including recent business &itjons, and costs associated with the
expansion of our freight-forwarding business atBBedrade Networks. Depreciation and amortizatiopegse increased 10% during 2014 as
a result of $74 million of year-over-year incren@reiccelerated depreciation due to the shortefeedflicertain aircraft scheduled for
retirement, and aircraft recently placed into segvi
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FedEx Express aircraft maintenance and repairs eostlargely driven by aircraft utilization andjuéred periodic maintenance events. When
newer aircraft are introduced into our operatimgt] less maintenance costs are incurred. As apaur fleet modernization program, FedEx
Express has retired older, less efficient airguéiftr to required periodic maintenance events aaglihtroduced newer aircraft into the

fleet. FedEx Express maintenance and repairs destgeased 5% in 2014 due to network reductiongtentienefits from the retirement

of aircraft and related engines, as well as thintinef major maintenance events. Maintenance apaling costs decreased 7% in 2013 due to
the benefits from the retirement of aircraft anidted engines, as well as the timing of major neiahce events.

Fuel costs decreased 5% in 2014 due to lower #ifoiel prices and usage. Based on a static arsabfghe net impact of year-over-year
changes in fuel prices compared to year-over-yeanges in fuel surcharges, fuel had a significagative impact on operating income in
2014. This analysis considers the estimated impfatte reduction in fuel surcharges included inlihse rates charged for FedEx Express
services.

FedEx Express segment operating results in 2018 negatively impacted by $405 million of costs a&sed with our business realignment
program, both directly and through intercompangations. Additionally, results for 2013 were négzly impacted by a $100 million
impairment charge as a result of the decisionticer@0 aircraft and related engines from senfi@dEx Express incurred $69 million in year-
over-year incremental accelerated depreciatiorsdns2013 due to the decision in 2012 to shorterlithes of certain aircraft scheduled for
retirement. Operating income and operating markgio decreased in 2013 due to the demand shift tbiearer-yielding international
services. Operating comparisons were also impdmteth aircraft impairment charge in 2012 and ansaleof a legal reserve that was initie
recorded in 2011.

Purchased transportation costs increased 28% i& @04 to international acquisitions during the yaraa costs associated with the expansion
of our freight forwarding business at FedEx Traadvhorks. Salaries and benefits increased 4% in 20830 international acquisitions and
higher pension costs, partially offset by lowergntive compensation accruals. Other operating esgseimcreased 9% due to the impact of
international acquisitions and the negative yeargiear comparison of the legal reserve accru@rsal in 2012. Depreciation and
amortization expense increased 15% in 2013 asu#t fsadditional aircraft placed into service aaxtelerated depreciation due to the
shortened life of certain aircraft.

Fuel costs decreased 4% in 2013 due to lower @tpiices and lower aircraft fuel usage. Based static analysis of the net impact of year-
over-year changes in fuel prices compared to year-gear changes in fuel surcharges, fuel hadbhtsfi positive impact in 2013.

FedEx Express Segment Outlook

We expect revenues and earnings to increase akFediess during 2015 primarily due to improved W&mestic and international export
package yields, as we continue to focus on revguoaéty while managing costs. In addition, we expseerating income to improve through
ongoing execution of our profit improvement proggaincluding managing network capacity to matcha@uer demand, reducing structural
costs, modernizing our fleet and driving produdggivihcreases throughout our U.S. and internatioparations. These benefits will be parti
offset by higher maintenance expense due to thadiwf engine maintenance events, higher salaridsaages as we reinstate merit increi
for many employees, and higher depreciation expdrigen by ongoing accelerated depreciation duets modernization.

Capital expenditures at FedEx Express are expéctedrease in 2015 driven by our aircraft fleetdamization programs. In connection w
our profit improvement program, we will continuertandernize our aircraft fleet at FedEx Expressrpgi015 by adding newer aircraft that
are more reliable, fuel-efficient and technolodicaldvanced, and retiring older, less-efficientiift.
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FEDEX GROUND SEGMENT

FedEx Ground service offerings include day-cersairvice delivery to businesses in the U.S. and @aaad to nearly 100% of U.S.
residences. FedEx SmartPost consolidates high-wgllow-weight, less time-sensitive business-to-oamexr packages and utilizes the United
States Postal Service (“USPS”) for final delivefe following tables compare revenues, operatinmgeeges, operating expenses as a percen
of revenue, operating income and operating mawpiigrs in millions) and selected package stagdie thousands, except yield amounts)

the years ended May 31:

Percent
Change
2014, 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012
Revenues
FedEx Grounc $ 10,63¢ $ 9,652 $ 8,791 10 10
FedEx SmartPo:s 983 92€ 782 6 18
Total revenue 11,61: 10,57¢ 9,57: 10 10
Operating expense
Salaries and employee bene 1,75¢ 1,58¢ 1,451 11 9
Purchased transportati 4,63¢ 4,191 3,76: 11 11
Rentals 402 331 284 21 17
Depreciation and amortizatic 46¢€ 434 38¢ 8 12
Fuel 17 17 14 — 21
Maintenance and repai 222 19C 17¢€ 17 8
Intercompany charge® 1,154 1,14¢ 97¢ 1 17
Other® 1,00¢ 892 75E 13 18
Total operating expens 9,662 8,79( 7,80¢ 10 13
Operating incom: $ 1,95¢ $ 1,78¢ $ 1,76¢ 9 1
Operating margi® 16.€% 16.% 18.4% (10)bp (150bp
Average daily package volum
FedEx Grounc 4,58¢ 4,22: 3,90i 9 8
FedEx SmartPo:s 2,18¢ 2,05¢ 1,692 6 22
Revenue per package (yieli
FedEx Grounc $ 9.1C $ 8.9 $ 8.7 2 2
FedEx SmartPo: $ 1.7¢ $ 177 $ 181 1 2
Percent of Revent
2014 2013 2012
Operating expense
Salaries and employee bene 15.1% 15.(% 15.2%
Purchased transportati 39.¢ 39.€ 39.5
Rentals 3.5 3.1 3.C
Depreciation and amortizatic 4.0 4.1 4.1
Fuel 0.2 0.2 0.1
Maintenance and repai 1.9 1.8 1.8
Intercompany charge® 9.9 10.€ 10.2
Other® 8.7 8.4 7.9
Total operating expens 83.2 83.1 81.€
Operating margi® 16.€% 16.% 18.4%

@
@

Includes allocations of $105 million in 2013 fordiness realignment costs, which reduced operatergimby 100 basis point

Includes predominantly costs associated with oats@&tvice contracts (such as security and faciétyices), insurance and professional
fees.
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FedEx Ground Segment Revenues

FedEx Ground segment revenues increased 10% ind8d.tb both volume and yield growth at FedEx Goband volume growth at FedEx
SmartPost. In addition, 2014 revenues were nedgtipacted by one fewer operating day, unusuahese weather and lower fuel
surcharges.

Average daily volume at FedEx Ground increased 8%nd 2014 due to market share gains resulting frontinued growth in our FedEx
Home Delivery service and commercial business. k&diibund yield increased 2% during 2014 primariledo rate increases and higher
residential surcharges, partially offset by loweglfsurcharge revenue.

FedEx SmartPost volumes grew 6% during 2014 prigndtie to growth in esommerce. Yields at FedEx SmartPost increased T¥bgiR01«
primarily due to rate increases and change in semiix, partially offset by higher postage costd lwer fuel surcharges. FedEx SmartPost
yield represents the amount charged to customeéisf pestage paid to the USF

During 2013, FedEx Ground segment revenues inalel3% due to volume increases at both FedEx Graudd~edEx SmartPost, as well as
yield growth at FedEx Groun

FedEx Ground average daily package volume incre8%eduring 2013 due to market share gains fromicoet growth in our FedEx Home
Delivery service and increases in our commercialimss. FedEx Ground yield increased 2% in 2018aily due to increased rates and
higher residential surcharge revenue, partiallgetfby lower fuel surcharges and package weights.

FedEx SmartPost average daily volume grew 22% d013 primarily as a result of growth in e-comneer¢ields at FedEx SmartPost
decreased 2% during 2013 primarily due to highetame costs, partially offset by increased rates.

The FedEx Ground fuel surcharge is based on a emliaderage of the national U.S. on-highway avepaige for a gallon of diesel fuel, as
published by the Department of Energy. Our fuetkarge ranged as follows for the years ended May 31

2014 2013 2012
Low 6.5(% 6.5(% 7.5(%
High 7.0C 8.5(C 9.5C
Weightec-average 6.6€ 7.6 8.4€

In January 2014, FedEx Ground and FedEx Home Dglingplemented a 4.9% increase in average lisepfedEx SmartPost rates also
increased. In January 2013, FedEx Ground and Feixe Delivery implemented a 4.9% increase in avefiasg price. The full average rate
increase of 5.9% was patrtially offset by adjustimg fuel price threshold at which the fuel surcleaoggins, reducing the fuel surcharge by
percentage point. FedEx SmartPost rates also setea

FedEx Ground Segment Operating I ncome

FedEx Ground segment operating income increaseth @414 driven by higher volumes and yields. Opagaincome comparisons were a
positively impacted by the inclusion in 2013 of tsoassociated with our business realignment progmdiscussed below. The increase to
operating income in 2014 was partially offset bgh@r network expansion costs, as we continue tesinveavily in the growing FedEx
Ground and FedEx SmartPost businesses, and tinegative impact of fuel. In addition, operatingante in 2014 was negatively affected
yearover-year impact of unusually severe weather arelfewer operating day. The decline in operatinggingor 2014 is primarily
attributable to the negative net impact of fuel antlvork expansion costs. Operating margin in 28drdefited from the inclusion in 2013 of
costs associated with our business realignmentanog
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Salaries and employee benefits expense increagéditiing 2014 primarily due to additional staffitmgsupport volume growth and higher
healthcare costs. Other expense increased 13%rpyimae to higher selfnsurance costs and credit card fees. Rentals egproreased 21
in 2014 due to network expansion. Depreciationamdrtization expense increased 8% in 2014 duettwonk expansion and trailer
purchases.

FedEx Ground segment operating income increasedut¥g 2013 primarily due to volume growth and fEgkields. However, operating
margin decreased as the benefit of higher volunderewenue per package was more than offset bycmtgwany charges of $105 million
associated with the business realignment prograivadavorable self-insurance adjustment in 2012chased transportation costs increased
11% in 2013 primarily as a result of volume growtid higher rates paid to our independent contracther operating expenses increased
18% primarily due to a favorable self-insuranceuatinent in 2012 and higher legal expenses. Salang&mployee benefits expense
increased 9% in 2013 primarily due to increaseffistato support volume growth.

I ndependent Contractor Model

Although FedEx Ground is involved in numerous laitgsand other proceedings (such as state tax er atfministrative challenges) where
the classification of its independent contracteratiissue, a number of recent judicial decisiompert our classification, and we believe our
relationship with the contractors is generally dbece. For a description of these proceedings,'Bésk Factors” and Note 18 of the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

For additional information on the FedEx Ground lpeledent Service Provider model, see Part 1, Iteimder the caption “Independent
Contractor Model.”

FedEx Ground Segment Outlook

FedEx Ground segment revenues and operating inaoenexpected to continue to grow in 2015, led Hywme growth across all our major
services due to market share gains. We also aaticipeld growth in 2015 through yield managemengpams, including our recently
announced dimensional weight rating changes. Wecatitinue to make investments to grow our highlyfiiable FedEx Ground network
through facility expansions and equipment purchaaed the impact of these investments on our ¢nsttsre will partially offset earnings
growth in 2015.

We will continue to vigorously defend various aks@gainst our independent contractor model anat inegoing legal costs as a part of this
process. While we believe that FedEx Ground's ovaparators are properly classified as independamtractors, it is reasonably possible
that we could incur a material loss in connectigtihwne or more of these matters or be requiraddake material changes to our contractor
model. However, we do not believe that any suclmgba will impair our ability to operate and profitagrow our FedEx Ground business.

-56-



Table of Contents

FEDEX FREIGHT SEGMENT

FedEx Freight service offerings include priority\sees when speed is critical and economy servideen time can be traded for savings. The
following table compares revenues, operating exgergperating expenses as a percent of revenuatiogeincome (dollars in millions),
operating margin and selected statistics for tteryyended May 31:

Percent Chang
2014/ 2013/
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012

Revenues $ 5751 $5401 $ 5,282 7 2
Operating expense
Salaries and employee bene 2,44¢ 2,34z 2,31¢ 4 1
Purchased transportati 981 86% 851 13 2
Rentals 131 11€ 114 11 4
Depreciation and amortizatic 231 217 18t 6 17
Fuel 59t 59¢ 63€ Q) (6)
Maintenance and repai 17¢ 191 192 (6) (@D}
Business realignment, impairment and other ch&®) — 3 — NM NM
Intercompany charge® 461 484 432 (5) 12
Other® 41¢€ 37t 39: 11 (5)
Total operating expens 5,43¢ 5,19: 5,12( 5 1
Operating incom: $ 31¢ $ 20&8 $ 16z 53 28
Operating margi® 5.5% 3.€% 3.1% 16Cbp 8Cbp
Average daily LTL shipments (in thousan:
Priority 62.¢ 59.: 60.4 6 2
Economy 27.7 26.4 24.5 5 8
Total average daily LTL shipmen 90.€ 85.1 84.¢ 6 1
Weight per LTL shipmer
Priority 1,262 1,237 1,20z 2 3
Economy 1,00¢ 99( 1,04t 1 5)
Composite weight per LTL shipme 1,18 1,161 1,15¢ 2 —
LTL revenue per shipmel
Priority $223.6. $220.3. $216.4: 1 2
Economy 258.08  256.3¢  250.3( 1 2
Composite LTL revenue per shipme $234.2: $231.5: $226.2¢ 1 2
LTL revenue per hundredweig
Priority $17.7: $17.8( $ 18.02 — (@)
Economy 25.8( 25.9( 23.9¢ — 8
Composite LTL revenue per hundredwei $ 1982 $ 1992 $ 19.5i (1) 2
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Percent of Revent

2014 2013 2012
Operating expense
Salaries and employee bene 42.5% 43.2% 43.%
Purchased transportati 17.1 16.C 16.1
Rentals 2.3 2.2 2.2
Depreciation and amortizatic 4.0 4.C 3.5
Fuel 10.2 11.1 12.C
Maintenance and repai 3.1 3.5 3.€
Business realignment, impairment and other ch&® — — —
Intercompany charge® 8.0 9.C 8.2
Other® 7.2 6.8 7.4
Total operating expens 94k 96.1 96.¢
Operating margi® 5.5% 3.€% 3.1%

(€3]
@
®

2013 includes severance costs associated withauntary buyout progran
Includes allocations of $47 million in 2013 for inesss realignment cos!

Includes predominantly costs associated with inegaprofessional fees and outside service costfaath as security and facility
services)

@ The direct and indirect charges disclosed in n¢itgand (2) above reduced 2013 operating margiablyasis points

FedEx Freight Segment Revenues

FedEx Freight segment revenues increased 7% d2oihg due to higher average daily LTL shipmentsrawveénue per LTL shipment.
Revenues in 2014 were negatively impacted by owerfeperating day. Average daily LTL shipments éaged 6% in 2014 due to higher
demand for our FedEx Freight Priority and FedExdhieEconomy service offerings. LTL revenue pepshént increased 1% in 2014 due to
changes in shipment characteristics, primarily bigheight per LTL shipment. LTL revenue per hundgveiht decreased 1% during 2014
due to changes in shipment characteristics, priynhigher weight per LTL shipment. Changes in weigér shipment generally have an
inverse effect on revenue per hundredweight, as@ease in weight per shipment will typically cawsdecrease in revenue per
hundredweight.

During 2013, FedEXx Freight segment revenues inetka%o due to higher LTL revenue per hundredweigbtaverage daily LTL shipments.
LTL revenue per hundredweight increased 2% in 2018to improvements in FedEx Freight Economy serwiterings resulting from high
rates and lower weight per LTL shipment. Averagéydal L shipments increased 1% in 2013 driven by BadEx Freight Economy services
offering, partially offset by transitional challeegyencountered by some customers in the secondft2fL3 while migrating FedEx Freight
functionality to the FedEx enterprise automatedfqien.

The weekly indexed LTL fuel surcharge is basedhenaverage of the U.S. on-highway average priaea f@llon of diesel fuel, as published
by the Department of Energy. The indexed LTL fugtharge ranged as follows for the years ended 3lay

2014 2013 2012
Low 22.7% 21.8(% 19.8(%
High 23.7( 24.4C 24.3(
Weightec-average 23.2( 23.3¢ 22.9(

In March 2014, FedEx Freight increased certain dtfél. other shipping rates by an average of 3.9%ulyn2013, FedEx Freight increased
certain U.S. and other shipping rates by an aves&ges%. In July 2012, FedEx Freight increasedaderU.S. and other shipping rates by an
average of 6.9%.
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FedEx Freight Segment Operating | ncome

FedEx Freight segment operating income and operatiargin increased in 2014 due to the positive otgaf higher average daily LTL
shipments, higher LTL revenue per shipment andtgreetwork efficiency. Operating income comparisatso benefited from the inclusion
in 2013 of costs associated with our businessgeailent program as discussed below. Operating in¢or2@14 was negatively impacted by
higher depreciation and amortization expense, dyative year-over-year impact of severe weathemaedewer operating day.

Purchased transportation expense increased 13%d#hdle to increased use of rail and road thirtlygeainsportation providers and higher
rates. Salaries and employee benefits increaseitt 2214 primarily due to a volume-related incremskabor hours and higher healthcare
costs. Other operating expenses increased 11%ilih @0e to higher selfisurance costs, bad debt expense and real estate tntercompar
charges decreased 5% in 2014 primarily due torttiesion in the prior year results of costs assediavith the business realignment program
at FedEx Services, partially offset by higher algel sales costs.

Based on a static analysis of the net impact of-gear-year changes in fuel prices compared to-ggar-year changes in fuel surcharges,
fuel had a minimal impact on operating income 1420

During 2013, the FedEx Freight segment operatisglte improved as a result of LTL revenue per haddeight growth and increased
average daily LTL shipments, along with ongoing ioy@ment in operational efficiencies in our intdgchnetwork. However, operating
results for 2013 were negatively impacted by $5lioniof costs associated with our business reafignt program both directly and through
intercompany allocations.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased diré4o continued investment in replacement trartapon equipment. Salaries and
employee benefits increased 1% in 2013 primarily tiuincreases in volume and higher healthcarekavercompensation and pension costs,
partially offset by operational efficiencies anevir incentive compensation. Purchased transpontatists increased 2% in 2013 due to
increased utilization of rail and higher rates tipdly offset by a lower cost per mile due to obiligy to optimize mode of transportation.

Fuel costs decreased 6% in 2013 due to increagizatitn of rail and fuel efficiency improvemenBased on a static analysis of the net
impact of year-over-year changes in fuel pricesgamd to year-over-year changes in fuel surchafgeshad a minimal impact on operating
income in 2013.

FedEx Freight Segment Outlook

We expect continued revenue and operating incomstprat the FedEx Freight segment in 2015 driverdiyme and revenue per shipment
increases from our differentiated LTL serviceswadl as continued improvement in network and openai optimization. The recently
announced increase to our fuel surcharge rateseftain LTL shipments will benefit yields in 201Bapital expenditures in 2015 are expe
to increase, with the majority of our spendingrgplacement of vehicles.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION
LIQUIDITY

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $2.9 billion ay Btl, 2014, compared to $4.9 billion at May 31120The following table provides a
summary of our cash flows for the periods ended Bthyin millions):

2014 2013 2012

Operating activities

Net income $2,097 $1,561 $2,03
Business realignment, impairment and other che — 47¢ 134
Other noncash charges and cre 3,41¢ 3,18: 3,50¢
Changes in assets and liabilit (1,24 (53E) (83E)
Cash provided by operating activiti 4,264 4,68¢ 4,83t
Investing activities
Capital expenditure (3,539 (3,379 (4,007
Business acquisitions, net of cash acqu (36€) (483) (11€)
Proceeds from asset dispositions and ¢ 18 58 74
Cash used in investing activiti (3,55)) (3,807%) (4,049)
Financing activities
Purchase of treasury stock, including A< (4,857%) (24¢€) (197)
Principal payments on de (259 (417) (29
Proceeds from debt issuant 1,997 1,73¢ —
Dividends paic (187) (177 (164
Other 582 28¢ 14¢€
Cash (used in) provided by financing activit (2,719 1,18¢ (249
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ (©)] 5 (27)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis $(2,009 $2,07¢ $ 51f

Cash Provided by Operating Activiti€gash flows from operating activities decreased $#2Hon in 2014 primarily due to voluntary
employee severance program payouts, an incomefiamd received in the prior year, higher incomepayments and higher pension
contributions, partially offset by higher net incenCash flows from operating activities decreaskti7dmillion in 2013 primarily due to
decreased earnings and higher tax, variable corapfensand voluntary buyout payments, partially effsy a decrease in pension
contributions. We made contributions of $660 milliw our tax-qualified U.S. domestic pension plghsS. Pension Plans@uring 2014 an
contributions of $560 million in 2013 and $722 roifl in 2012.

Cash Used in Investing Activitie€apital expenditures were 5% higher in 2014 llgrdae to increased spending at FedEx Ground adé ¥
Express and 16% lower in 2013 largely due to dee@apending at FedEx Express. See “Capital Resguiar a discussion of capital
expenditures during 2014 and 2013.
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Financing Activities. The following table provides a summary of ourisennsecured debt issuances for the periods eb@gd31 (in
millions):

2014 2013
Senior unsecured debt issu
Interest Rate ! Issuance Da Maturity
4.00 January 201 2024 $ 75C $ —
4.90 January 201 2034 50C —
5.10 January 201. 2044 75C —
2.70 April 2013 2023 — 25C
4.10 April 2013 2043 — 50C
2.625 July 2012 2023 — 50C
3.875 July 2012 2043 — 50C
Total senior unsecured debt issi $ 2,00( $ 1,75

The senior unsecured debt was issued under slgitnaion statements current at the time of isseamterest on these notes is paid
semiannually. We utilized the net proceeds of th42debt issuance to finance the ASR agreemenlis@sssed below. We utilized the net
proceeds of the 2013 debt issuances for workingatagmd general corporate purposes.

During 2014, we repaid our $250 million 7.38% senminsecured notes that matured on January 15, Plrthg 2013, we made principal
payments of $116 million related to capital leabbgations and repaid our $300 million 9.65% unsedunotes that matured in June 2012
using cash from operations.

In October 2013, our Board of Directors authoriaatew share repurchase program of up to 32 milimres of common stock. These shares
augmented the 10.2 million shares remaining orpoevious share repurchase authorizations at Mag@ll3. Shares may be purchased from
time to time in the open market or in privately oggted transactions. Repurchases are made abthgany’s discretion, based on ongoing
assessments of the capital needs of the busimessyarket price of its common stock and generaketaronditions. No time limit was set for
the completion of the repurchase program, and thgram may be suspended or discontinued at any time

In January 2014, we entered into ASR agreementstwit banks to repurchase an aggregate of $2i6rbdf our common stock. During the
third quarter of 2014, 11.4 million shares werdiatly delivered to us based on then-current mapkigtes. During the fourth quarter of 2014,
the ASR transactions were completed and we recé&vedillion additional shares. The final numbesbéres delivered upon settlement of
each ASR agreement was determined based on a digoaihe volume-weighted average price of ourlstiuring the term of the respective
transaction. In total, 14.8 million shares werawgkd under the ASR agreements. See Note 1 afdb@mpanying consolidated financial
statements for additional information regarding A8R agreements. In addition, in 2014 and 2013reperchased shares of our common
stock in the open market.
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The following table provides a summary of our comnstock share repurchases for the periods ended3égollars in millions, except per

share amounts):

Common stock purchases

2014 2013
Total
Total Average Total Number o  Average Total
Number ol  Price Pair  Purchas Price Paii  Purchas
Shares Shares
Purchasel per Shar Price Purchase per Shar Price
36,84559 $ 131.8: $ 4,857 2,700,000 $ 90.9¢ $ 24¢€

As of May 31, 2014, 5.3 million shares remainedearrmalr share repurchase authorizations.

CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our operations are capital intensive, characterigesignificant investments in aircraft, vehiclesghnology, facilities, and package-handling
and sort equipment. The amount and timing of chaiditions depend on various factors, including-existing contractual commitments,
anticipated volume growth, domestic and internati@tonomic conditions, new or enhanced servicasgigphical expansion of services,
availability of satisfactory financing and actioofsregulatory authorities.

The following table compares capital expenditurggasset category and reportable segment for ths yealed May 31 (in millions):

Aircraft and related equipment
Facilities and sort equipme

Vehicles

Information and technology investmel
Other equipmer

Total capital expenditure

FedEx Express segme
FedEx Ground segme
FedEx Freight segme
FedEx Services segme
Other

Total capital expenditure

Percent

Change
2014, 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012
$ 1,327 $1,19C $ 1,87¢ 12 (37)
81¢ 727 63¢ 13 14
784 734 725 7 2
40z 452 541 (11 (16
20C 272 23C (26) 18
$ 3,531 $ 3,37F $ 4,007 5 (16
$ 199/ $ 2,067 $ 2,68¢ 4) (23
85( 55k 53¢ 53 4
32t 32¢ 34C — 4
365 424 437 (14 ©)]
1 3 5 NM NM
$ 3,53 $ 3,37 $ 4,00 5 (16

Capital expenditures during 2014 were higher tihanptrior year primarily due to increased spendorgbrt facility expansion and equipment
at FedEx Ground and aircraft and related equipraeRedEXx Express. Aircraft and related equipmepeasitures at FedEx Express during
2014 included the delivery of 17 Boeing 757 (“B7p&ircraft, four Boeing 767-300 Freighter (“B767Hiycraft and two Boeing 777
Freighter (“B777F") aircraft, as well as the modéiion of certain aircraft before being placed iseovice. Capital expenditures during 2013
were lower than the prior year primarily due tor@@sed spending for aircraft and related equipraeRedEx Express. Aircraft and aircraft-
related equipment purchases at FedEx Express d2@ibhg included the delivery of 16 B757s to be miedifor cargo transport and four

B777Fs.
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LIQUIDITY OUTLOOK

We believe that our cash and cash equivalents,hitbialed $2.9 billion at May 31, 2014, cash flowrh operations and available financing
sources will be adequate to meet our liquidity se@ttluding working capital, capital expendituegjuirements and debt payment obligatir
Our cash and cash equivalents balance at May 34, in@ludes $471 million of cash in offshore juiiibns associated with our permanent
reinvestment strategy. We do not believe thatrhkefinite reinvestment of these funds offshore iimgpaur ability to meet our U.S. domestic
debt or working capital obligations.

Our capital expenditures are expected to be $4i@rbin 2015. We anticipate that our cash flowrfreperations will be sufficient to fund our
increased capital expenditures in 2015, which widlude spending for aircraft modernization andleeting at FedEx Express and network
expansion at FedEx Ground. We expect approximd@dy of capital expenditures in 2015 to be desighfdegrowth initiatives,
predominantly at FedEx Ground, and 60% dedicatedaimtaining our existing operations. Our expedagital expenditures for 2015 inclt
$1.6 billion in investments for delivery of aircta@ind progress payments toward future aircrafvdeks at FedEx Express.

We have several aircraft modernization programsnmdy that are supported by the purchase of B7B767F and B757 aircraft. These
aircraft are significantly more fuel-efficient penit than the aircraft types previously utilizeddahese expenditures are necessary to achieve
significant long-term operating savings and toaeplolder aircraft. Our ability to delay the timiogthese aircraft-related expenditures is
limited without incurring significant costs to mégiexisting purchase agreements. During 2014, Fdedpress entered into an agreement to
purchase two B767F aircraft, the delivery of whigh occur in 2016 and 2017. FedEx Express als@atetl 11 existing options to purchase
B777F aircraft by two years. Additionally in 20Mle entered into supplemental agreements to purd@&B&57 option aircraft pursuant to
agreement originally entered into in March 2018, dlelivery of which began in 2014 and will contirtheough 2015.

We have a shelf registration statement filed wlith $ecurities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)daHatvs us to sell, in one or more future
offerings, any combination of our unsecured debtisges and common stock.

A $1 billion revolving credit facility is availabl® finance our operations and other cash flow seed to provide support for the issuance of
commercial paper. The revolving credit agreemeptres in March 2018. The agreement contains a éiladusovenant, which requires us to
maintain a leverage ratio of adjusted debt (lomgitdebt, including the current portion of such delits six times our last four fiscal quarters’
rentals and landing fees) to capital (adjusted galst total common stockholders’ investment) thagginot exceed 70%. Our leverage ratio of
adjusted debt to capital was 57% at May 31, 2014 balieve the leverage ratio covenant is the oiglyificant restrictive covenant in our
revolving credit agreement. Our revolving creditesgment contains other customary covenants thabtgondividually or in the aggregate,
materially restrict the conduct of our business. &kkein compliance with the leverage ratio coverett all other covenants of our revolving
credit agreement and do not expect the covenartfdot our operations, including our liquidity @pected funding needs. As of May 31,
2014, no commercial paper was outstanding, andritiee $1 billion under the revolving credit fatylwas available for future borrowings.

For 2015, we anticipate making required contrilngitotaling approximately $580 million to our URension Plans. Our U.S. Pension Plans
have ample funds to meet expected benefit payments.

Standard & Poor’s has assigned us a senior unskdet# credit rating of BBB and commercial papéingaof A-2 and a ratings outlook of
“stable.” Moody’s Investors Service has assigned asnior unsecured debt credit rating of Baalcantmercial paper rating of P-2 and a
ratings outlook of “stable.” If our credit ratingsop, our interest expense may increase. If oumgernial paper ratings drop below current
levels, we may have difficulty utilizing the commoi paper market. If our senior unsecured deltitratings drop below investment grade,
our access to financing may become limited.
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CONTRACTUAL CASH OBLIGATIONS AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The following table sets forth a summary of ourtcactual cash obligations as of May 31, 2014. Qedéthese contractual obligations are
reflected in our balance sheet, while others agelaled as future obligations under accountingciplies generally accepted in the United
States. Except for the current portion of inteestong-term debt, this table does not include am®already recorded in our balance sheet as
current liabilities at May 31, 2014. We have certaontingent liabilities that are not accrued im balance sheet in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in theééhBtates. These contingent liabilities are ncuited in the table below. We have other
long-term liabilities reflected in our balance shéscluding deferred income taxes, qualified andgualified pension and postretirement
healthcare plan liabilities and other self-insumaccruals. The payment obligations associatedthiétbe liabilities are not reflected in the
table below due to the absence of scheduled miatur&ccordingly, this table is not meant to reprasa forecast of our total cash
expenditures for any of the periods presented.

Payments Due by Fiscal Year (Undiscounted)
(in millions)
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafte Total

Operating activities

Operating lease $2,06: $1,90: $1,93. $1,45F $1,22¢ $ 6,81 $15,39:
Non-capital purchase obligations and ot 43¢ 274 122 58 19 101 1,00¢
Interest on lon-term deb: 232 231 231 231 231 3,92¢ 5,081
Contributions to our U.S. Pension Pl: 58( — — — — — 58C
Investing activities
Aircraft and aircra-related capital commitmen 1,147 1,24¢ 95€ 1,36¢ 85¢ 4,49¢ 10,07¢
Other capital purchase obligatic 18t — — — — — 18t
Financing activities
Debt — — — — 75C 3,99( 4,74(
Total $4,63¢ $3,65¢ $3,24: $3,112 $3,087 $19,32¢( $ 37,06/

Open purchase orders that are cancelable are nsidesed unconditional purchase obligations faafitial reporting purposes and are not
included in the table above. Such purchase ordezs tepresent authorizations to purchase rattzer tinding agreements. See Note 17 o
accompanying consolidated financial statementsnfare information.

Operating Activities

In accordance with accounting principles generatlgepted in the United States, future contractagh@nts under our operating leases
(totaling $15 billion on an undiscounted basis)rmoerecorded in our balance sheet. Credit ratgeneies routinely use information
concerning minimum lease payments required foroparating leases to calculate our debt capacitg.arhounts reflected in the table above
for operating leases represent future minimum Ipagenents under noncancelable operating leasesifpaily aircraft and facilities) with an
initial or remaining term in excess of one yeakaty 31, 2014. Under the proposed new lease acewunties, the majority of these leases
will be required to be recognized on the balan@eshs a liability with an offsetting right-to-uasset. In the past, we financed a significant
portion of our aircraft needs (and certain otherigapent needs) using operating leases (a typeféb&ance sheet financing”). At the time
that the decision to lease was made, we deterntitzeédhese operating leases would provide econberiefits favorable to ownership with
respect to market values, liquidity or after-tagltélows.

The amounts reflected for purchase obligationsasgmt noncancelable agreements to purchase gosedsvares that are not capital-
related. Such contracts include those for prinéind advertising and promotions contracts.
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Included in the table above within the caption téadi “Non-capital purchase obligations and otherbiur estimate of the current portion of the
liability ($1 million) for uncertain tax position¥Ve cannot reasonably estimate the timing of theg@rm payments or the amount by which
the liability will increase or decrease over tirttegrefore, the long-term portion of the liabili§37 million) is excluded from the table. See
Note 12 of the accompanying consolidated finarstaiements for further informatio

The amounts reflected in the table above for istena long-term debt represent future interest gatsdue on our long-term debt, all of
which are fixed rate.

We had $396 million in deposits and progress paysas of May 31, 2014 on aircraft purchases anergitanned aircraft-related
transactions.

Investing Activitie:

The amounts reflected in the table above for chpitechase obligations represent noncancelableeaggpts to purchase capital-related
equipment. Such contracts include those for cegaichases of aircraft, aircraft modifications, icéds, facilities, computers and other
equipment. Commitments to purchase aircraft ingragsr configuration do not include the attendastcto modify these aircraft for cargo
transport unless we have entered into noncancetabfenitments to modify such aircraft.

Financing Activities

We have certain financial instruments represerpintgntial commitments, not reflected in the talidee, that were incurred in the normal
course of business to support our operations, diatustandby letters of credit and surety bondgsehinstruments are required under certain
U.S. self-insurance programs and are also usdtindrmal course of international operations. Tingeulying liabilities insured by these
instruments are reflected in our balance sheetsrevéipplicable. Therefore, no additional liabilgyeflected for the letters of credit and su
bonds themselves.

The amounts reflected in the table above for largitdebt represent future scheduled payments oloogtterm debt. In 2015, we have no
scheduled debt payments.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in accacdamith accounting principles generally acceptetheUnited States requires management
to make significant judgments and estimates to ldgvemounts reflected and disclosed in the findrst&ements. In many cases, there are
alternative policies or estimation techniques tmatld be used. We maintain a thorough processiewethe application of our accounting
policies and to evaluate the appropriateness ofrdney estimates that are required to prepare tlam€ial statements of a complex, global
corporation. However, even under optimal circumstan estimates routinely require adjustment basaethanging circumstances and new or
better information.

The estimates discussed below include the finasta@ément elements that are either the most judtaher involve the selection or
application of alternative accounting policies and material to our financial statements. Managérmas discussed the development and
selection of these critical accounting estimateh wWie Audit Committee of our Board of Directorgdamith our independent registered public
accounting firm.
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RETIREMENT PLANS

OVERVIEW. We sponsor programs that provide retirement Iisrief most of our employees. These programs irctiefined benefit pensi
plans, defined contribution plans and postretirerhealthcare plans and are described in Note 1#8echiccompanying consolidated financial
statements.

The current rules for pension accounting are coraltal can produce tremendous volatility in our ltss€inancial condition and

liquidity. Our pension expense is primarily a fuoaotof the value of our plan assets and the disc@ta used to measure our pension
liabilities at a single point in time. These fastare significantly influenced by the financial kets, which in recent years have experienced
substantial volatility.

In addition to expense volatility, we are requitedecord year-end adjustments to our balance simeah annual basis for the net funded
status of our pension and postretirement healthwares. These adjustments have fluctuated significaver the past several years and like
our pension expense, are a result of the discat@itand value of our plan assets at the measuretaentThe funded status of our plans also
impacts our liquidity, and the cash funding rulpgmte under a completely different set of asswomptand standards than those used for
financial reporting purposes. As a result, our alctash funding requirements can differ materifiiyn our reported funded status.

Our retirement plans cost is included in the “Sakand Employee Benefits” caption in our consaédancome statements. A summary of
our retirement plans costs over the past threesyisas follows (in millions):

2014 2013 2012

U.S. domestic and international pension plans $484 $ 67¢ $ 524
U.S. domestic and international defined contributans 363 354 33¢
U.S. domestic and international postretirementtheate plan: 78 78 7C

$ 928 $ 111 $ 93

Total retirement plans cost decreased $186 milid2014 due to the favorable impact of higher distcates at our May 31, 2013
measurement date and higher returns on plan assttd retirement plans cost increased $179 milim2013 driven by lower discount rates
used to measure our benefit obligations at our Bgy2012 measurement date.

Amounts recognized in our balance sheet refleciapshot of the state of our long-term pension liigds at the plan measurement date and
the effect of year-end accounting on plan assetmulative unrecognized actuarial losses were $li6rbthrough May 31, 2014, compared
to $7.0 billion through May 31, 2013. These unretpgd losses reflect changes in the discount extdther assumptions and differences
between expected and actual asset returns, whedhesing amortized over future periods. These umg@zed losses may be recovered in
future periods through actuarial gains. Howevelesmthey are below a corridor amount, these ugrézed actuarial losses are required t
amortized and recognized in future periods. Our. Behsion Plans expense includes amortizationesktiactuarial losses of $363 million in
2014, $496 million in 2013 and $291 million in 2012

PENSION COSTThe accounting for pension and postretirement heaitte plans includes numerous assumptions, ingutie discount rate
and expected long-term investment returns on paerta. These assumptions most significantly impaict).S. Pension Plans.
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Following is a discussion of the key estimates wes@er in determining our U.S. Pension Plans cost:

DISCOUNT RATE. This is the interest rate used to discount thienased future benefit payments that have beeruaccto date (the project
benefit obligation, or “PBQ”) to their net presematue and to determine the succeeding year's peresipense. The discount rate is
determined each year at the plan measurementAldicrease in the discount rate increases pensgjense. The discount rate affects the
PBO and pension expense based on the measurenesitatadescribed below.

Measurement Amounts Determined by Measurement Date and
Date Discount Rate Discount Rate
5/31/2014 4.60% 2014 PBO and 2015 exper
5/31/2013 4.79 2013 PBO and 2014 exper
5/31/2012 4.44 2012 PBO and 2013 exper
5/31/2011 5.76 2011 PBO and 2012 exper

We determine the discount rate with the assistaheetuaries, who calculate the yield on a theoca¢portfolio of highgrade corporate boni
(rated Aa or better). In developing this theordtmartfolio, we select bonds that match cash fleavbenefit payments, limit our concentration
by industry and issuer, and apply screening cat&riensure bonds with a call feature have a lmbatility of being called. To the extent
scheduled bond proceeds exceed the estimated beafiients in a given period, the calculation agsuthose excess proceeds are reinv
at one-year forward rates.

The discount rate assumption is highly sensitivena-basis-point change in the discount rate folangest pension plan would have a $2.1
million effect on 2015 and 2014 pension expense.

At our May 31, 2014 measurement date, a 50-basig-perease in the discount rate would have des@@aur 2014 PBO by approximately
$1.5 billion and a 50-basseint decrease in the discount rate would havesaszd our 2014 PBO by approximately $1.7 billiaonk2010 t
2014, the discount rate used to value our liabgitias declined by over 170 basis points, whicte&sed the valuation of our liabilities by
over $4.6 billion.

PLAN ASSET< The estimated average rate of return on plan assat®ng-term, forward-looking assumption thaoaaterially affects our
pension cost. It is required to be the expectearéuiong-term rate of earnings on plan assets.p@ansion plan assets are invested primarily in
publicly tradeable securities, and our pensionplasid only a minimal investment in FedEx commartktthat is entirely at the discretion of
third-party pension fund investment managers. Asqfeour strategy to manage pension costs andeisthtus volatility, we have
transitioned to a liability-driven investment sagy to better align plan assets with liabilities.

Establishing the expected future rate of investmeturn on our pension assets is a judgmental mattéch we review on an annual basis
revise as appropriate. Management considers tleniol factors in determining this assumption:

« the duration of our pension plan liabilities, whidtives the investment strategy we can employ withpension plan asse

« the types of investment classes in which we ingastpension plan assets and the expected compaamdegric return we can reasonably
expect those investment classes to earn over &

 the investment returns we can reasonably expedheastment management program to achieve in exafabg returns we could expect if
investments were made strictly in indexed fur

We assumed a 7.75% expected long-term rate ofretuour U.S. Pension Plan assets in 2014 and 8818 and 2012. The actual returns
during each of the last three fiscal years haveeded those long-term assumptions. For 2014, werkmhour expected return on plan assets
assumption for long-term returns on plan assefst®% as we refined our asset and liability managgrstrategy. In lowering this
assumption we considered our historical returnsjrouestment strategy for our plan assets, inclgdire impacts of the duration of our plan
liability and the relatively low annual draw on plassets on that investment strategy. A one-basig-phange in our expected return on plan
assets impacts our pension expense by $2.1 milliea.actual historical annual return on our U.Sidien Plan assets, calculated on a
compound geometric basis, was 7.0%, net of investmanager fees and administrative expenses, éot3hyear period ended May 31, 2014
and 6.9%, net of investment manager fees and aslimgitive expenses, for the 15-year period ended 34ayp013.

-66-



Table of Contents

Pension expense is also affected by the accouptlicy used to determine the value of plan assdtseameasurement date. We use a
calculated-value method to determine the valudaf pssets, which helps mitigate short-term vatatih market performance (both increases
and decreases) by amortizing certain actuarialsgainosses over a period no longer than four yéarsther method used in practice applies
the market value of plan assets at the measuresagstFor purposes of valuing plan assets for aténg 2015 pension expense, the
calculated value method resulted in the same \adutbe market value.

Our retirement plans costs are expected to decegameximately $215 million in 2015 as strong ratuon our pension plan assets more than
offset the negative impact of a decrease in ouwrodist rate at our May 31, 2014 measurement date.

FUNDED STATUSFollowing is information concerning the funded atabf our pension plans as of May 31 (in millions):

2014 2013

Funded Status of Plan

Projected benefit obligation (PB( $ 24,57¢ $ 22,60(
Fair value of plan asse 21,90% 19,43:
Funded status of the pla $ (2,677 $ (3,169
Cash Amounts

Cash contributions during the ye $ 7217 $ 61¢
Benefit payments during the ye $ 801 $ 58¢

FUNDING. The funding requirements for our U.S. Pension Ptargyoverned by the Pension Protection Act of 2@bich has aggressive
funding requirements in order to avoid benefit paptrestrictions that become effective if the fushdeatus determined under IRS rules falls
below 80% at the beginning of a plan year. All of &.S. Pension Plans have funded status levelgdass of 80% and our plans remain
adequately funded to provide benefits to our emggyas they come due. Additionally, current bepafitments are nominal compared to our
total plan assets (benefit payments for our U.8sa Plans for 2014 were approximately $749 milliw 3.5% of plan assets).

During 2014, we made $645 million in required ciémitions to our U.S. Pension Plans. Over the pagtral years, we have made voluntary
contributions to our U.S. Pension Plans in excésseominimum required contributions. Amounts cdmited in excess of the minimum
required can result in a credit balance for fungingposes that can be used to reduce minimum batith requirements in future years. Our
current credit balance exceeds $2.5 billion at @&ay2014. For 2015, we anticipate making requiaatributions to our U.S. Pension Plans
totaling approximately $580 million.

See Note 13 of the accompanying consolidated finhatatements for further information about ouiregnent plans.
SELF-INSURANCE ACCRUALS

We are self-insured up to certain limits for caaisociated with workers’ compensation claims, Jelaccidents and general business
liabilities, and benefits paid under employee heate and long-term disability programs. Our resgmre established for estimates of loss on
reported claims, including incurred-but-not-repdrtdaims. Self-insurance accruals reflected inlmlance sheet were $1.8 billion at May 31,
2014 and $1.7 billion at May 31, 2013. Approximgtél % of these accruals were classified as culiaitities.
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Our self-insurance accruals are primarily basetheractuarially estimated, cost of claims incutasdf the balance sheet date. These
estimates include consideration of factors suckeasrity of claims, frequency and volume of claifmsalthcare inflation, seasonality and f.
designs. Cost trends on material accruals are egdstch quarter. We self-insure up to certain ditiait vary by operating company and type
of risk. Periodically, we evaluate the level ofursnce coverage and adjust insurance levels basasgkaolerance and premium expense.
Historically, it has been infrequent that incuradaims exceeded our self-insured limits.

We believe the use of actuarial methods to accfmurthese liabilities provides a consistent anéetif’e way to measure these highly
judgmental accruals. However, the use of any esitméechnique in this area is inherently sensigixeen the magnitude of claims involv

and the length of time until the ultimate costim®Wwn. We believe our recorded obligations for thegeenses are consistently measured on a
conservative basis. Nevertheless, changes in loaadtitosts, accident frequency and severity, insgraetention levels and other factors can
materially affect the estimates for these liatabti

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

USEFUL LIVES AND SALVAGE VALUESuUr business is capital intensive, with approxehe59% of our total assets invested in our
transportation and information systems infrastrresu

The depreciation or amortization of our capitakets®ver their estimated useful lives, and therdetetion of any salvage values, requires
management to make judgments about future eventauBe we utilize many of our capital assets @latively long periods (the majority of
aircraft costs are depreciated over 15 to 30 yeaesperiodically evaluate whether adjustmentsuioestimated service lives or salvage va
are necessary to ensure these estimates propeidh the economic use of the asset. This evaluatiay result in changes in the estimated
lives and residual values used to depreciate oaradi and other equipment. For our aircraft, waidglly assign no residual value due to the
utilization of these assets in cargo configuratishich results in little to no value at the endtudir useful life. These estimates affect the
amount of depreciation expense recognized in @agemd, ultimately, the gain or loss on the dispokthe asset. Changes in the estimated
lives of assets will result in an increase or daseein the amount of depreciation recognized imréuperiods and could have a material im|
on our results of operations (as described belblgtorically, gains and losses on disposals of afieg equipment have not been material.
However, such amounts may differ materially infilieire due to changes in business levels, techimbgbsolescence, accident frequency,
regulatory changes and other factors beyond ouraon

In 2013, FedEx Express made the decision to acteléne retirement of 76 aircraft and related esgyto aid in our fleet modernization and
improve our global network. In 2012, we shortertezldepreciable lives for 54 aircraft and relategirees to accelerate the retirement of these
aircraft, resulting in a depreciation expense iasecof $69 million in 2013. As a result of theseederated retirements, we incurred an
additional $74 million in year-over-year accelecatiepreciation expense in 2014.

IMPAIRMENT.The FedEx Express global air and ground networkides a fleet of 650 aircraft (including approxielgt300 supplemental
aircraft) that provide delivery of packages andgiéto more than 220 countries and territoriestigh a wide range of U.S. and international
shipping services. While certain aircraft are méiti in primary geographic areas (U.S. versus iat@nal), we operate an integrated global
network, and utilize our aircraft and other modesansportation to achieve the lowest cost ofwdly while maintaining our service
commitments to our customers. Because of the iatedmature of our global network, our aircraftiaterchangeable across routes and
geographies, giving us flexibility with our fleefapning to meet changing global economic conditiand maintain and modify aircraft as
needed.

Because of the lengthy lead times for aircraft nfiacture and modifications, we must anticipate vauevels and plan our fleet requirements
years in advance, and make commitments for airbesfed on those projections. Furthermore, the graimd availability of certain us¢

aircraft types (particularly those with better fedficiency) may create limited opportunities t@aire these aircraft at favorable prices in
advance of our capacity needs. These activitie#emisks that asset capacity may exceed demanthandn impairment of our assets may
occur. Aircraft purchases (primarily aircraft ingsanger configuration) that have not been
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placed in service totaled $82 million at May 3112@&nd $129 million at May 31, 2013. We plan to ifiothese assets in the future and pl
them into operations.

The accounting test for whether an asset heldderisiimpaired involves first comparing the cargyiralue of the asset with its estimated
future undiscounted cash flows. If the cash flowsdt exceed the carrying value, the asset muatljusted to its current fair value. We
operate integrated transportation networks andyrdowmly, cash flows for most of our operating dassee assessed at a network level, not at
an individual asset level for our analysis of impent. Further, decisions about capital investmargsvaluated based on the impact to the
overall network rather than the return on an irdlal asset. We make decisions to remove certagiligad assets from service based on
projections of reduced capacity needs or lower atpeg costs of newer aircraft types, and thosesitats may result in an impairment charge.
Assets held for disposal must be adjusted to #mimated fair values less costs to sell when #uistbn is made to dispose of the asset and
certain other criteria are met. The fair value dateations for such aircraft may require managenestitnates, as there may not be active
markets for some of these aircraft. Such estimatesubject to revision from period to period.

In the normal management of our aircraft fleet,raugtinely idle aircraft and engines temporarily doenaintenance cycles and adjustmen
our network capacity to match seasonality and dveuatomer demand levels. Temporarily idled asaetsclassified as available-fase, anc
we continue to record depreciation expense assaokvaith these assets. These temporarily idled assetassessed for impairment on a
quarterly basis. The criteria for determining wiegthn asset has been permanently removed frontedand, as a result, impaired) include,
but are not limited to, our global economic outlasid the impact of our outlook on our current argjgeted volume levels, including
capacity needs during our peak shipping seasoasntfoduction of new fleet types or decisions éorpanently retire an aircraft fleet from
operations; or changes to planned service expaasiivities. At May 31, 2014, we had 10 aircrafnforarily idled, one of which was fully
depreciated. These aircraft have been idled f@vanage of three months and are expected to refuavenue service.

In 2013, we retired from service two Airbus A310028ircraft and four related engines, three Airb34@300 aircraft and two related engil
and five Boeing MD10-10 aircraft and 15 relatedirag, to align with the plans of FedEx Express tmernize its aircraft fleet and improve
its global network. As a consequence of this denish noncash impairment charge of $100 millior8(8#6llion, net of tax, or $0.20 per
diluted share) was recorded in 2013. All of thaseraft were temporarily idled and not in reveneevice.

LEASES. We utilize operating leases to finance certainwfaircraft, facilities and equipment. Such agements typically shift the risk of
loss on the residual value of the assets at thektiek lease period to the lessor. As disclosé@ontractual Cash Obligationsind Note 7 o
the accompanying consolidated financial statementslay 31, 2014 we had approximately $15 billion &n undiscounted basis) of future
commitments for payments under operating leases wiighted-average remaining lease term of allaipey leases outstanding at May 31,
2014 was approximately six years. The future commaiits for operating leases are not reflected ebditly in our balance sheet under
current U.S. accounting rules.

The determination of whether a lease is accourtedd a capital lease or an operating lease reguiamagement to make estimates primarily
about the fair value of the asset and its estimatesiomic useful life. In addition, our evaluatiooludes ensuring we properly account for
build-to-suit lease arrangements and making judgsngmout whether various forms of lessee involverdaring the construction period

make the lessee an agent for the owner-lessan sulistance, the owner of the asset during thdromtisn period. We believe we have well-
defined and controlled processes for making theakiations, including obtaining thindarty appraisals for material transactions to assisn
making these evaluations.

Under a proposed revision to the accounting statsdiar leases, we would be required to record aatamd a liability for our outstanding
operating leases similar to the current accourfingapital leases. Notably, the amount we recorithé future would be the net present value
of our future lease commitments at the date of idopThis proposed guidance has not been issugtham been subjected to numerous
revisions, most recently in May 2013. While we ao¢ required to quantify the effects of the
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proposed rule changes until they are finalizedpeleeve that a majority of our operating leasegdtibns reflected in the contractual cash
obligations table would be required to be refleétedur balance sheet were the proposed rules &mlbpted. Furthermore, our existing
financing agreements and the rating agencies tadti@e our creditworthiness already take our dpegdeases into account.

GOODWILL. As of May 31, 2014, we had $2.8 billion of recetddgoodwill from our business acquisitions, repnésg the excess of the
purchase price over the fair value of the net asgethave acquired. Several factors give rise twlgidl in our acquisitions, such as the
expected benefit from synergies of the combinatiod the existing workforce of the acquired business

In our evaluation of goodwill impairment, we perfoa qualitative assessment that requires managguatgment and the use of estimates to
determine if it is more likely than not that thérfealue of a reporting unit is less than its cargyamount. If the qualitative assessment is not
conclusive, we proceed to a two-step process tgtexiwill for impairment, including comparing thar value of the reporting unit to its
carrying value (including attributable goodwill)aiF value is estimated using standard valuatiorhodlogies (principally the income or
market approach) incorporating market participamsiderations and management’s assumptions onue\g@owth rates, operating margins,
discount rates and expected capital expenditusnites used by management can significantly &tffiecoutcome of the impairment test.
Changes in forecasted operating results and ofisemaptions could materially affect these estimats perform our annual impairment tests
in the fourth quarter unless circumstances indittegeneed to accelerate the timing of the tests.

Our reporting units with significant recorded godilimclude FedEx Express, FedEx Freight and Fe@ffice (reported in the FedEx
Services segment). We evaluated these reporting duaiing the fourth quarters of 2014 and 2013. @$tenated fair value of each of these
reporting units exceeded their carrying valuestih®and 2013, and we do not believe that any afetheporting units were at risk as of
May 31, 2014.

CONTINGENCIES

We are subject to various loss contingencies, diolyitax proceedings and litigation, in connectigith our operations. Contingent liabilities
are difficult to measure, as their measurementligest to multiple factors that are not easily jeeatl or projected. Further, additional
complexity in measuring these liabilities ariseg tluthe various jurisdictions in which these nratccur, which makes our ability to predict
their outcome highly uncertain. Moreover, differantounting rules must be employed to accounthiesé items based on the nature of the
contingency. Accordingly, significant managemenlgment is required to assess these matters andke determinations about the
measurement of a liability, if any. Our materiahging loss contingencies are described in Notef 1Beoaccompanying consolidated finan
statements. In the opinion of management, the agtgdiability, if any, of individual matters oraups of matters not specifically describe:
Note 18 is not expected to be material to our fof@rposition, results of operations or cash flowse following describes our methods ¢
associated processes for evaluating these matters.

TAX CONTINGENCIESWe are subject to income and operating tax rofidse U.S., its states and municipalities, anthefforeign
jurisdictions in which we operate. Significant judgnt is required in determining income tax prowvisioas well as deferred tax asset

liability balances and related deferred tax valrallowances, if necessary, due to the complefithese rules and their interaction with one
another. We account for income taxes by recordot burrent taxes payable and deferred tax assdtBadilities. Our provision for income
taxes is based on domestic and international stgtitcome tax rates in the jurisdictions in whigh operate, applied to taxable income,
reduced by applicable tax credits.

Tax contingencies arise from uncertainty in theliapfion of tax rules throughout the many jurisg@ios in which we operate and are impa
by several factors, including tax audits, appddigation, changes in tax laws and other rules i interpretations, and changes in our
business. We regularly assess the potential ingdabese factors for the current and prior yeamdei@rmine the adequacy of our tax
provisions. We continually evaluate the likelihcartd amount of potential adjustments and adjustaupositions, including the current and
deferred tax liabilities, in the period in whicketfacts that give rise to a revision become kndwaddition, management considers the ad
of third parties in making conclusions regarding¢ansequences.
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We recognize liabilities for uncertain income tapsitions based on a two-step process. The firptiste evaluate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of availevidence indicates that it is more likely thart that the position will be sustained on
audit, including resolution of related appealsitigadtion processes, if any. The second step requis to estimate and measure the tax benefit
as the largest amount that is more than 50% liteelye realized upon ultimate settlement. It is rehdly difficult and subjective to estimate
such amounts, as we must determine the probabfliparious possible outcomes. We reevaluate thasertain tax positions on a quarterly
basis or when new information becomes availablednagement. These reevaluations are based onsfanttuding, but not limited to,
changes in facts or circumstances, changes iratexduccessfully settled issues under audit andanglit activity. Such a change in
recognition or measurement could result in the gaitin of a tax benefit or an increase to theteglgrovision.

We classify interest related to income tax lialabtas interest expense, and if applicable, pesadtie recognized as a component of income
tax expense. The income tax liabilities and accintatest and penalties that are due within one gkthe balance sheet date are presented a
current liabilities. The remaining portion of omcbme tax liabilities and accrued interest and fiesaare presented as noncurrent liabilities
because payment of cash is not anticipated withenyear of the balance sheet date. These noncimoemhe tax liabilities are recorded in 1
caption “Other liabilities” in the accompanying catidated balance sheets.

We account for operating taxes based on multi-skatal and foreign taxing jurisdiction rules irofe areas in which we operate. Provisions
for operating taxes are estimated based upon thése asset acquisitions and disposals, histosgahd and other variables. These provis
are consistently evaluated for reasonableness stgaimpliance and risk factors.

We measure and record operating tax contingenayalscin accordance with accounting guidance fotiogencies. As discussed below,
guidance requires an accrual of estimated loss &@ontingency, such as a tax or other legal paingeor claim, when it is probable that a
loss will be incurred and the amount of the logs lva reasonably estimated.

OTHER CONTINGENCIESBecause of the complex environment in which werafe, we are subject to other legal proceedingskims,
including those relating to general commercial erattgovernmental enforcement actions, employnaated claims and FedEx Ground’s
owner-operators. Accounting guidance for contingeshoequires an accrual of estimated loss fromnéirngency, such as a tax or other legal
proceeding or claim, when it is probable (i.e., filteire event or events are likely to occur) thidss has been incurred and the amount of the
loss can be reasonably estimated. This guidanog@dgires disclosure of a loss contingency mattesn, in management’s judgment, a
material loss is reasonably possible or probable.

During the preparation of our financial statemewts,evaluate our contingencies to determine whetlieprobable, reasonably possible or
remote that a liability has been incurred. A lasseicognized for all contingencies deemed probatdeestimable, regardless of amount. For
unresolved contingencies with potentially mategigbosure that are deemed reasonably possible, alead® whether a potential loss or range
of loss can be reasonably estimated.

Our evaluation of these matters is the result@frmprehensive process designed to ensure thatragupuecognition of a loss or disclosure
of these contingencies is made in a timely manndriavolves our legal and accounting personnelyelbas external counsel where
applicable. The process includes regular communpitsiduring each quarter and scheduled meetingtysbefore the completion of our
financial statements to evaluate any new legalgrdings and the status of existing matters.
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In determining whether a loss should be accruetdloss contingency disclosed, we evaluate, amdmgy dactors:

» the current status of each matter within the s@mkecontext of the entire lawsuit or proceeding (the lengthy and complex nature
clas«-action matters)

e the procedural status of each mat

* any opportunities to dispose of a lawsuit on itgitedefore trial (i.e., motion to dismiss or famsmary judgment)
« the amount of time remaining before a trial d

+ the status of discover

» the status of settlement, arbitration or mediaficoceedings; an

« our judgment regarding the likelihood of successrfp or at trial.

In reaching our conclusions with respect to accofia loss or loss contingency disclosure, we takelistic view of each matter based on
these factors and the information available piiathe issuance of our financial statements. Unicaytavith respect to an individual factor or
combination of these factors may impact our densi®lated to accrual or disclosure of a loss ogeticy, including a conclusion that we are
unable to establish an estimate of possible lossmeaningful range of possible loss. We updatedmatosures to reflect our most current
understanding of the contingencies at the timessed our financial statements. However, eventsariag that were not anticipated and the
outcome of a contingency may result in a loss tthasdiffers materially from our previously estited liability or range of possible loss.

Despite the inherent complexity in the accounting disclosure of contingencies, we believe thatpsacesses are robust and thorough and
provide a consistent framework for management aiuating the potential outcome of contingenciespimper accounting recognition and
disclosure.

RISK FACTORS
Our financial and operating results are subjechaémy risks and uncertainties, as described below.

We are directly affected by the state of the economy. While macro-economic risks apply to most companigsare particularly vulnerable.
The transportation industry is highly cyclical aegpecially susceptible to trends in economic agti@ur primary business is to transport
goods, so our business levels are directly tigtiéqurchase and production of goods — key maocoo@nic measurements. When
individuals and companies purchase and producerfgaals, we transport fewer goods, and as comparjgnd the number of distribution
centers and move manufacturing closer to consuragkets, we transport goods shorter distances.ditiad, we have a relatively high fixed-
cost structure, which is difficult to quickly adjus match shifting volume levels. Moreover, asagatinue to grow our international busine
we are increasingly affected by the health of thib@ economy and the typically more volatile ecomis of emerging markets. In 2014, we
saw a continued customer preference for slowes,destly shipping services — particularly for imational shipments — which had a
negative impact on profitability at FedEx Express.

Our businesses depend on our strong reputation and the value of the FedEx brand. The FedEx brand name symbolizes high-quality servic
reliability and speed. FedEx is one of the mostalyidecognized, trusted and respected brands iwdiiel, and the FedEx brand is one of our
most important and valuable assets. In additionhawxe a strong reputation among customers andethergl public for high standards of
social and environmental responsibility and corppgovernance and ethics. The FedEx brand namewarzbrporate reputation are powel
sales and marketing tools, and we devote significesources to promoting and protecting them. Aslv@ublicity (whether or not justified)
relating to activities by our employees, contragtor agents, such as customer service mishapsieompliance with laws, could tarnish our
reputation and reduce the value of our brand. \ttighincrease in the use of social media outleth ascYouTube and Twitter, adverse
publicity can be disseminated quickly and broadigking it increasingly difficult for us to defendainst. Damage to our reputation and loss
of brand equity could reduce demand for our sesvar®d thus have an adverse effect on our finanoradition, liquidity and results of
operations, as well as require additional resout@esbuild our reputation and restore the valuewfbrand.
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We rely heavily on information and technology to operate our transportation and business networks, and any disruption to our technology
infrastructure or the I nternet could harm our operations and our reputation among customers. Our ability to attract and retain customers
and to compete effectively depends in part uporstphistication and reliability of our technologgtwork, including our ability to provide
features of service that are important to our qusts. External and internal risks, such as malwarde anomalies, “Acts of God,” attempts
to penetrate our networks, transitional challerigesigrating operating company functionality to dtedEx enterprise automation platform,
data leakage and human error, pose a direct ttoreatr products, services and data. Any disruptiotie Internet or our complex, global
technology infrastructure, including those impagtour computer systems afetlex.com could adversely impact our customer service,
volumes and revenues and result in increased cdstse types of adverse impacts could also ocdineievent the confidentiality, integrity
availability of company and customer informationsvemmpromised due to a data loss by FedEx or gettukird party. While we have
invested and continue to invest in technology Secinitiatives, information technology risk managent and disaster recovery plans, these
measures cannot fully insulate us from technolagsugtions or data loss and the resulting adveifeeteon our operations and financial
results. Additionally, the cost and operationalseguences of implementing further data or systateption measures could be significant.

Our transportation businesses are impacted by the price and availability of fuel. We must purchase large quantities of fuel to opeoat

aircraft and vehicles, and the price and availghdf fuel can be unpredictable and beyond ourrobnto date, we have been mostly
successful in mitigating over time the expense ichpéhigher fuel costs through our indexed fuetharges, as the amount of the surcharges
is closely linked to the market prices for fuelwlé are unable to maintain or increase our fuallganges because of competitive pricing
pressures or some other reason, fuel costs coultsaly impact our operating results. Even if wee anle to offset the cost of fuel with our
surcharges, high fuel surcharges could move ouomess away from our higher-yielding express s@wim our lower-yielding deferred or
ground services or even reduce customer demaralif@ervices altogether. In addition, disruptiamshie supply of fuel could have a nega
impact on our ability to operate our transportati@tworks.

Our businesses are capital intensive, and we must make capital decisions based upon projected volume levels. We make significant
investments in aircraft, vehicles, technology, @agEkhandling facilities, sort equipment, copy emept and other assets to support our
transportation and business networks. We also msigikéficant investments to rebrand, integrate amavghe companies that we acquire. The
amount and timing of capital investments dependarious factors, including our anticipated volunmmevgth. We must make commitments to
purchase or modify aircraft years before the aft@ee actually needed. We must predict volumeltesad fleet requirements and make
commitments for aircraft based on those projectidissing our projections could result in too muettoo little capacity relative to our
shipping volumes. Overcapacity could lead to adisgtositions or write-downs and undercapacity caddatively impact service levels. For
example, in 2013, we made a decision to retire feemvice certain aircraft and excess aircraft eegyand thus recorded a noncash impairi
charge of $100 million.

We face intense competition. The transportation and business services marketsath highly competitive and sensitive to price aarvice,
especially in periods of little or no macro-economiowth. Some of our competitors have more finalmeisources than we do, or they are
controlled or subsidized by foreign governmentsicWlenables them to raise capital more easily. 18 @ompete with regional transportal
providers that operate smaller and less capitehiite transportation networks. In addition, higkume package shippers are developing in-
house ground delivery capabilities, which wouldum reduce our revenues and market share. Wevbelie compete effectively with these
companies —for example, by providing more reliable service@ampensatory prices. However, an irrational pri@ngironment can limit o
ability not only to maintain or increase our pri¢gsluding our fuel surcharges in response togdguel costs), but also to maintain or grow
our market share. While we believe we compete #ffely through our current service offerings, ifraurrent competitors or potential future
competitors offer a broader range of services arenedfectively bundle their services or our curremstomers become competitors, it could
impede our ability to maintain or grow our markearse.
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If we do not effectively operate, integrate, leverage and grow acquired businesses, our financial results and reputation may suffer. Our

strategy for long-term growth, productivity and fitability depends in part on our ability to makeigent strategic acquisitions and to realize
the benefits we expect when we make those acauisitin furtherance of this strategy, over the paste years, we have acquired businesses
in Europe, Latin America and Africa. While we expear past and future acquisitions to enhance aluevproposition to customers and
improve our long-term profitability, there can be assurance that we will realize our expectatioitisizvthe time frame we have established,
if at all, or that we can continue to support thdue we allocate to these acquired businessesdimg their goodwill or other intangible

assets.

Labor organizations attempt to organize groups of our employees from time to time, and potential changesin labor laws could make it

easier for them to do so. If we are unable to continue to maintain good retethips with our employees and prevent labor degdions from
organizing groups of our employees, our operatogjccould significantly increase and our operatidiexibility could be significantly
reduced. Despite continual organizing attemptsabpt unions, other than the pilots of FedEx Exprab®f our U.S. employees have thus far
chosen not to unionize. The U.S. Congress habgipast, considered adopting changes in labor lasvgever, that would make it easier for
unions to organize units of our employees. For extanthere is always a possibility that Congresdadoemove most FedEx Express
employees from the purview of the Railway Labor A£1926, as amended (the “RLA”). For additionaatlission of the RLA, see Part I,
Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under ¢agtion “Regulation.” Such legislation could expasir customers to the type of service
disruptions that the RLA was designed to preverlibeal work stoppages in key areas that interruptitimely flow of shipments of time-
sensitive, highralue goods throughout our global network. Suchughsons could threaten our ability to provide catifively priced shippin
options and ready access to global markets. Thaasd the possibility that Congress could passrdétbor legislation that could adversely
affect our companies, such as FedEx Ground andX¥Edtght, whose employees are governed by theoNaltiabor Relations Act of 1935,
as amended (the “NLRA”). In addition, federal atats governmental agencies, such as the NatiodmdrlRelations Board, have and may
continue to take actions that could make it edsieour employees to organize under the RLA or NLR#ally, changes to federal or state
laws governing employee classification could imghetstatus of FedEx Ground’s owner-operators despendent contractors. If FedEx
Ground is compelled to convert its independentremhbrs to employees, labor organizations couldeneasily organize these individuals, our
operating costs could increase materially and wedcimcur significant capital outlays.

FedEx Ground relies on owner-operatorsto conduct its linehaul and pickup-and-delivery operations, and the status of these owner-
operators as independent contractors, rather than employees, is being challenged. FedEx Ground’s use of independent contractors Ik we
suited to the needs of the ground delivery busiaesisits customers, as evidenced by the strongtgrofithis business segment. We are
involved in numerous lawsuits and state tax andradldministrative proceedings that claim that th@gany’s owner-operators or their
drivers should be treated as our employees, rétherindependent contractors. We incur certains¢astiuding legal fees, in defending the
status of FedEx Ground’s owner-operators as indigrgrcontractors. We believe that FedEx Ground’sewperators are properly classif
as independent contractors and that FedEx Groumak ian employer of the drivers of the companydejpendent contractors. However,
adverse determinations in these matters could, grathrer things, entitle certain of our owrggrerators and their drivers to the reimburser
of certain expenses and to the benefit of wagekama-laws and result in employment and withholdiesgand benefit liability for FedEx
Ground, and could result in changes to the indeprincbntractor status of FedEx Ground’s owner-dpesaChanges to state laws governing
the definition of independent contractors coulaatspact the status of FedEx Ground’s owner-opesato

We may not be able to achieve our profit improvement goal by the end of 2016. In 2013, we announced profit improvement programs
primarily through initiatives at FedEx Express &®tlEx Services that include cost reductions, magation of our aircraft fleet,
transformation of the U.S. domestic operationsiatefnational profit improvements at FedEx Expresg] improved efficiencies and lower
costs of information technology at FedEx Servidesthis end, we retired from service 10 aircrafl aslated
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engines, and we shortened the depreciable livaa afiditional 76 aircraft and related enginesnieféort to modernize our aircraft fleet and
improve our global network. Additionally, during 20, we completed a voluntary buyout program offgigash buyouts to eligible U.8asec
employees. We will continue to work towards ourlgfannual profitability improvement at FedEx Egps of $1.6 billion by the end of
2016. Our ability to achieve this objective is degent on a number of factors, including the healtthe global economy and future customer
demand, particularly for our priority services light of these factors, we may not be able to aghi@ur goal.

The transportation infrastructure continuesto be a target of terrorist activities. Because transportation assets continue to be et tafrg
terrorist activities, governments around the warlel adopting or are considering adopting stricéeusty requirements that will increase
operating costs and potentially slow service fagibesses, including those in the transportationstgt. For example, the U.S. Transportation
Security Administration continues to require FedByress to comply with a Full All-Cargo Aircraft ©gmator Standard Security Plan, which
contains evolving and strict security requirememtgese requirements are not static, but changedeally as the result of regulatory and
legislative requirements, imposing additional séguosts and creating a level of uncertainty for operations. Thus, it is reasonably pos:
that these rules or other future security requirgsieould impose material costs on us. Moreovastrarist attack directed at FedEx or other
aspects of the transportation infrastructure colisdupt our operations and adversely impact denfiandur services.

The regulatory environment for global aviation or other transportation rights may impact our operations. Our extensive air network is
critical to our success. Our right to serve forgigimts is subject to the approval of the Departneé ransportation and generally requires a
bilateral agreement between the United States@m®ihjh governments. In addition, we must obtainpemission of foreign governments to
provide specific flights and services. Our operadioutside of the United States, such as FedExeSgis growing international domestic
operations, are also subject to current and patlerajulations, including certain postal regulasi@amd licensing requirements, that restrict,
make difficult and sometimes prohibit, the abilitfiforeign-owned companies such as FedEx Expressrtipete effectively in parts of the
international domestic transportation and logistiagket. Regulatory actions affecting global awator transportation rights or a failure to
obtain or maintain aviation or other transportatiights in important international markets coulcpaar our ability to operate our networks.

We may be affected by global climate change or by legal, regulatory or market responses to such change. Concern over climate change,
including the impact of global warming, has ledignificant U.S. and international legislative aedulatory efforts to limit greenhouse gas
(“GHG") emissions, including our aircraft and dieeagine emissions. For example, during 2009, thefiean Commission approved the
extension of the European Union Emissions TradiciieBie (“ETS”) for GHG emissions, to the airlinetstty. Under this decision, all
FedEx Express flights that are wholly within ther&aean Union are now covered by the ETS requiresnanid each year we are required to
submit emission allowances in an amount equald¢a#rbon dioxide emissions from such flights. Idi&dn, the U.S. Congress has, in the
past, considered bills that would regulate GHG siniss, and some form of federal climate changeslatibn is possible in the future.
Increased regulation regarding GHG emissions, éslheaircraft or diesel engine emissions, coulghose substantial costs on us, especially
at FedEx Express. These costs include an incraabe icost of the fuel and other energy we purchaskcapital costs associated with
updating or replacing our aircraft or vehicles patumely. Until the timing, scope and extent of suefjulation becomes known, we cannot
predict its effect on our cost structure or ourragiag results. It is reasonably possible, howethext it could impose material costs on us.
Moreover, even without such regulation, increasedraness and any adverse publicity in the globaketplace about the GHGs emitted by
companies in the airline and transportation indestcould harm our reputation and reduce custormeradd for our services, especially our
air express services. Finally, given the broadglotal scope of our operations and our susceqilidi global macro-economic trends, we are
particularly vulnerable to the physical risks dfrchte change that could affect all of humankinahsas shifts in weather patterns and world
ecosystems.
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A localized disaster in a key geography could adversely impact our business. While we operate several integrated networks wstets
distributed throughout the world, there are conegiuns of key assets within our networks thateaqgosed to localized risks from natural or
manmade disasters such as tornados, floods, eakibsjor terrorist attacks. The loss of a key locesuch as our Memphis super hub or one
of our information technology centers could causeaificant disruption to our operations and causéo incur significant costs to reestah
or relocate these functions. Moreover, resultingneenic dislocations, including supply chain and filisruptions, could adversely impact
demand for our services.

Our business may be adver sely impacted by disruptions or modificationsin service by the USPS. The USPS is a significant customer and
vendor of FedEx, and thus, disruptions or modifa@# in services by the USPS as a consequence &f$IPS’s current financial difficulties
or any resulting structural changes to its openatimetwork, service offerings or pricing could &éan adverse effect on our operations and
financial results.

We are also subject to other risks and uncertainties that affect many other businesses, including:

 increasing costs, the volatility of costs and fumgdiequirements and other legal mandates for eraplbgnefits, especially pension and
healthcare benefit:

 the increasing costs of compliance with federaliesand foreign governmental agency mandates (imgjithe Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act and the U.K. Bribery Act) and defending againsippropriate or unjustified enforcement or othetions by such agencie

 the impact of any international conflicts on theitdd States and global economies in general, #msportation industry or us in particular,
and what effects these events will have on ourscmsthe demand for our servic

» any impacts on our businesses resulting from nawedtic or international government laws and reguta

» changes in foreign currency exchange rates, edlyeicidhe Chinese yuan, euro, Brazilian real, Bhitpound and the Canadian dollar,
which can affect our sales levels and foreign amayesales price:

» market acceptance of our new service and growtiafivies;

 any liability resulting from and the costs of dederg against class-action litigation, such as wagé-hour and discrimination and
retaliation claims, and any other legal or governtakproceedings

» the outcome of future negotiations to reach newectvVe bargaining agreements — including with timéon that represents the pilots of
FedEx Express (the current pilot contract becamenalaible in March 2013, and the parties are cugrémthegotiations)

» the impact of technology developments on our operatand on demand for our services, and our whditontinue to identify and
eliminate unnecessary information technology redmagt and complexity throughout the organizat

« governmental underinvestment in transportatiorastiucture, which could increase our costs andradiyeimpact our service levels due
traffic congestion or st-optimal routing of our vehicles and aircre

» widespread outbreak of an illness or any other camoable disease, or any other public health ¢régid

* availability of financing on terms acceptable toamsl our ability to maintain our current crediimgs, especially given the capital intensity
of our operations
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this report, including (beitlmited to) those contained in “Outlook” (inclug) segment outlooks), “Liquidity,”
“Capital Resources,” “Liquidity Outlook,” “Contragal Cash Obligations” and “Critical Accounting Eséites,” and the “Retirement Plans”
and “Contingencies” notes to the consolidated farstatements, are “forward-looking” statemenithin the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 with resp&o our financial condition, results of operaspnash flows, plans, objectives, future
performance and business. Forward-looking statesrinafude those preceded by, followed by or theluite the words “may,” “could,”
“would,” “should,” “believes,” “expects,” “anticipas,” “plans,” “estimates,” “targets,” “projectsihtends” or similar expressions. These
forward-looking statements involve risks and uraiattes. Actual results may differ materially frahose contemplated (expressed or
implied) by such forward-looking statements, beeanfs among other things, the risk factors ideatifabove and the other risks and
uncertainties you can find in our press releasdsotimer SEC filings.

As a result of these and other factors, no assareac be given as to our future results and aciriemes. Accordingly, a forward-looking
statement is neither a prediction nor a guararté@wure events or circumstances and those futueats or circumstances may not occur. '
should not place undue reliance on the forwardilmpktatements, which speak only as of the datkisfreport. We are under no obligation,
and we expressly disclaim any obligation, to updatalter any forward-looking statements, whetteeaaesult of new information, future
events or otherwise.
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting (as defined in Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchangedd934, as amended). Our internal control ovaaricial reporting includes, among other
things, defined policies and procedures for coridgand governing our business, sophisticated imé&ion systems for processing
transactions and a properly staffed, professiartatnal audit department. Mechanisms are in placadnitor the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting and actions aikeetato correct all identified deficiencies. Our gedures for financial reporting include the
active involvement of senior management, our AGQdimmittee and our staff of highly qualified finaalcand legal professionals.

Management, with the participation of our principakcutive and financial officers, assessed oeriial control over financial reporting as of
May 31, 2014, the end of our fiscal year. Managdrbared its assessment on criteria establishadeémial Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission (1992 framework) (tl@SD criteria).

Based on this assessment, management has contthad@dir internal control over financial reportiwgs effective as of May 31, 2014.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of May 31, 2014, has been additeErnst & Young LLP, the independ:t
registered public accounting firm who also auditeel Company’s consolidated financial statementaded in this Annual Report on Form
10-K. Ernst & Young LLP’s report on the Companyrisarnal control over financial reporting is incladi@ this Annual Report on Form 10-
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
FedEx Corporation

We have audited FedEx Corporation’s internal cdrver financial reporting as of May 31, 2014, lthea criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Coremibf Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway B@sion (1992 framework) (the
COSO criteria). FedEx Corporation’s managemengsponsible for maintaining effective internal cohtyver financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accomgagyManagement’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibilet to express an opinion on the company’s intezaatrol over financial reporting based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those stande
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordwar financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etina¢utihe design and operating effectiveness ofiiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we consideredssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaaesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantegeinerally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over firgad reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdegtessary to permit preparation of financakestents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeipnrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (Bjige reasonable assurance regarding preventiomely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companysats that could have a material effect on thentiizd statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, FedEx Corporation maintained, innadterial respects, effective internal control iofieancial reporting as of May 31, 2014,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated

balance sheets of FedEx Corporation as of May 314 2nd 2013, and the related consolidated statsméimcome, comprehensive income
(loss), changes in stockholders’ investment, astt fi@ws for each of the three years in the peeinded May 31, 2014 of FedEx Corporation
and our report dated July 14, 2014 expressed amalifigd opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Memphis, Tennessee
July 14, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
FedEx Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of FedEx Corporation as of May 31, 2042813, and the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehenso@ne (loss), changes in stockholders’ investment,cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended May 31, 2014. These ¢iahrtatements are the responsibility of the Camg’'s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial statenteagsed on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &dndbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on glasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptexused and significant estimates made by maregeas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of FedEx
Corporation at May 31, 2014 and 2013, and the dafaed results of its operations and its cash $lder each of the three years in the period
ended May 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. genlgratcepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), FedEx
Corporation’s internal control over financial refiog as of May 31, 2014, based on criteria estabtisin Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@imgtions of the Treadway Commission (1992 franrkjvand our report dated
July 14, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinionetbier

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Memphis, Tennessee
July 14, 2014
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FEDEX CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(IN MILLIONS)
May 31,
2014 2013
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSET¢
Cash and cash equivalel $ 2906 $ 4,915
Receivables, less allowances of $164 and ¢ 5,46( 5,04
Spare parts, supplies and fuel, less allowanc&2b2 and $20! 462 457
Deferred income taxe 522 53z
Prepaid expenses and ot 33C 328
Total current asse 9,68t 11,27-
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, AT COS
Aircraft and related equipme 15,63: 14,71¢
Package handling and ground support equipt 7,19¢ 6,452
Computer and electronic equipmi 5,16¢ 4,95¢
Vehicles 4,40( 4,08(
Facilities and othe 8,294 7,90z
40,69 38,10¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize 21,14: 19,62¢
Net property and equipme 19,55( 18,48
OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS
Goodwill 2,79( 2,75k
Other asset 1,04 1,05¢
Total other lon-term asset 3,83 3,80¢

$ 33,07C $ 33,56

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FEDEX CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

May 31,
2014 2013
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' INVESTMENT
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current portion of lon-term deb $ 1 $ 251
Accrued salaries and employee bene 1,27 1,68¢
Accounts payabl 1,971 1,87¢
Accrued expense 2,062 1,932
Total current liabilities 5,31 5,75(
LONG-TERM DEBT, LESS CURRENT PORTIO 4,73¢€ 2,73¢
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Deferred income taxe 2,11« 1,652
Pension, postretirement healthcare and other har@fjations 3,48¢ 3,91¢
Selfinsurance accrua 1,03¢ 987
Deferred lease obligatio! 75€ 77¢
Deferred gains, principally related to aircraftisactions 20¢€ 227
Other liabilities 14t 12C
Total other lon-term liabilities 7,74f 7,68(
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
COMMON STOCKHOLDERY INVESTMENT
Common stock, $0.10 par value; 800 million share¢baized; 318 million shares issued as of May21l.4
and 201z 32 32
Additional paic-in capital 2,64 2,66¢
Retained earning 20,42¢ 18,51¢
Accumulated other comprehensive | (3,699 (3,820
Treasury stock, at co (4,137%) (D
Total common stockholde’ investmen 15,27: 17,39¢

$ 33,07 $ 33,56

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

REVENUES

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and employee bene
Purchased transportati
Rentals and landing fe:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Fuel
Maintenance and repai
Business realignment, impairment and other che
Other

OPERATING INCOME

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Interest expens
Interest incom:
Other, ne

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

NET INCOME

BASIC EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARI
DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARI

FEDEX CORPORATION

Years ended May 3.

2014 2013 2012
$ 4556 $ 44,28  $ 42,68
16,55t 16,57( 16,00¢
8,011 7,27: 6,33
2,62: 2,521 2,48
2,58 2,38¢ 2,11
4,557 4,74¢ 4,95¢
1,862 1,90¢ 1,98
_ 66( 134
5,927 5,67 5,39(
42,12 41,73 39,49
3,44¢ 2,551 3,18¢
(160) (82) (52)
18 21 13

(195 (39 (6)
(157) (96) (45)
3,28¢ 2,45¢ 3,141
1,19, 894 1,10¢

$ 2,097 $ 1561 $ 2,03
$ 682 $ 495 $ 6.4/
$ 675 $ 491 $ 6.4]

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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FEDEX CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)

(IN MILLIONS)
Years Ended May 3:
2014 2013 2012
NET INCOME $ 209 $ 156 $ 2,03
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS
Foreign currency translation adjustments, netxbenefit of $1, $12 and $: (25) 41 (95)
Amortization of unrealized pension actuarial gdlosses) and other, net of tax expense of $104 and
$677 in 2014 and 2013 and tax benefit of $1,3620ih2 151 1,097 (2,309)
12¢€ 1,13:¢ (2,409
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS $222: $269 $ (37)

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottbeasolidated financial statements.
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FEDEX CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(IN MILLIONS)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash praVicle operating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Provision for uncollectible accour
Deferred income taxes and other noncash it
Business realignment, impairment and other che
Stoclk-based compensatic
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Receivable!
Other current asse
Pension and postretirement healthcare assetsatilitiies, net
Accounts payable and other liabiliti
Other, ne

Cash provided by operating activiti

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditure
Business acquisitions, net of cash acqu
Proceeds from asset dispositions and ¢

Cash used in investing activiti

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal payments on de
Proceeds from debt issuant
Proceeds from stock issuant
Excess tax benefit on the exercise of stock opi
Dividends paic
Purchase of treasury stock, including acceleratadesrepurchase agreeme
Other, ne
Cash (used in) provided by financing activit
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Years ended May 3.

2014 2013 2012
$2097 $ 1561 $ 2,03
2,581 2,38¢ 2,11¢
13( 167 16(
581 521 1,12¢

— 47¢ 134

117 10¢ 10E
(516) (451) (25¢)
22) 257 (23)
(459) (335) (457)
(235) 10 144
(22 (16) (41)
4,26¢ 4,68¢ 4,83t
(3539 (3,379 (4,00
(36) (489) (116)

18 55 74
(355) (3,809 (4,049
(254) (417) (29)
1,997 1,73¢ —
557 28( 12¢

44 23 18
(187) (177) (162)
(4,857 (246) (197)
(19 (18 —
(2719  1,18¢ (244)
©) 5 (27)
(2,009 2,07« 51E
4,917 2,84¢ 2,32¢
$ 200 $ 4917 $ 2,84
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’

F EDEX CORPORATION

(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

Balance at May 31, 201:

Net income

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax of $1,

Purchase of treasury stock (2.8 million sha

Cash dividends declared ($0.52 per sh

Employee incentive plans and other (2.4 million
shares issuec

Balance at May 31, 201.

Net income

Other comprehensive gain, net of tax of $

Purchase of treasury stock (2.7 million sha

Cash dividends declared ($0.56 per sh

Employee incentive plans and other (4.2 million
shares issuet

Balance at May 31, 201.

Net income

Other comprehensive gain, net of tax of $

Purchase of treasury stock (36.8 million sha

Cash dividends declared ($0.60 per sh

Employee incentive plans and other (6.7 million
shares issuec

Balance at May 31, 201-

Accumulated

INVESTMENT

Additional Other
Commot Retainer  Comprehensiv. ~ Treasur
Paid-in
Stock Capital Earning: Income (Loss Stock Total

$ 32 $ 248/ $1526¢ $ 2550 $ (12 $ 15,22
— — 2,032 — — 2,03:
— — — (2,409 — (2,409
— — — — (197 (297)
— — (1649) — — (164)
— 111 — — 12¢ 23¢
32 2,59¢ 17,13¢ (4,959 (82) 14,72:
— — 1,561 — — 1,561
— — — 1,13 — 1,13¢
— — — — (24€) (24€)
— — (17€) — — (17€)
— 73 — — 32€ 39¢
32 2,66¢ 18,51¢ (3,820 (1) 17,39¢
— — 2,097 — — 2,097
— — — 12€ — 12€
— — — — (4,857) (4,857)
— — (187) — — (187)
— (25) — — 72t 70C

$ 32 $ 2647 $2042¢ $ (3699 $ (4,137 $ 15,27

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 1: DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESFedEXx Corporation (“FedEx") provides a broad pditfof transportation, e-commerce and businessicesy
through companies competing collectively, operatimtependently and managed collaboratively, underéspected FedEx brand. Our
primary operating companies are Federal Exprespatation (“FedEx Express”), the world’s largest egs transportation company; FedEx
Ground Package System, Inc. (“FedEx Ground”), ditepaNorth American provider of small-package grdwelivery services; and FedEx
Freight, Inc. (“FedEx Freight”), a leading U.S. pider of less-than-truckload (“LTL") freight senés. These companies represent our major
service lines and, along with FedEx Corporate $esyilnc. (“FedEx Services”), form the core of oeportable segments. Our FedEx
Services segment provides sales, marketing, infiom#&chnology, communications and certain badlcefsupport to our transportation
segments. In addition, the FedEx Services segmenides customers with retail access to FedEx Bgpamd FedEx Ground shipping
services through FedEx Office and Print Services, (“FedEx Office”) and provides customer servieghnical support and billing and
collection services through FedEx TechConnect, (iedEx TechConnect”).

FISCAL YEAR: Except as otherwise specified, references tosyiedicate our fiscal year ended May 31, 2014 adiedriMay 31 of the year
referenced.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATIO. The consolidated financial statements includeatteounts of FedEx and its subsidiaries, substhntia
all of which are wholly owned. All significant intsompany accounts and transactions have been ali@dinn consolidation. We are not the
primary beneficiary of, nor do we have a contrglfimancial interest in, any variable interest gntAccordingly, we have not consolidated
any variable interest entity.

REVENUE RECOGNITIOL We recognize revenue upon delivery of shipmemt®dr transportation businesses and upon complefio
services for our business services, logistics eadktservices businesses. Transportation serviegg@vided with the use of employees and
independent contractors. FedEXx is the princip#éhéotransaction for most of these services andwevéom these transactions is recognized
on a gross basis. Costs associated with independatractor settlements are recognized as incamedncluded in the caption “Purchased
transportation” in the accompanying consolidatedieshents of income. For shipments in transit, regds recorded based on the percentage
of service completed at the balance sheet daten&isis for future billing adjustments to revenud ancounts receivable are recognized a
time of shipment for money-back service guaranaeekbilling corrections. Delivery costs are accrasdncurred.

Our contract logistics, global trade services agrdiain transportation businesses, such as FedErBosd engage in some transactions
wherein they act as agents. Revenue from thesgatttians is recorded on a net basis. Net reveroladies billings to customers less third-
party charges, including transportation or handtingts, fees, commissions and taxes and duties.

Certain of our revenue-producing transactions abgest to taxes, such as sales tax, assessed byngoental authorities. We present these
revenues net of tax.

CREDIT RISKWe routinely grant credit to many of our custonferstransportation and business services witholidtewal. The risk of

credit loss in our trade receivables is substdptiitigated by our credit evaluation process, skoflection terms and sales to a large number
of customers, as well as the low revenue per tdisgafor most of our services. Allowances for pdial credit losses are determined based
on historical experience and the impact of curesminomic factors on the composition of accountsivable. Historically, credit losses have
been within management’s expectations.
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ADVERTISINGAdvertising and promotion costs are expensed asried and are classified in other operating expemsévertising and
promotion expenses were $407 million in 2014, $#@lon in 2013 and $421 million in 2012.

CASH EQUIVALENTSCash in excess of current operating requiremerntwésted in short-term, interest-bearing instruteevith maturities
of three months or less at the date of purchaseésastdted at cost, which approximates market value

SPARE PARTS, SUPPLIES AND FUBbpare parts (principally aircraft-related) are méga at weighted-average cost. Allowances for
obsolescence are provided for spare parts expazteeion hand at the date the aircraft are refimd service. These allowances are provi
over the estimated useful life of the related aifitcand engines. Additionally, allowances for olesokence are provided for spare parts
currently identified as excess or obsolete. Thdseances are based on management estimates, at@cubject to change, although
historically changes in these estimates have beéeimal. The majority of our supplies and our fuet aeported at weighted average cost.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMEN. Expenditures for major additions, improvements fight equipment modifications are capitalizedemh
such costs are determined to extend the usefudfifiee asset or are part of the cost of acquitfiregasset. Expenditures for equipment
overhaul costs of engines or airframes prior tarthygerational use are capitalized as part of st of such assets as they are costs requit
ready the asset for its intended use. Maintenandeepairs costs are charged to expense as inceweept for certain aircraft engine
maintenance costs incurred under third-party seragreements. These agreements, which became\efféahe 1, 2014, will result in costs
being expensed based on cycles or hours flown ensudbject to annual escalation. These serviceaxisttransfer risk to third party service
providers and generally fix the amount we pay faintenance to the service provider as a rate pge oy flight hour, in exchange for
maintenance and repairs under a predefined maimterzrogram. We capitalize certain direct intearad external costs associated with the
development of internal-use software. Gains ansel®®n sales of property used in operations assifikd within operating expenses.

For financial reporting purposes, we record deptéani and amortization of property and equipmenaatraight-line basis over the asset’s
service life or related lease term, if shorter. iRoome tax purposes, depreciation is computedyusicelerated methods when applicable.
depreciable lives and net book value of our prgpand equipment are as follows (dollars in millipns

Net Book Value at May 3:

Range 2014 2013
Wide-body aircraft and related equipment 15 to 30 yeal $ 7,22 $ 7,191
Narrow-body and feeder aircraft and related equipn 5to 18 yeat 2,63¢ 2,28¢
Package handling and ground support equipt 3 to 30 yeat 2,67¢ 2,311
Vehicles 3to 15 yeat 1,96: 1,74¢
Computer and electronic equipmu 2 to 10 yeat 94C 99¢
Facilities and othe 2 to 40 yeat 4,10¢ 3,957

Substantially all property and equipment have ntenl residual values. The majority of aircrafstoare depreciated on a straight-line basis
over 15 to 30 years. We periodically evaluate stareated service lives and residual values uselgpoeciate our property and

equipment. This evaluation may result in changdkérestimated lives and residual values as itrd#D13 and 2012 with certain aircraft. In
May 2013, FedEx Express made the decision to aedelthe retirement of 76 aircraft and related eegito aid in our fleet modernization ¢
improve our global network. In May 2012, we shoetgthe depreciable lives for 54 aircraft and relaegines to accelerate the retirement of
these aircraft, resulting in a depreciation expenseease of $69 million in 2013. As a result afsh accelerated retirements, we incurred an
additional $74 million in year-over-year depre@atexpense in 2014.
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Depreciation expense, excluding gains and lossesles of property and equipment used in operatisas $2.6 billion in 2014, $2.3 billion
in 2013 and $2.1 billion in 2012. Depreciation @mdortization expense includes amortization of asseter capital lease.

CAPITALIZED INTERESTInterest on funds used to finance the acquisaioth modification of aircraft, including purchasspdsits,
construction of certain facilities, and developmeitertain software up to the date the assetigyréor its intended use is capitalized and
included in the cost of the asset if the assettisely under construction. Capitalized interessw29 million in 2014, $45 million in 2013 a
$85 million in 2012.

IMPAIRMENT OF LON(LIVED ASSETS.ong-lived assets are reviewed for impairment wtiecumstances indicate the carrying value of
an asset may not be recoverable. For assets thai be held and used, an impairment is recognizesh the estimated undiscounted cash
flows associated with the asset or group of asgsé¢ss than their carrying value. If impairmeniséx an adjustment is made to write the asset
down to its fair value, and a loss is recordechaddifference between the carrying value and falue. Fair values are determined based on
guoted market values, discounted cash flows ornateand external appraisals, as applicable. Assdie disposed of are carried at the lower
of carrying value or estimated net realizable value

We operate integrated transportation networks,amedrdingly, cash flows for most of our operatisgets are assessed at a network leve
at an individual asset level, for our analysismpairment.

In the normal management of our aircraft fleet,rautinely idle aircraft and engines temporarily doenaintenance cycles and adjustmen
our network capacity to match seasonality and divematomer demand levels. Temporarily idled asaetsclassified as available-fase, anc
we continue to record depreciation expense assakigith these assets. These temporarily idled assetassessed for impairment on a
quarterly basis. The criteria for determining wiegthn asset has been permanently removed frontsdaiid, as a result, impaired) include,
but are not limited to, our global economic outl@sid the impact of our outlook on our current arajgeted volume levels, including
capacity needs during our peak shipping seasoasntfoduction of new fleet types or decisions ¢orpanently retire an aircraft fleet from
operations; or changes to planned service expaasiivities. At May 31, 2014, we had 10 aircrafnfmorarily idled, one of which was fully
depreciated. These aircraft have been idled f@vanage of three months and are expected to rietuavenue service.

In 2013, we retired from service two Airbus A310924ircraft and four related engines, three Airb@4 @300 aircraft and two related engil
and five Boeing MD10-10 aircraft and 15 relatedirag. As a consequence of this decision, a nonogsiirment charge of $100 million
($63 million, net of tax, or $0.20 per diluted stjawas recorded in 2013. All of these aircraft weraporarily idled and not in revenue
service.

In 2012, we retired from service 18 Airbus A310-20raft and 26 related engines, as well as skipMD10-10 aircraft and 17 related
engines. As a consequence of this decision, a sbriogpairment charge of $134 million ($84 milliovet of tax, or $0.26 per diluted share)
was recorded in 2012.

GOODWILL.Goodwill is recognized for the excess of the puseharice over the fair value of tangible and id@tile intangible net assets of
businesses acquired. Several factors give riseadwill in our acquisitions, such as the expecteddfit from synergies of the combination
and the existing workforce of the acquired busin€mdwill is reviewed at least annually for impaént. In our evaluation of goodwill
impairment, we perform a qualitative assessmedetermine if it is more likely than not that thérfgalue of a reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount. If the qualitative assessmenbisonclusive, we proceed to a two-step processstogoodwill for impairment including
comparing the fair value of the reporting unitte®darrying value (including attributable goodwilbair value for our reporting units is
determined using an income or market approach jparating market participant considerations and rgamgent’s assumptions on revenue
growth rates, operating margins, discount ratesexpected capital expenditures. Fair value detatitins may include both internal and
third-party valuations. Unless circumstances otliwawdictate, we perform our annual impairment tgsin the fourth quarter.
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PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT HEALTHCARE PL/Our defined benefit plans are measured using datdachniques that reflect
management’s assumptions for discount rate, expéabg-term investment returns on plan assetsrysalareases, expected retirement,
mortality, employee turnover and future increaselsdalthcare costs. We determine the discoun{dtieh is required to be the rate at which
the projected benefit obligation could be effedingettled as of the measurement date) with thistasse of actuaries, who calculate the y
on a theoretical portfolio of high-grade corporatads (rated Aa or better) with cash flows thatdasigned to match our expected benefit
payments in future years. A calculated-value metbainployed for purposes of determining the asaletes for our tax-qualified U.S.
domestic pension plans (“U.S. Pension Plans”). @pected rate of return is a judgmental matter iwfliaeviewed on an annual basis and
revised as appropriate.

The accounting guidance related to employers’ attiiog for defined benefit pension and other posetent plans requires recognition in
the balance sheet of the funded status of defieaéfit pension and other postretirement benefitqland the recognition in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) of unrecognized gain¥sses and prior service costs or credits.

We recorded a decrease to equity through OCI ofriillibn (net of tax) at our May 31, 2014 measuretraiate. We recorded an increase to
equity through OCI of $861 million (net of tax)@ir May 31, 2013 measurement date.

INCOME TAXESDeferred income taxes are provided for the taxcetétemporary differences between the tax bafséssets and liabilities
and their reported amounts in the financial stateémeélhe liability method is used to account faxame taxes, which requires deferred taxes
to be recorded at the statutory rate expected to bfect when the taxes are paid.

We recognize liabilities for uncertain income tapsitions based on a two-step process. The firptist® evaluate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of availevidence indicates that it is more likely thart that the position will be sustained on
audit, including resolution of related appealsitigdtion processes, if any. The second step reguis to estimate and measure the tax benefit
as the largest amount that is more than 50% liteelye realized upon ultimate settlement. It is rehdly difficult and subjective to estimate
such amounts, as we must determine the probabfliparious possible outcomes. We reevaluate thasertain tax positions on a quarterly
basis or when new information becomes availablednagement. These reevaluations are based onsfanttuding, but not limited to,
changes in facts or circumstances, changes irat@xduccessfully settled issues under audit andanglit activity. Such a change in
recognition or measurement could result in the gaitn of a tax benefit or an increase to theteglgrovision.

We classify interest related to income tax lialabtas interest expense and, if applicable, pesadtie recognized as a component of income
tax expense. The income tax liabilities and accinttest and penalties that are due within one gethe balance sheet date are presented a
current liabilities. The noncurrent portion of aacome tax liabilities and accrued interest andajtéas are recorded in the caption “Other
liabilities” in the accompanying consolidated balarsheets.

SELF-INSURANCE ACCRUALW/e are self-insured for costs associated with wstl@mpensation claims, vehicle accidents and igéne
business liabilities, and benefits paid under eygxohealthcare and long-term disability progranmtxrials are primarily based on the
actuarially estimated cost of claims, which inclsidtecurred-but-not-reported claims. Current workeosnpensation claims, vehicle and
general liability, employee healthcare claims aortgtterm disability are included in accrued expengée self-insure up to certain limits that
vary by operating company and type of risk. Pedallly, we evaluate the level of insurance covel@y adjust insurance levels based on risk
tolerance and premium expense.
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LEASESWe lease certain aircraft, facilities, equipmerd aahicles under capital and operating leasescoh@mencement date of all leases
is the earlier of the date we become legally oldiddo make rent payments or the date we may esesccintrol over the use of the property
addition to minimum rental payments, certain leggeside for contingent rentals based on equipmsage, principally related to aircraft
leases at FedEx Express and copier usage at FeffiE®. ®Rent expense associated with contingentaterig recorded as incurred. Certain of
our leases contain fluctuating or escalating paysand rent holiday periods. The related rent egpémnrecorded on a straighte basis ove
the lease term. The cumulative excess of rent patgy@/er rent expense is accounted for as a ddferase asset and recorded in “Other
assets” in the accompanying consolidated balaneetshThe cumulative excess of rent expense omepegments is accounted for as a
deferred lease obligation. Leasehold improvemesgs@ated with assets utilized under capital oraipeg leases are amortized over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life or the leasmter

DEFERRED GAINSGains on the sale and leaseback of aircraft aner pitoperty and equipment are deferred and amdrtatbly over the
life of the lease as a reduction of rent expenabstntially all of these deferred gains are relébeaircraft transactions.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATICTranslation gains and losses of foreign operatibasuse local currencies as the functional cugrenc
are accumulated and reported, net of applicablerdsf income taxes, as a component of accumulgited comprehensive income within
common stockholders’ investment. Transaction gamslosses that arise from exchange rate fluctosiio transactions denominated in a
currency other than the local currency are includetie caption “Other, net” in the accompanyingsaidated statements of income and
were immaterial for each period presented.

EMPLOYEES UNDER COLLECTIVE BARGAINING ARRANGEME The pilots of FedEx Express, which represent alsmuahber of
FedEx Express’s total employees, are employed umdeliective bargaining agreement. The contracabe amendable in March 2013, and
the parties are currently in negotiations. In dddito our pilots at FedEx Express, certain non:@r8ployees are unionized.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATIOWe recognize compensation expense for stock-bagartia under the provisions of the accounting
guidance related to share-based payments. Thiagtedrequires recognition of compensation expamss&tdck-based awards using a fair
value method. We issue new shares or repurchasesstiathe open market to cover employee shareropiiercises and restricted stock
grants.

TREASURY SHARER. October 2013, our Board of Directors authoriaetew share repurchase program of up to 32 miflimres of

common stock. These shares augmented the 10.2msliares remaining on our previous share repuecathorizations at May 31, 2013.
Shares may be purchased from time to time in tles oparket or in privately negotiated transactiGtepurchases are made at the company’s
discretion, based on ongoing assessments of tlikalcapeds of the business, the market price afdtamon stock and general market
conditions. No time limit was set for the completiof the repurchase program, and the program may$fgended or discontinued at any
time.

In January 2014, we entered into accelerated sbprechase (“ASR”) agreements with two banks taireipase an aggregate of $2.0 billion
of our common stock. During the third quarter 012011.4 million shares were initially deliveredus based on then-current market prices.
During the fourth quarter of 2014, the ASR tranisanst were completed and we received 3.4 millionitaaithl shares. The final number of
shares delivered upon settlement of each ASR agnetewas determined based on a discount to the wlueighted average price of our
stock during the term of the respective transactiototal, 14.8 million shares were delivered unitie ASR agreements. The repurchased
shares were accounted for as a reduction to consteekRholdersinvestment in the accompanying consolidated balaheet and resulted ii
reduction of the outstanding shares used to cdteti® weightedverage common shares outstanding for basic angtdikarnings per sha
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During 2014, including the ASR transactions, weurepased 36.8 million shares of FedEx common sabeln average price of $131.83 per
share for a total of $4.9 billion. As of May 31,120 5.3 million shares remained under our shararoffase authorizations.

DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON SHAFOnN June 9, 2014, our Board of Directors declargdaterly dividend of $0.20 per share
of common stock, an increase of $0.05 per commaresihom the prior quarter’s dividend. The dividemals paid on July 3, 2014 to
stockholders of record as of the close of businaesdune 19, 2014. Each quarterly dividend paynsestibject to review and approval by our
Board of Directors, and we evaluate our dividenghpant amount on an annual basis at the end offesuet year.

BUSINESS REALIGNMENT COS. During 2013, we announced profit improvement paogs primarily through initiatives at FedEx
Express and FedEx Services and completed a pragraffer voluntary cash buyouts to eligible U.Sséd employees in certain staff
functions. As a result of this program, approxirha®&600 employees had left the company by theddr#014. Costs of the benefits provided
under the voluntary employee severance program reergnized as special termination benefits inpiiigod that eligible employees accey
their offers. Payments under this program were naadee time of departure and totaled approxima80 million in 2014 and $180 million
in 2013.

The voluntary buyout program included voluntaryesamce payments and funding to healthcare reimimeseaccounts, with the voluntary
severance calculated based on four weeks of gesesdalary for every year of FedEx service uprtmgimum payment of two years of pay.
Of the total population leaving the company, apprately 40% of the employees vacated positions ay BIL, 2013. An additional 35%
departed throughout 2014 and approximately 25%isfgopulation remained until May 31, 2014.

We incurred costs of $560 million ($353 million troé tax, or $1.11 per diluted share) during 2088ceiated with our business realignment
activities. These costs related primarily to semeeafor employees who accepted voluntary buyoutisarthird and fourth quarters of 2013.
The cost of the buyout program is included in thption “Business realignment, impairment and otharges’in our consolidated stateme
of income. Also included in that caption are otbeternal costs directly attributable to our businesalignment activities, such as professit
fees.

USE OF ESTIMATESThe preparation of our consolidated financialesteents requires the use of estimates and assumaikiat affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, thenteg amounts of revenues and expenses and tHesdise of contingent liabilities.
Management makes its best estimate of the ultimatimome for these items based on historical trandisother information available when
the financial statements are prepared. Changestimages are recognized in accordance with theuattwy rules for the estimate, which is
typically in the period when new information becanavailable to management. Areas where the nafuhe @stimate makes it reasonably
possible that actual results could materially diffem amounts estimated include: self-insuranazads; retirement plan obligations; long-
term incentive accruals; tax liabilities; loss dogencies; litigation claims; and impairment assesm#s on long-lived assets (including
goodwill).

NOTE 2: RECENT ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE

New accounting rules and disclosure requirememssigmificantly impact our reported results and ¢benparability of our financie
statements.

On June 1, 2013, we adopted the authoritative geléssued by the Financial Accounting Standards®@¢'FASB”) requiring additional
information about reclassification adjustments aftdccumulated other comprehensive income, inclydhmanges in accumulated other
comprehensive income balances by component andiségm items reclassified out of accumulated ott@mprehensive income. We have
adopted this guidance by including expanded accat®dlother comprehensive income disclosure regeingsrin Note 9 of our consolidated
financial statements.
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On May 28, 2014, the FASB and International AccownStandards Board issued a new accounting stdrldat will supersede virtually all
existing revenue recognition guidance under US GA&®I International Financial Reporting Standard@k)s standard will be effective for
us beginning in fiscal 2018. The fundamental pphes of the new guidance are that companies shieatihnize revenue in a manner that
reflects the timing of the transfer of servicestigstomers and the amount of revenue recognizegttsfthe consideration that a company
expects to receive for the goods and services gedviThe new guidance establishes a §iteg approach for the recognition of revenue. B
on our preliminary assessment, we do not anticifhetethe new guidance will fundamentally changeremenue recognition policies,
practices or systems.

We believe that no other new accounting guidance ad@pted or issued during 2014 that is relevatitdaeaders of our financial statements.
However, there are numerous new proposals undela@went which, if and when enacted, may havemifgignt impact on our financial
reporting.

NOTE 3: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On May 1, 2014, we expanded the international serefferings of FedEx Express by completing ounggition of the businesses operatet
our previous service provider Supaswift (Pty) Litdseven countries in Southern Africa, for $36 miilin cash from operations. A significant
amount of the purchase price was allocated to gdbdavhich was entirely attributed to our FedEx Egps reporting unit. This acquisition
gives us an established regional ground networkeaitehsive knowledge of the Southern African region

During 2013, we completed our acquisitions of Rapi€ometa Logistica e Transporte S.A., a Braztliansportation and logistics company,
for $398 million; TATEX, a French express transptictn company, for $55 million; and Opek Sp. z caoPolish domestic express package
delivery company, for $54 million.

In 2012, we completed our acquisition of Servidizcionales Mupa, S.A. de C.V. (MultiPack), a Mexickomestic express package delivery
company, for $128 million.

These acquisitions were completed using cash fleenations. The financial results of these acquingsinesses are included in the FedEx
Express segment from the date of acquisition ané wet material, individually or in the aggregatepur results of operations and therefore,
pro forma financial information has not been présén
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NOTE 4: GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GOODWILL.The carrying amount of goodwill attributable to leaeportable operating segment and changes thareias follows (in
millions):

FedEx Expres FedEx Groun FedEx Freigt FedEx Service

Segmen Segmen Segmen Segmen Total

Goodwill at May 31, 2012 $ 1,34 $ 9 $ 73" % 1520 % 3,69
Accumulated impairment charg — — (139 (1,177 (1,310
Balance as of May 31, 201 1,34« a0 602 351 2,38i
Goodwill acquirec® 351 — — — 351
Purchase adjustments and ot@ 20 — — 3 17
Balance as of May 31, 201 1,71t a0 602 34¢ 2,75¢
Goodwill acquirec® 24 — — — 24
Purchase adjustments and ot@ 11 — — — 11
Balance as of May 31, 201 $ 1,75C $ QN $ 60z $ 34€ $ 2,79(
Accumulated goodwill impairment charges

as of May 31, 2014 $ — 3 — $ (133 $ (1,177 $ (1,310

@ Goodwill acquired relates to the acquisitions ahsportation companies in Poland, France and Bra2i)13 and the acquisition of

transportation companies in Southern Africa in 2(B&e Note 3 for related disclosur

@ Primarily currency translation adjustments and &egugoodwill related to immaterial acquisitiol

Our reporting units with significant recorded godidwclude FedEx Express, FedEx Freight and FeGffice (reported in the FedEx
Services segment). We evaluated reporting unitgrfpairment during the fourth quarter of 2014. Hstimated fair value of each of these
reporting units exceeded their carrying valuesdfhfand 2013, and we do not believe that any aietheporting units were at risk as of
May 31, 2014.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETHhe net book value of our other intangible assets $67 million at May 31, 2014 and $72 million aaywB1,
2013. Amortization expense for intangible assets $28 million in 2014, $27 million in 2013 and $idlion in 2012. Estimated
amortization expense is expected to be immateriadil5 and beyond.
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NOTE 5: SELECTED CURRENT LIABILITIES

The components of selected current liability capgiat May 31 were as follows (in millions):

2014 2013
Accrued Salaries and Employee Bene
Salaries $ 267 $ 48¢
Employee benefits, including variable compensa 434 61=
Compensated absenc 57€ 584

$ 1271 $ 1,68¢

Accrued Expense

Self-insurance accrua $ 811 $ 79¢
Taxes other than income tax 33¢ 36¢
Other 912 76¢€

$ 2,060 $ 1,93

NOTE 6: LONG-TERM DEBT AND OTHER FINANCING ARRANGEM ENTS

The components of long-term debt (net of discoumateng with maturity dates for the years subsetiteeMay 31, 2014, are as follows (in
millions):

May 31,
2014 2013
Senior unsecured del
Interest Rate ¢ Maturity
7.38 2014 $ — $ 25C
8.00 2019 75C 75C
2.625 2023 49¢ 49¢
2.70 2023 24¢ 24¢
4.00 2024 74¢ —
4.90 2034 49¢ —
3.875 2043 493 49:
4.10 2043 49¢ 49¢
5.10 2044 74¢ —
7.60 2098 23¢ 23¢
Total senior unsecured de 4,72¢ 2,97¢
Capital lease obligatior 11 11
4,737 2,99(
Less current portio 1 251

$ 473 $§ 2,73

Interest on our fixed-rate notes is paid semi-alipuiaong-term debt, exclusive of capital leasesd lestimated fair values of $5.0 billion at
May 31, 2014 and $3.2 billion at May 31, 2013. Bséimated fair values were determined based oreduutrket prices and the current rates
offered for debt with similar terms and maturiti&be fair value of our long-term debt is classifesiLevel 2 within the fair value hierarchy.
This classification is defined as a fair value deieed using market-based inputs other than quatiees that are observable for the liability,
either directly or indirectly.
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We have a shelf registration statement filed wlith $ecurities and Exchange Commission that all@ae sell, in one or more future
offerings, any combination of our unsecured debustes and common stock.

In January 2014, we issued $2 billion of senioreaused debt under our current shelf registratiatestent, comprised of $750 million of
4.00% fixed-rate notes due in January 2024, $50@mbf 4.90% fixed-rate notes due in January 2884 $750 million of 5.10% fixed-rate
notes due in January 2044. Interest on these ipasd semiannually. We utilized the net procdedsnake payments under the ASR
agreements discussed in Note 1. During 2014, waideyur $250 million 7.38% senior unsecured ndtes natured on January 15, 2014.

A $1 billion revolving credit facility is availabl® finance our operations and other cash flow seedl to provide support for the issuance of
commercial paper. The revolving credit agreemeptres in March 2018. The agreement contains a éiladusovenant, which requires us to
maintain a leverage ratio of adjusted debt (lomgitdebt, including the current portion of such delits six times our last four fiscal quarters’
rentals and landing fees) to capital (adjusted palst total common stockholders’ investment) thagsinot exceed 70%. Our leverage ratio of
adjusted debt to capital was 57% at May 31, 2014 balieve the leverage ratio covenant is our oigigiicant restrictive covenant in our
revolving credit agreement. Our revolving creditesgment contains other customary covenants thabtgondividually or in the aggregate,
materially restrict the conduct of our business. &kkein compliance with the leverage ratio coverett all other covenants of our revolving
credit agreement and do not expect the covenamiffetct our operations, including our liquidity @xpected funding needs. As of May 31,
2014, no commercial paper was outstanding, andrtiee $1 billion under the revolving credit fatylwas available for future borrowings.

We issue other financial instruments in the noramairse of business to support our operations, dietustandby letters of credit and surety
bonds. We had a total of $538 million in lettersddit outstanding at May 31, 2014, with $149 imillunused under our primary $500
million letter of credit facility, and $531 milliom outstanding surety bonds placed by third-parsyirance providers. These instruments are
required under certain U.S. self-insurance prograntsare also used in the normal course of intiermatoperations. The underlying
liabilities insured by these instruments are rééiddn our balance sheets, where applicable. Toereho additional liability is reflected for
the letters of credit and surety bonds themselves.

NOTE 7: LEASES

We utilize certain aircraft, land, facilities, ré¢t@cations and equipment under capital and oppegdeases that expire at various dates through
2046. We leased 10% of our total aircraft fleetamaberating leases as of May 31, 2014 and Mag@13. A portion of our supplemental
aircraft are leased by us under agreements thaideréor cancellation upon 30 days’ notice. Ousksfacilities include national, regional

and metropolitan sorting facilities, retail fadéis and administrative buildings.

Rent expense under operating leases for the yadesidvlay 31 was as follows (in millions):

2014 2013 2012

Minimum rentals $ 2152 $ 2,061 $ 2,01¢
Contingent rental® 197 192 21C
$ 235, $ 2250 $ 2,22¢

@ Contingent rentals are based on equipment u:
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A summary of future minimum lease payments undecancelable operating leases with an initial orai@ing term in excess of one year at
May 31, 2014 is as follows (in millions):

Operating Lease

Aircraft Total
and Relate Operatiny
Facilities
Equipmen and Othe Leases
2015 $ 44¢ $ 1,61 $ 2,06:
2016 45¢ 1,45( 1,90:
2017 392 1,54( 1,93:
2018 32¢€ 1,12¢ 1,45t
2019 273 95E 1,22¢
Thereafte! 55C 6,26 6,81¢
Total $ 2,44 $ 12,95: $ 15,39

Property and equipment recorded under capital $easé future minimum lease payments under capiéalds were immaterial at May 31,
2014 and 2013. The weighted-average remaining kesseof all operating leases outstanding at May?814 was approximately six years.
While certain of our lease agreements contain cavesngoverning the use of the leased assets oreatgito maintain certain levels of
insurance, none of our lease agreements includeri@dinancial covenants or limitations.

FedEx Express makes payments under certain levibgg@ating leases that are sufficient to pay paland interest on certain pabsseugt
certificates. The pass-through certificates aredivect obligations of, or guaranteed by, FedEkFedEx Express.

We are the lessee in a series of operating leas&sing a portion of our leased aircraft. The lesswe trusts established specifically to
purchase, finance and lease aircraft to us. Theesanlg entities meet the criteria for variablenege entities. We are not the primary
beneficiary of the leasing entities, as the leasm$ are consistent with market terms at the inmef the lease and do not include a residual
value guarantee, fixed-price purchase option oilairfeature that obligates us to absorb decreiaseslue or entitles us to participate in
increases in the value of the aircraft. As suchaveenot required to consolidate the entity agtimaary beneficiary. Our maximum exposure
under these leases is included in the summarytofduminimum lease payments shown above.

NOTE 8: PREFERRED STOCK

Our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the Bbaf Directors, at its discretion, to issue upt000,000 shares of preferred stock. The ¢
is issuable in series, which may vary as to cerigints and preferences, and has no par valuef Mayg 31, 2014, none of these shares had
been issued.
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NOTE 9: ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOS S)

The following table provides changes in accumulatiber comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI"), netaf, reported in our financial
statements for the years ended May 31 (in milli@mspunts in parentheses indicate debits to AOCI):

Foreign currency translation gain (los
Balance at beginning of peric
Translation adjustmen
Balance at end of peric
Retirement plans adjustmen
Balance at beginning of peric
Net (loss) gain and other arising during pel
Reclassifications from AOC
Balance at end of peric
Accumulated other comprehensive loss at end obg

2014 2013 2012
$ 102 $ 61 $ 15€
(25) 41 (95)

77 102 61
(3929 (5019 (2,706
(11) 861 (2,437)

162 231 124
(B77) (3929 (5,019
$ (369) $ (3,820 $ (4,959

The following table presents details of the redfasgions from AOCI for the years ended May 31 ffiillions; amounts in parentheses

indicate debits to earnings):

Amount Reclassified from

Affected Line ltem in the
Income Statemer

AQCI
2014 2013 2012

Retirement plans

Amortization of actuarial losses and otl $ (382 $(51) $ (310

Amortization of prior service credi 11t 114 112
Total before tas (267) (402 (197)

Income tax benefi 10¢ 171 73
AOCI reclassifications, net of te $ (162 $ (23) $ (129

NOTE 10: STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Salaries and employee bene
Salaries and employee bene

Provision for income taxe
Net income

Our total stock-based compensation expense fordhes ended May 31 was as follows (in millions):

Stock-based compensation expense

We have two types of equity-based compensatiogksiptions and restricted stock.

2014 2013 2012

$ 11  $ 10 $ 10

STOCK OPTIONSUnder the provisions of our incentive stock pldey employees and non-employee directors maydogted options to
purchase shares of our common stock at a prickesethan its fair market value on the date of gidesting requirements are determined at
the discretion of the Compensation Committee ofaeird of Directors. Optiomesting periods range from one to four years, &8#6 of ou
options vesting ratably over four years. Compensatixpense associated with these awards is re@mbaiza straight-line basis over the

requisite service period of the award.
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RESTRICTED STOCIUnder the terms of our incentive stock plans, ietstdl shares of our common stock are awarded tekgyoyees. All
restrictions on the shares expire ratably oveuaj@ar period. Shares are valued at the markee pm the date of award. The terms of our
restricted stock provide for continued vesting sajoent to the employee’s retirement. Compensatiperese associated with these awards is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the shoftthe remaining service or vesting period.

VALUATION AND ASSUMPTIONSVe use the Black-Scholes option pricing modelaizulate the fair value of stock options. The eabd
restricted stock awards is based on the stock pfitlee award on the grant date. We record stosked@ompensation expense in tBalaries
and employee benefits” caption in the accompangmtsolidated statements of income.

The key assumptions for the Black-Scholes valuatiethod include the expected life of the optiongcktprice volatility, a risk-free interest
rate and dividend yield. Following is a table of theighted-average Black-Scholes value of our stgtion grants, the intrinsic value of
options exercised (in millions) and the key weight&verage assumptions used in the valuation caicotafor the options granted during the
years ended May 31, and then a discussion of othradelogy for developing each of the assumptiorsius the valuation mode

2014 2013 2012

Weighted-average Black-Scholes value $ 35.7¢ $ 29.2( $ 29.97
Intrinsic value of options exerciss $ 347 $ 107 $ 67
Black-Scholes Assumption

Expected live: 6.2 year 6.1 year 6.0 year

Expected volatility 35% 35% 34%

Risk-free interest rat 1.47% 0.94% 1.7<%

Dividend yield 0.561% 0.60%% 0.56%%

The expected life represents an estimate of thiegef time options are expected to remain outstapdand we examine actual stock option
exercises to determine the expected life of theopt Options granted have a maximum term of 1@sydaxpected volatilities are based on
the actual changes in the market value of our stmckare calculated using daily market value chafigen the date of grant over a past
period equal to the expected life of the optiortse Tisk-free interest rate is the U.S. TreasuripS#te posted at the date of grant having a
term equal to the expected life of the option. €kpected dividend yield is the annual rate of divids per share over the exercise price of the
option.
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The following table summarizes information abowicktoption activity for the year ended May 31, 2014

Stock Option:

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Shares Price

Outstanding at June 1, 2013 19,135,43 $ 87.6:

Grantec 3,482,177 103.8:

Exercisec (6,468,51) 86.1°¢

Forfeited (514,240 91.61

Outstanding at May 31, 20: 15,634,85 $ 91.71

Exercisable 8,913,17. $ 88.8]

Expected to ves 6,318,38: $ 95.5¢
Available for future grant 13,108,87

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Contractue

Term

@ Only presented for options with market value at N8dy 2014 in excess of the exercise price of th®of

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

(in millions) ®

@

82C
49¢
$ 307

&

The options granted during the year ended May @14 are primarily related to our principal annuak& option grant in June 2013.

The following table summarizes information abousteel and unvested restricted stock for the yeaeeéihy 31, 2014:

Unvested at June 1, 2013

Grantec
Vested
Forfeited

Unvested at May 31, 201

Restricted Stoc

Weighted-

Average

Grant Dat

Shares Fair Value
529,33 $ 80.8¢
191,96 100.8(
(239,716 75.4¢
(1,429 100.4¢
480,15 $ 91.4¢

During the year ended May 31, 2013, there were30shares of restricted stock granted with a wieidfaverage fair value of $85.45.
During the year ended May 31, 2012, there were4B8Bishares of restricted stock granted with a wetdfaverage fair value of $88.95.
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The following table summarizes information abowic&toption vesting during the years ended May 31:

Stock Option:
Vested durin
Fair value
the yeal (in millions)
2014 2,408,17! $ 65
2013 2,824,75 81
2012 2,807,80! 7C

As of May 31, 2014, there was $159 million of taiakecognized compensation cost, net of estimatedifures, related to unvested share-
based compensation arrangements. This compensaji@mse is expected to be recognized on a strghbasis over the remaining
weighted-average vesting period of approximately years.

Total shares outstanding or available for grar#tesl to equity compensation at May 31, 2014 reptede8% of the total outstanding comn
and equity compensation shares and equity compensdtares available for grant.

NOTE 11: COMPUTATION OF EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings penmon share for the years ended May 31 was asv®l{m millions, except per share
amounts):

2014 2013 2012

Basic earnings per common share

Net earnings allocable to common sh&® $ 209 $ 155 $ 2,02
Weighte-average common shar 307 31t 31t
Basic earnings per common shar $ 6.82 $ 4.9t $ 6.44
Diluted earnings per common share:

Net earnings allocable to common she® $ 209 $ 1558 $ 2,02¢
Weightec-average common shar 307 31t 31t
Dilutive effect of shar-based award 3 2 2
Weightec-average diluted shar 31C 317 317
Diluted earnings per common share $ 6.7¢ % 491 $ 6.41
Anti-dilutive options excluded from diluteearnings per common she 3.3 11.1 12.€

@ Net earnings available to participating securitiese immaterial in all periods present
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NOTE 12: INCOME TAXES

The components of the provision for income taxegte years ended May 31 were as follows (in nmikip

2014 2013 2012
Current provision (benefi
Domestic:
Federa $ 624 $ 517 $ (120
State and loce 56 86 8C
Foreign 194 17C 181
874 76¢ 141
Deferred provision (benefi
Domestic:
Federa 23¢ 17t 947
State and loce 62 (7 21
Foreign 18 (42 —
31¢ 12¢ 96¢

$1,192 $ 894 $1,10¢

Our current federal income tax expenses in 201@ tam lesser extent, 2013 and 2014, were significaeduced by accelerated depreciation
deductions we claimed under provisions of the AoariTaxpayer Relief Act of 2013 and the Tax Reied the Small Business Jobs Acts of
2010. Those Acts, designed to stimulate new busime®stment in the U.S., accelerated our depienigieductions for new qualifying
investments, such as our Boeing 777 Freighter (TB7yaircraft. These were timing benefits onlytlat depreciation accelerated into an
earlier year is foregone in later years.

Pre-tax earnings (loss) of foreign operations fat4 2013 and 2012 were $412 million, $(55) milleomd $358 million, respectively. These
amounts represent only a portion of total resiudsaiated with international shipments and accgidjrdo not represent our international
results of operations.

A reconciliation of the statutory federal incomg tate to the effective income tax rate for thergeamded May 31 was as follows:

2014 2013 2012
Statutory U.S. income tax rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Increase (decrease) resulting frc
State and local income taxes, net of federal be 2.3 2.1 2.1
Other, ne’ (1.0 (0.9 (1.9
Effective tax rate 36.% 36.% 35.%

Our 2012 rate was favorably impacted by the commtusf the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) audibar 2007-2009 consolidated income
tax returns.
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The significant components of deferred tax asseddiabilities as of May 31 were as follows (in fhahs):

2014 2013
Deferred Ta Deferred Ta Deferred Ta Deferred Ta
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Property, equipment, leases and intangibles $ 12( $ 3,73( $ 157 $ 3,67¢
Employee benefit 1,46¢ 11 1,771 11
Selfinsurance accrua 55E — 584 —
Other 292 29C 251 23¢
Net operating loss/credit carryforwar 338 — 29¢ —
Valuation allowance (245 — (209 —
$ 2,51¢ $ 4,031 $ 2,80¢ $ 3,92¢

The net deferred tax liabilities as of May 31 haeen classified in the balance sheets as follawm({ilions):

2014 2013
Current deferred tax assets $ 522 $ 532
Noncurrent deferred tax ass® 80 —
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilitie (2,119 (1,657)

$ (151) $ (1,119

@ Noncurrent deferred tax assets are included ifirteétem Other Assets in our Consolidated BalaBheet

We have $1.0 billion of net operating loss carrysvia various foreign jurisdictions and $515 mifliof state operating loss carryovers. The
valuation allowances primarily represent amounsemeed for operating loss and tax credit carryfedsawhich expire over varying periods
starting in 2015. As a result of this and othetdes; we believe that a substantial portion of é¢hésferred tax assets may not be realized. We
establish valuation allowances if it is not likele will realize our deferred income tax assetsnaking this determination, we consider all
available positive and negative evidence and mekiio assumptions. We consider, among other thmgsfuture projections of sustained
profitability, deferred income tax liabilities, tlwverall business environment, our historical ficiahresults and potential current and future
tax planning strategies. If we were to identify amglement tax planning strategies to recover tliederred tax assets or generate sufficient
income of the appropriate character in these jigtigohs in the future, it could lead to the revéisfahese valuation allowances and a
reduction of income tax expense. We believe thaivillegenerate sufficient future taxable incomea¢alize the tax benefits related to the
remaining net deferred tax assets in our consebalance sheets.

Permanently reinvested earnings of our foreignigiidrges amounted to $1.6 billion at the end of 2@hd $1.3 billion at the end of 2013. We
have not recognized deferred taxes for U.S. fedecaime tax purposes on those earnings. In 20I4enmanent reinvestment strategy with
respect to unremitted earnings of our foreign slibses provided a 1.2% benefit to our effectiverae. Were the earnings to be distributed,
in the form of dividends or otherwise, these eagaiocould be subject to U.S. federal income taxrardU.S. withholding

taxes. Unrecognized foreign tax credits potentiediyld be available to reduce a portion of any th® liability. Determination of the amount
of unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liabityiot practicable due to uncertainties relatetthéotiming and source of any potential
distribution of such funds, along with other imgont factors such as the amount of associated fotaigcredits. Cash in offshore jurisdicti
associated with our permanent reinvestment strettegled $471 million at the end of 2014 and $42lion at the end of 2013.
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In 2014, approximately 90% of our total enterprgee income was earned in U.S. companies of Fed&ixare taxable in the United States.
As a U.S. airline, our FedEx Express unit is reegiipy Federal Aviation Administration and otheiesito conduct its air operations, domestic
and international, through a U.S. company. Howewerserve more than 220 countries and territoriesral the world, and are required to
establish legal entities in many of them. Most of entities in those countries are operating estittngaged in picking up and delivering
packages and performing other transportation sesvi/e are continually expanding our global networkeet our customers’ needs, which
requires increasing investment outside the U.Stypeally use cash generated overseas to fund theestments and have a foreign holding
company which manages our investments in severaigio operating companies.

We are subject to taxation in the U.S. and varldi& state, local and foreign jurisdictions. Th&IRas completed its examination of our z
and 2011 federal income tax returns with insigaificadjustments taken to appeals. The IRS is dilyrexamining our 2012 and 2013 tax
returns. It is reasonably possible that certaimine tax return proceedings will be completed dutirgnext 12 months and could result in a
change in our balance of unrecognized tax bendfits.expected impact of any changes would not denmhto our consolidated financial
statements.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoafntinrecognized tax benefits is as follows (inlimis):

2014 2013 2012
Balance at beginning of year $ 47 $ 51 $ 69
Increases for tax positions taken in the curreat 1 1 2
Increases for tax positions taken in prior ye 3 3 4
Decreases for tax positions taken in prior yt 3 3 (35
Settlement: (6) 9 (©)]
Increases due to acquisitic — 4 15
Decrease from lapse of statute of limitati 3 2 —
Changes due to currency translat (1) 2 (1
Balance at end of ye: $ 38 $ 47 $ 51

Our liabilities recorded for uncertain tax posisanclude $33 million at May 31, 2014 and $42 noilliat May 31, 2013 associated with
positions that if favorably resolved would provigéenefit to our effective tax rate. We classifigiest related to income tax liabilities as
interest expense and, if applicable, penaltieseregnized as a component of income tax expengebalance of accrued interest and
penalties was $19 million on May 31, 2014 and $28an on May 31, 2013. Total interest and penaltiecluded in our consolidated
statements of income are immaterial.

It is difficult to predict the ultimate outcome thre timing of resolution for tax positions. Changesy result from the conclusion of ongoing
audits, appeals or litigation in state, local, fed@nd foreign tax jurisdictions, or from the rlegimn of various proceedings between the U.S.
and foreign tax authorities. Our liability for umtan tax positions includes no matters that adividually or collectively material to us. It is
reasonably possible that the amount of the bewéfitrespect to certain of our unrecognized taxitfmss will increase or decrease within the
next 12 months, but an estimate of the range ofe¢hsonably possible changes cannot be made. Howeeelo not expect that the resolution
of any of our uncertain tax positions will have atarial effect on us.
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NOTE 13: RETIREMENT PLANS

We sponsor programs that provide retirement bentfitnost of our employees. These programs indiefieed benefit pension plans,
defined contribution plans and postretirement healte plans. The accounting for pension and pasmatnt healthcare plans includes
numerous assumptions, such as: discount ratesctexplng-term investment returns on plan assetsrd salary increases; employee
turnover; mortality; and retirement ages. Thesemgtions most significantly impact our U.S. Pendiians.

The accounting guidance related to postretiremenéfits requires recognition in the balance shetiteofunded status of defined benefit
pension and other postretirement benefit plans tla@decognition in accumulated other compreherisiseme (“AOCI”) of unrecognized
gains or losses and prior service costs or cretlits.funded status is measured as the differerteasba the fair value of the plan’s assets and
the projected benefit obligation (“PBO”) of the plaVe recorded a decrease to equity of $11 milliet of tax) at May 31, 2014, and an
increase to equity of $861 million (net of tax)Mey 31, 2013, attributable to changes in the furstatlis of our plans.

A summary of our retirement plans costs over thet ffaee years is as follows (in millions):

2014 2013 2012
U.S. domestic and international pension plans $ 484 $ 67¢ $ 524
U.S. domestic and international defined contributans 363 354 33¢
U.S. domestic and international postretirementtheate plan: 78 78 7C

$ 92t $1,11] $ 93z

Total retirement plans costs in 2014 were lowent?@13 due to the favorable impact of a higheralist rate at our May 31, 2013
measurement date and higher returns on plan assets.

PENSION PLANL. Our largest pension plan covers certain U.S. eygas age 21 and over, with at least one yearwicse Pension benefits
for most employees are accrued under a cash bdiamala we call the Portable Pension Account. Uride Portable Pension Account, the
retirement benefit is expressed as a dollar amiousaiotional account that grows with annual cetdased on pay, age and years of credited
service, and interest on the notional account lcalafhe Portable Pension Account benefit is payable lump sum or an annuity at
retirement at the election of the employee. The piéerest credit rate varies from year to yeaetam a U.S. Treasury index and corporate
bond rates. Prior to 2009, certain employees edseadfits using a traditional pension formula (loase average earnings and years of
service). Benefits under this formula were capped/iay 31, 2008 for most employees. We also spooisparticipate in nonqualified benefit
plans covering certain of our U.S. employee grams other pension plans covering certain of owarirdtional employees. The international
defined benefit pension plans provide benefits prim based on earnings and years of service anfuaded in compliance with local laws
and practices.

POSTRETIREMENT HEALTHCARE PLA. Certain of our subsidiaries offer medical, deatad vision coverage to eligible U.S. retirees
their eligible dependents. U.S. employees coveyeithé principal plan become eligible for these ignat age 55 and older, if they have
permanent, continuous service of at least 10 yafées attainment of age 45 if hired prior to Jayubr1988, or at least 20 years after
attainment of age 35 if hired on or after Januar{9B8. Postretirement healthcare benefits areathpp150% of the 1993 per capita proje
employer cost, which has been reached and, therdfaese benefits are not subject to additionakéuinflation.

PENSION PLAN ASSUMPTIONOur pension cost is materially affected by the alistt rate used to measure pension obligationdetiet of
plan assets available to fund those obligationstheexpected long-term rate of return on plantasse

We use a measurement date of May 31 for our pemsidrpostretirement healthcare plans. Managemeiaiws the assumptions used to
measure pension costs on an annual basis. Ecoamahimarket conditions at the measurement date intipage assumptions from year to
year. Actuarial gains or losses are generatedifanges in assumptions and to the extent that a@salts differ from those assumed. Th
actuarial gains and losses are amortized overtin@ining average service lives of our active emgesyif they exceed a corridor amount in
the aggregate.
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Weighted-average actuarial assumptions for ourgmm.S. retirement plans, which represent subisinall of our PBO and accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation (“APBQO”), arefaiows:

Pension Plan Postretirement Healthcare Ple
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Discount rate used to determine benefit obligation 4.6(% 4.7% 4.44% 4.7(% 4.91% 4.55%
Discount rate used to determine net periodic benefit 4.7¢ 4.44 5.7¢ 4.91 4.5t 5.67
Rate of increase in future compensation levels tsed
determine benefit obligatic 4.5¢€ 454 4.62 — — —
Rate of increase in future compensation levels tsed
determine net periodic benefit c« 4.54 4.62 4.5¢ — — —
Expected lon-term rate of return on asst 7.7 8.0C 8.0C — — —

The estimated average rate of return on plan asstite expected future long-term rate of earnmygplan assets and is a forward-looking
assumption that materially affects our pension.destablishing the expected future rate of investmeturn on our pension assets is a
judgmental matter. We review the expected -term rate of return on an annual basis and revasappropriate. Management considers the
following factors in determining this assumption:

» the duration of our pension plan liabilities, whittives the investment strategy we can employ withpension plan asse

» the types of investment classes in which we ingastpension plan assets and the expected comp@amdajric return we can
reasonably expect those investment classes tooearrtime; anc

» the investment returns we can reasonably expedhwastment management program to achieve in exafdbe returns we could
expect if investments were made strictly in indefkets.

Our expected long-term rate of return on plan asses 7.75% in 2014 and 8% in 2013 and 2012. Quaheturn in each of the past three
years exceeded those amounts for our principal db®estic pension plan. For 2014, we lowered opeeted return on plan ass
assumption for long-term returns on plan assetst6% as we refined our asset and liability managemstrategy. In lowering this
assumption we considered our historical returnsjrouestment strategy for our plan assets, inclgdire impacts of the duration of our plan
liability and the relatively low annual draw on plassets on that investment strategy. For the abperiod ended May 31, 2014, our actual
annual returns were 7%.

Pension expense is also affected by the accouptlicy used to determine the value of plan asgatseameasurement date. We use a
calculated-value method to determine the valudaf pssets, which helps mitigate short-term vatatih market performance (both increases
and decreases) by amortizing certain actuarialsgainosses over a period no longer than four yéarsther method used in practice applies
the market value of plan assets at the measuresagst For purposes of valuing plan assets for aeténg 2015 pension expense, the
calculated value method resulted in the same \adutee market value, as it did in 2014 and 2013.

The investment strategy for pension plan assétsuslize a diversified mix of global public andiyate equity portfolios, together with fixed-
income portfolios, to earn a lortgrm investment return that meets our pension pldigations. Our pension plan assets are invegiethply
in publicly tradeable securities, and our pensilamg hold only a minimal investment in FedEx commstatk that is entirely at the discretion
of third-party pension fund investment managers. l@ngest holding classes are Corporate Fixed Imc8ecurities and Government Fixed
Income Securities (which are largely benchmarkeairesg the Barclays Long Government/Long Corporatex), and U.S. Large Cap
Equities (which are mainly indexed to the S&P 50@dx). Accordingly, we do not have any significaahcentrations of risk. Active
management strategies are utilized within the plaan effort to realize investment returns in escesmarket indices. As part of our strategy
to manage pension costs and funded status volatilé have transitioned to a liability-driven int@ent strategy to better align plan assets
with liabilities. Our investment strategy also ndés the limited use of derivative financial instents on a discretionary basis to improve
investment returns and manage exposure to masketin all cases, our investment managers are lgitetlifrom using derivatives for
speculative purposes and are not permitted to egeadives to leverage a portfolio.
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Following is a description of the valuation methlmdpes used for investments measured at fair value:

Cash and cash equivalent¥hese Level 1 investments include cash, castvalgmts and foreign currency valued using exchange
rates. The Level 2 investments include commingledi$§ valued using the net asset va

Domestic, international and global equiti. These Level 1 investments are valued at thergjgsiice or last trade reported on the
major market on which the individual securities tiegled. The Level 2 investments are commingledsuralued using the net asset
value.

Private equity. The valuation of these Level 3 investments regugignificant judgment due to the absence of gumiarket prices, tt
inherent lack of liquidity and the long-term natefesuch assets. Investments are valued basedrapommendations of our
investment managers incorporating factors suctoasibutions and distributions, market transactjonarket comparables and
performance multiples

Fixed income. We determine the fair value of these Level 2 ocafe bonds, U.S. and non-U.S. government secudtid other fixed
income securities by using bid evaluation pricingdels or quoted prices of securities with similaamcteristics
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The fair values of investments by level and asattgory and the weighted-average asset allocaformir domestic pension plans at the
measurement date are presented in the followirlg tabmillions):

Asset Clas
Cash and cash equivalents
Equities
U.S. large cap equil
International equitie
Global equities
U.S. SMID cap equit
Private equitie:
Fixed income securitie
Corporate
Governmen
Mortgage backed and oth
Other

Asset Clas
Cash and cash equivalents
Equities
U.S. large cap equit
International equitie
U.S. SMID cap equit
Private equitie:
Fixed income securitie
Corporate
Governmen
Mortgage backed and oth
Other

Plan Assets at Measurement Dat
2014
Quoted Prices Other Observab Unobservabl

Target  Active Markets Inputs Inputs
Fair Value Actual % Range 9 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$ 31z 2% 0-5%$% 55 $ 25¢
35-5¢E
5,19¢ 24 55 5,141
2,652 12 2,20¢ 44¢
1,36 7 1,36
88¢€ 4 88¢€
27€ 1 $ 27€
45 - 65
5,75¢ 27 5,75¢
4,782 22 4,782
27¢ 1 27¢
(61 — (61
$ 21,44« 100% $ 3,141 $ 18,027 $ 27€
2013
Quoted Prices Other Observab Unobservabl
Target  Active Markets Inputs Inputs
Fair Value Actual % Range 9 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$ 45¢€ 2% 0-5%$% 15 $ 441
35-5¢E
5,26¢ 28 37 5,227
2,271 12 1,90¢ 367
1,741 9 1,741
332 2 $ 33z
45- 65
4,972 26 4,972
3,88¢ 20 3,88¢
20C 1 20C
(77) — (83 6
$ 19,04 100% $ 3,61¢ $ 15,10: $ 332

The change in fair value of Level 3 assets thatsigraficant unobservable inputs is shown in tHeedelow (in millions):

Balance at beginning of year
Actual return on plan asse
Assets held during current ye
Assets sold during the ye
Purchases, sales and settlem:

Balance at end of ye:

2014 2013
$332 402
17 (29)
53 55
(92) (96)
$ 27€ $ 33¢
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The following table provides a reconciliation oétbhanges in the pension and postretirement headthptans’ benefit obligations and fair
value of assets over the two-year period ended 31aY014 and a statement of the funded status Blawpf31, 2014 and 2013 (in millions):

Postretirement Healthcare

Pension Plan Plans
2014 2013 2014 2013

Accumulated Benefit Obligation (“ ABO”) $ 23,80 $ 21,95¢

Changes in Projected Benefit Obligation“PBQO”) and Accumulated
Postretirement Benefit Obligation (“APBQ”)

PBO/APBO at the beginning of ye $ 22,600 $ 22,18 $ 82t % 79C
Service cos 657 692 38 42
Interest cos 1,05¢ 96¢ 40 36
Actuarial loss (gain 1,021 (652) 5 ()]
Benefits paic (8017) (589) (62 (54)
Other 46 (6) 34 31

PBO/APBO at the end of ye $ 2457¢ $ 22,60 $ 88: $ 82¢

Change in Plan Assets

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of $ 19,43: $ 17,33¢ $ — 8 =
Actual return on plan asse 2,50¢ 2,081 — —
Company contribution 727 61% 28 27
Benefits paic (807) (589 (62 (59
Other 39 (8) 34 27

Fair value of plan assets at the end of ! $ 21,907 $ 19,43: $ — 8 —

Funded Status of the Plan: $ (2,670 $ (3,167 $ (889 $ (82¢)

Amount Recognized in the Balance Sheet at May 3
Noncurrent asse $ 5
Current pension, postretirement healthcare and bibreefit obligation: (41) $ (48) $ 41) 3 (39
Noncurrent pension, postretirement healthcare and

other benefit obligation (2,635 (3,119 (842) (789

Net amount recognize $ (2,670 $ (3,167 $ (88 % (82¢)

Amounts Recognized in AOCI and not yet reflected
in Net Periodic Benefit Cost:

Net actuarial loss (gait $ 6,63 $ 6,99 $ 2 % 4
Prior service (credit) cost and otf (670 (787) 1 2

Total $ 596: $ 6,21 $ 3 % (2

Amounts Recognized in AOCI and not yet reflectel
in Net Periodic Benefit Cost expected to be amort&d in next year’'s
Net Periodic Benefit Cost:

Net actuarial los $ 30C $ 37¢ % —  $ —
Prior service credit and oth (115) (114 — —
Total $ 185 $ 264 $ —  $ —

- 109-



Table of Contents

FEDEX CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Our pension plans included the following componentsiay 31 (in millions):

Fair Value o
PBO Plan Asset: Funded Statt
2014
Qualified $ 23,43¢ $ 21,444 $ (1,995
Nonqualified 28C — (280)
International Plan 85¢ 462 (3969
Total $ 24,57¢ $ 21,907 $ (2,679
2013
Qualified $ 21,53 $ 19,047 $ (2,48%)
Nonqualified 322 — (322
International Plan 74€ 38€ (360
Total $ 22,60( $ 19,43: $ (3,169

The table above provides the PBO, fair value offi glasets and funded status of our pension plaas aggregated basis. The following table
presents our plans on a disaggregated basis to thloae plans (as a group) whose assets did not@xbeir liabilities. These plans are
comprised of our unfunded nonqualified plans, ¢eritsternational plans and our U.S. Pension Pl&hs.fair value of plan assets for pension
plans with a PBO or ABO in excess of plan assekdat 31 were as follows (in millions):

PBO Exceeds the Fair Value
of Plan Asset:

2014 2013
Pension Benefits
Fair value of plan asse $ 21,54 $ 19,43
PBO (24,219 (22,600
Net funded statu $ (2,676 $ (3,169

ABO Exceeds the Fair Value
of Plan Asset:

2014 2013
Pension Benefits
ABO @ $ (23,44) $ (21,930
Fair value of plan asse 21,54 19,40
PBO (24,21%) (22,57()
Net funded statu $ (2,676 $ (3,166

@ ABO not used in determination of funded sta
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Contributions to our U.S. Pension Plans for theyeaded May 31 were as follows (in millions):

2014 2013
Required $ 64E $ 56(
Voluntary 15 —
$ _ 66C $  56C

For 2015, we anticipate making required contritngito our U.S. Pension Plans totaling approximek&B0 million.

Net periodic benefit cost for the three years erdag 31 were as follows (in millions

Pension Plan Postretirement Healthcare Plans

2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Service cost $ 657 $ 692 $ 59: $ 38 $ 42 $ 35
Interest cos 1,05¢ 96¢ 97¢€ 40 36 3€
Expected return on plan ass (1,499 (1,389 (1,240 — — —
Recognized actuarial losses (gains) and 267 40z 19t — — (1)
Net periodic benefit co: $ 484 $ 67¢ $ 524 $ 78 $ 78 $ 7C

Amounts recognized in OCI for all plans for the ige@nded May 31 were as follows (in millions):

2014 2013

Postretirement Postretirement

Pension Plan Healthcare Plan Pension Plan Healthcare Plan
Net of Taw Net of Taw Net of Taw Net of Taw

Gross Gross Gross Gross

Amount  Amount Amouni Amount Amouni Amount Amouni  Amount

Net (gain) loss and other arising during pel $ 7% 8 $ 5% 3 $(1,350 $ 840 $ @17 $ (22)
Amortizations:

Prior services cred 11& 69 — — 114 66 — —
Actuarial losses and oth (382 (237) — — (51€) (297) — —
Total recognized in OC $ (260$ (159 $ 5 % 3$(1, 759 % (1,07)% (179 $ (23
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Benefit payments, which reflect expected futureise; are expected to be paid as follows for trEryending May 31 (millions):

Postretirement

Pension Plar Healthcare Plal
2015 $ 912 $ 41
2016 87C 42
2017 954 44
2018 1,01¢ 45
2019 1,12(C 46
202(-2024 7,39¢ 267

These estimates are based on assumptions abougt éwtents. Actual benefit payments may vary sigaiftly from these estimates.

Future medical benefit claims costs are estimateéddrease at an annual rate of 7.5% during 204&edsing to an annual growth rate of
4.5% in 2029 and thereafter. A 1% change in theseal trend rates would not have a significant iotwa the APBO at May 31, 2014 or
2014 benefit expense because the level of thesefitseis capped.

NOTE 14: BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

FedEx Express, FedEx Ground and FedEx Freightsept@ur major service lines and, along with Fe8Ewvices, form the core of our
reportable segments. Our reportable segments iet¢healfollowing businesses:

FedEx Express Segmer FedEx Express (express transportat
FedEx Trade Networks (air and ocean freight fonvay@dnd customs brokerag
FedEx SupplyChain Systems (logistics servit

FedEx Ground Segment FedEx Ground (smépackage ground deliver
FedEx SmartPost (sm-parcel consolidatol
FedEx Freight Segmen FedEx Freight (LTL freight transportatio
FedEx Custom Ciritical (tin-critical transportation
FedEx Services Segment FedEx Services (sales, marketing, information teldgy, communications and back-office
functions)

FedEx TechConnect (customer service, technical@tpillings and collections
FedEx Office (document and business services ackbga acceptanc

FedEx Services Segme

The FedEx Services segment operates combined saelseting, administrative and information techmgyidunctions in shared services
operations that support our transportation busegsasd allow us to obtain synergies from the coatlon of these functions. For the
international regions of FedEx Express, some dfdtfanctions are performed on a regional basisda\Ek Express and reported in the FedEx
Express segment in their natural expense line itdims FedEx Services segment includes: FedEx Serwehich provides sales, marketing,
information technology, communications and certaok-office support to our other companies; FedEx Tecir@at, which is responsible 1
customer service, technical support, billings aoliections for U.S. customers of our major busingsiss; and FedEx Office, which provides
an array of document and business services arnitlaetass to our customers for our package tratsiian businesses.
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The FedEx Services segment provides direct andeicidsupport to our transportation businessesyandllocate all of the net operating costs
of the FedEx Services segment (including the netaiing results of FedEx Office) to reflect thd fidst of operating our transportation
businesses in the results of those segments. WithiredEx Services segment allocation, the natatipg results of FedEx Office, which are
an immaterial component of our allocations, arecated to FedEx Express and FedEx Ground. We realevaluate the performance of
our transportation segments based on operatingnadmclusive of FedEx Services segment allocajidrsr the FedEx Services segment,
performance is evaluated based on the impact tdtas allocated net operating costs on our trariation segments.

Operating expenses for each of our transportaggments include the allocations from the FedEx iBesvsegment to the respective
transportation segments. These allocations aldodacharges and credits for administrative sesvmevided between operating companies
and certain other costs such as corporate managéeesrelated to services received for genergdarate oversight, including executive
officers and certain legal and finance functionse Bllocations of net operating costs are basedetirics such as relative revenues or
estimated services provided. We believe theseatllmts approximate the net cost of providing tifesetions and our allocation
methodologies are refined as necessary to refleniges in our businesses.

Other Intersegment Transactions

Certain FedEx operating companies provide tranapiort and related services for other FedEx comgami¢side their reportable segment.

Billings for such services are based on negotiedézs, which we believe approximate fair value, arareflected as revenues of the billing
segment. These rates are adjusted from time toliaeed on market conditions. Such intersegmenttegand expenses are eliminated in
our consolidated results and are not separatehtiféb in the following segment information, besaitthe amounts are not material.
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The following table provides a reconciliation opogtable segment revenues, depreciation and aratotiz operating income and segment
assets to consolidated financial statement totalthe years ended or as of May 31 (in millions):

FedEx FedEx FedEx FedEx Consolidate
Express Ground Freight Services  Other and
Segmen® Segmen®) Segmen® Segment Elimination: Total

Revenue!
2014 $27,12: $11,61° $ 5,75 $ 1,53 $ (469 $45,56°
2013 27,17: 10,57¢ 5,401 1,58( (449) 44,28
2012 26,51t 9,57:¢ 5,28: 1,671 (367) 42,68(
Depreciation and amortizatic
2014 $ 1,48t $ 46! $ 23 $ 39 $ : $ 2,58
2013 1,35(C 434 217 384 1 2,38¢
2012 1,16¢ 38¢ 18t 36¢ 1 2,11z
Operating incom
2014 $ 1,17: $ 1,95! $ 3L $ — $ — $ 3,44¢
2013 55E 1,78¢ 20¢ — — 2,551
2012 1,26( 1,764 162 — — 3,18¢
Segment asse®
2014 $19,90: $ 8,46t $ 3,21 $ 5,18t $ (3,699 $33,07!
2013 18,93t 7,35¢ 2,95 4,87¢ (559 33,567
2012 17,98: 6,15¢ 2,801 4,54¢ (1,585 29,90

@ FedEx Express segment 2013 operating expensesi@$i05 million of direct and allocated businesdigament costs and an

impairment charge of $100 million resulting frone ttecision to retire 10 aircraft and related engiff@dEx Express segment 2012
operating expenses include an impairment chargd ® million resulting from the decision to retité aircraft and related engines and a
reversal of a $66 million legal reserve that wasally recorded in 2011

@ FedEx Ground segment 2013 operating expenses m@Ll@5 million of allocated business realignmersts:

@ FedEx Freight segment 2013 operating expensegd@d@B0 million in direct and allocated businesdigaanent costs

@ Segment assets include intercompany receiva
The following table provides a reconciliation opogtable segment capital expenditures to conse@l@tdtals for the years ended May 31 (in
millions):

FedEx FedEx FedEx FedEx Consolidate
Express Ground Freight Services
Segment Segment Segment Segment Other Total
2014 $ 1,99« $ 85( $ 32t $ 368 $ 1 $ 3,53
2013 2,067 55¢ 32¢ 424 3 3,37t
2012 2,68¢ 53¢ 34C 437 5 4,007

-114-



Table of Contents

FEDEX CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

The following table presents revenue by service igpd geographic information for the years endegsaf May 31 (in millions):

REVENUE BY SERVICE TYPE

2014 2013 2012
FedEx Express segme
Package
U.S. overnight bo; $ 6,55¢ $ 6,51 $ 6,54¢
U.S. overnight envelog 1,63¢€ 1,70t 1,745
U.S. deferrec 3,18¢ 3,02( 3,001
Total U.S. domestic package rever 11,37¢ 11,23¢ 11,29
International priority 6,451 6,58¢ 6,84¢
International econom 2,22¢ 2,04¢ 1,85¢
Total international export package revel 8,68( 8,63 8,70¢
International domesti® 1,44¢ 1,39¢ 852
Total package revent 21,50¢ 21,26¢ 20,85t
Freight:
u.s. 2,35¢ 2,562 2,49¢
International priority 1,59¢ 1,67¢ 1,82
International airfreigh 20E 27€ 307
Total freight revenu 4,15¢ 451¢ 4,63
Other® 1,462 1,38 1,02¢
Total FedEx Express segme 27,12: 27,17 26,51t
FedEx Ground segmer
FedEx Grounc 10,63¢ 9,652 8,791
FedEx SmartPo: 983 92€ 782
Total FedEx Ground segme 11,617 10,57¢ 9,57:
FedEx Freight segme 5,75i 5,401 5,28
FedEx Services segme 1,53¢ 1,58( 1,671
Other and elimination (464) (443) (3617)

$ 45,56 $ 44,28 $ 42,68(

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION @

Revenues

u.S. $ 32,90: $ 31,55( $ 29,837

International.
FedEx Express segme 12,27 12,357 12,37(
FedEx Ground segme 24¢ 234 21¢€
FedEx Freight segme 13C 112 101
FedEx Services segme 14 34 15€
Total international revent 12,66¢ 12,73 12,84

$ 45,56 $ 44,28 $ 42,68(

Noncurrent asset
U.S. $ 20,65¢ $ 19,637 $ 18,87
Internationa 2,72¢ 2,65¢ 1,97

$ 23,38 $ 22,29: $ 20,84
International domestic revenues represent ournat&mal intra-country express operations, inclgdinuntries such as Mexico and
Brazil.
Includes FedEx Trade Networks and FedEx SupplyC&gstems

International revenue includes shipments that eithiginate in or are destined to locations outsfdeUnited States. Noncurrent assets
include property and equipment, goodwill and otbag-term assets. Our flight equipment is registenethe U.S. and is included as U.S.
assets; however, many of our aircraft operatenatéwnally.

(€3]

@
®
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NOTE 15: SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid for interest expense and income taxdabdoyears ended May 31 was as follows (in milljons

2014 2013 2012

Cash payments fo

Interest (net of capitalized intere $131 $ 8C $ 52
Income taxe: $ 82 $ 687 $ 402
Income tax refunds receiv (54) (219) (146)
Cash tax payments, n $76€ $ 46€ $ 257

NOTE 16: GUARANTEES AND INDEMNIFICATIONS

In conjunction with certain transactions, primatife lease, sale or purchase of operating asssteyvices in the ordinary course of business,
we may provide routine guarantees or indemnificegi@e.g., environmental, fuel, tax and softwarengement), the terms of which range in
duration, and often they are not limited and havepecified maximum obligation. As a result, themai maximum potential amount of the
obligation under such guarantees and indemnifinat@annot be reasonably estimated. Historicallyhawee not been required to make
significant payments under our guarantee or indfoation obligations and no amounts have been néized in our financial statements for
the underlying fair value of these obligations.

Special facility revenue bonds have been issuetkehtain municipalities primarily to finance the aition and construction of various
airport facilities and equipment. These facilitvesre leased to us and are accounted for as opgiatines. FedEx Express has unconditiol
guaranteed $528 million in principal of these bo(wiith total future principal and interest paymeotapproximately $649 million as of
May 31, 2014) through these leases.

NOTE 17: COMMITMENTS

Annual purchase commitments under various contectsf May 31, 2014 were as follows (in millions):

Aircraft and Total
Aircraft Relate! Othel®)
2015 $ 1,14 $ 1,19 $ 2,34
2016 1,24¢ 274 1,52
2017 95€ 12z 1,07¢
2018 1,36¢ 58 1,42¢
2019 85¢ 19 87¢
Thereaftel 4,49¢ 101 4,59¢
Total $ 10,07 $ 1,77, $ 11,84

@ Primarily equipment, advertising contracts and@i%2, approximately $580 million of quarterly cobtrtions to our U.S. Pension Pla
The amounts reflected in the table above for puselt@mmmitments represent noncancelable agreenogpiisdhase goods or services. As of
May 31, 2014, our obligation to purchase four Bgeie7-300 Freighter (“B767F") aircraft and nine BFaircraft is conditioned upon there
being no event that causes FedEx Express or ittogegs not to be covered by the Railway Labor Ad326, as amended. Commitments to
purchase aircraft in passenger configuration ddmadtide the attendant costs to modify these diréma cargo transport unless we have
entered into noncancelable commitments to modighsircraft. Open purchase orders that are canleedab not considered unconditional
purchase obligations for financial reporting pugmand are not included in the table above.

-116-



Table of Contents

FEDEX CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

We have several aircraft modernization programsomdy which are supported by the purchase of B7B767F and Boeing 757 (“B757")
aircraft. These aircraft are significantly morelfe#ficient per unit than the aircraft types prawsty utilized, and these expenditures are
necessary to achieve significant long-term opegagavings and to replace older aircraft. Our abibtdelay the timing of these aircraft-
related expenditures is limited without incurringrsficant costs to modify existing purchase agreata. During 2014, FedEx Express enti
into an agreement with The Boeing Company for tinelpase of two B767F aircraft, the delivery of whigill occur in 2016 and 2017. Fed
Express also deferred 11 existing options to puwelavy77F aircraft by two years. Additionally in 20ve entered into supplemental
agreements to purchase 16 B757 option aircrafaumtsto an agreement originally entered into in dWa2013, the delivery of which began in
2014 and will continue through 2015.

We had $396 million in deposits and progress paysas of May 31, 2014 on aircraft purchases andrgitanned aircraft-related
transactions. These deposits are classified ifiQiieer assets” caption of our consolidated balateets. In addition to our commitment to
purchase B777Fs and B767Fs, our aircraft purchasenitments include the B757 aircraft in passengefiguration, which will require
additional costs to modify for cargo transport.chaft and aircraft-related contracts are subjeqirice escalations. The following table is a
summary of the key aircraft we are committed tochase as of May 31, 2014, with the year of expedédidery:

B757 B767F B777F Total

2015 1z 12 — 25
2016 — 11 2 13
2017 — 11 — 11
2018 — 10 2 12
2019 — 4 2 6
Thereaftel — — 12 12
Total 13 4% 1¢ 7¢

NOTE 18: CONTINGENCIES

Wage-and-HourWe are a defendant in a number of lawsuits comtgimarious class-action allegations of wage-and-kinlations. The
plaintiffs in these lawsuits allege, among othéndb, that they were forced to work “off the cldckiere not paid overtime or were not
provided work breaks or other benefits. The conmidagenerally seek unspecified monetary damagjesditive relief, or both. We do not
believe that a material loss is reasonably possifilerespect to any of these matters.

Independent Contractc— Lawsuits and State Administrative Proceedifg@slEx Ground is involved in numerous class-actavsbits
(including 26 that have been certified as claswas}, individual lawsuits and state tax and otm@dministrative proceedings that claim that
company’s owner-operators should be treated asoy@@s, rather than independent contractors.

Most of the class-action lawsuits were consoliddteddministration of the pre-trial proceedingsabgingle federal court, the U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of Indiana. The midilstrict litigation court granted class certiftaa in 28 cases and denied it in 14 cases. On
December 13, 2010, the court entered an opinioroathel addressing all outstanding motions for surgmadgment on the status of the
owner-operators (i.e., independent contractor vgleyee). In sum, the court has now ruled on ommeary judgment motions and entered
judgment in favor of FedEx Ground on all claim®of the 28 multidistrict litigation cases thatitzeen certified as class actions, find

that the owner-operators in those cases were @otsaas a matter of the
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law of 20 states. The plaintiffs filed notices ppaal in all of these 20 cases. The Seventh Cihaatd the appeal in the Kansas case in
January 2012 and, in July 2012, issued an opiriandid not make a determination with respect ¢odbrrectness of the district court’s
decision and, instead, certified two questionhoKansas Supreme Court related to the classditati the plaintiffs as independent
contractors under the Kansas Wage Payment ActKaineas Supreme Court heard oral argument on Nowemi2€13. The other 19 cases
that are before the Seventh Circuit remain staysling a decision of the Kansas Supreme Court.

The multidistrict litigation court remanded the etleight certified class actions back to the distourts where they were originally filed
because its summary judgment ruling did not coreptatispose of all of the claims in those lawsulistee of those cases are now on appeal
with the Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit,chane is on appeal with the Court of Appeals fer Bteventh Circuit. The other four remain
pending in their respective district courts, buethof these four matters have been settled forataral amounts. The courts have granted
final approval of two of the three settlements, leltthe other settlement remains subject to coytayal.

While the granting of summary judgment in favoF@dEx Ground by the multidistrict litigation coumt20 of the 28 cases that had been
certified as class actions remains subject to dppesabelieve that it significantly improves thkdlihood that our independent contractor
model will be upheld. Adverse determinations in texatrelated to FedEx Ground'’s independent comtrachowever, could, among other
things, entitle certain of our owner-operators #rar drivers to the reimbursement of certain exesrand to the benefit of wage-and-hour
laws and result in employment and withholding tag aenefit liability for FedEx Ground, and couldué in changes to the independent
contractor status of FedEx Ground’'s owner-operatocgrtain jurisdictions. We believe that FedExo@rd’'s owner-operators are properly
classified as independent contractors and that ¥&iBund is not an employer of the drivers of thenpanys independent contractors. Wt
it is reasonably possible that potential loss ims®f these lawsuits or such changes to the indigmercontractor status of FedEx Ground’s
owneroperators could be material, we cannot yet detegria amount or reasonable range of potential Fossimber of factors contribute
this. The number of plaintiffs in these lawsuiteiioues to change, with some being dismissed ametetbeing added and, as to new
plaintiffs, discovery is still ongoing. In additipthe parties have conducted only very limited oy into damages, which could vary
considerably from plaintiff to plaintiff. Furthethe range of potential loss could be impacted dmmably by future rulings on the merits of
certain claims and FedEx Ground’s various defersas$,on evidentiary issues. In any event, we ddal¢ve that a material loss is probable
in these matters.

In addition, we are defending contractor-model sdbat are not or are no longer part of the mdtidit litigation, two of which have been
certified as class actions. These certified clatism@s were settled for immaterial amounts in fh& fjuarter of 2014 and have received final
court approval. The other cases are in varyingestaq litigation, and we do not expect to incur @enial loss in any of these matters.

City and State of New York Cigarette SOih December 30, 2013, the City of New York filedt sigainst FedEx Express and FedEx Ground
arising from our alleged shipments of cigaretteSléav York City residents. The claims against Fe@&press were subsequently dismissed.
On March 30, 2014, the complaint was amended adtim@tate of New York as a plaintiff. Beyond theliéion of the State as a plaintiff, the
amended complaint contains several amplificatidrth@® previous claims. First, the claims now relatéour shippers, none of which
continues to ship in our network. Second, the aradr@mplaint contains a count for violation of tk&surance of Compliance (“AOC”) we
had previously entered into with the State of NewvKY claiming that since 2006, FedEx has made séipisnof cigarettes to residences in
New York in violation of the AOC. Lastly, the amendnt contains new theories of Racketeer InfluercetiCorrupt Organizations A
violations. In May 2014, we filed a motion to diswmialmost all of the claims. Loss in this matteeesonably possible, but the amount of any
loss is expected to be immaterial.

Environmental Matter<SEC regulations require disclosure of certain emritental matters when a governmental authoritypiarty to the
proceedings and the proceedings involve potentimlatary sanctions that management reasonably bslsuld exceed $100,000.
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In February 2014, FedEx Ground received oral conications from District Attorneys’ Offices (reprediry California’s county
environmental authorities) and the California Attey Genera$ Office (representing the California Division afxic Substances Control) tt
they were seeking civil penalties for alleged Miolas of the state’s hazardous waste regulatiopsciBcally, the California environmental
authorities alleged that FedEx Ground improperlyegates and/or handles, stores and transportsdoasawaste from its stations to its hubs
in California. In April 2014, FedEx Ground fileddeclaratory judgment action in the United Statestriait Court for the Eastern District of
California against the Director of the CaliforniaviBion of Toxic Substances Control and the coubistrict Attorneys with whom we have
been negotiating. In June 2014, the California ity General filed a complaint against FedEx Graanslacramento County Superior Court
alleging violations of FedEx Ground as describeolvab The County District Attorneys filed a simitaymplaint in Sacramento County
Superior Court in July 2014. Loss in this mattereiasonably possible, however, the amount of asy ilmexpected to be immaterial.

On January 14, 2014, the U.S. Department of Jugtiz®J”) issued a Grand Jury Subpoena to FedEx &grelating to an asbestos matter
previously investigated by the U.S. Environmentalt€ction Agency. On May 1, 2014, the DOJ informisdhat it had determined to
continue to pursue the matter as a criminal casegseven asbestos-related regulatory violatessociated with removal of roof materials
from a hangar in Puerto Rico during cleaning améireactivity, as well as violation of waste dispbsequirements. Loss is reasonably
possible, however, the amount of any loss is exgokitt be immaterial.

Other Mattersln August 2010, a third-party consultant who workth shipping customers to negotiate lower ratkesifa lawsuit in federal
district court in California against FedEx and @ditParcel Service, Inc. (“UPS") alleging violatiarfsU.S. antitrust law. This matter was
dismissed in May 2011, but the court granted tlaenfiff permission to file an amended complaint,ethFedEx received in June 2011. In
November 2011, the court granted our motion to d@isrthis complaint, but again allowed the plaintiffile an amended complaint. T
plaintiff filed a new complaint in December 201hdahe matter remains pending before the coufeelruary 2011, shortly after the initial
lawsuit was filed, we received a demand for thedpobion of information and documents in connectidth a civil investigation by the DOJ
into the policies and practices of FedEx and URSIéaling with third-party consultants who work vggthipping customers to negotiate lower
rates. In November 2012, the DOJ served a civiéstigative demand on the third-party consultankisgeall pleadings, depositions and
documents produced in the lawsuit. We are coopeyatith the investigation, do not believe that veardn engaged in any anti-competitive
activities and will vigorously defend ourselvesaimy action that may result from the investigatMfile the litigation proceedings and the
DOJ investigation move forward, and the amounbe$] if any, is dependent on a number of factasate not yet fully developed or
resolved, the amount of any loss is expected tionbeaterial.

We have received requests for information fromDia®J in the Northern District of California in corat®n with a criminal investigation
relating to the transportation of packages forrmlpharmacies that may have shipped pharmaceuduiticalslation of federal law. We
responded to grand jury subpoenas issued in JW& & August 2009 and to periodic subsequent stgjfer additional information related
to those subpoenas, and we continue to respondaarate with the investigation. We believe thatemployees have acted in good fait

all times. We do not believe that we have engagehy illegal activities and will vigorously defendrselves in any action that may result
from the investigation. The investigation may léa@ criminal indictment and, if we are convictegimedies could include fines, penalties,
financial forfeiture and compliance conditions. \é&not estimate the amount or range of loss, if aspuch analysis would depend on facts
and law that are not yet fully developed or resgdlve

On June 30, 2014, we received a Statement of Qdijesctrom the French Competition Authority (“FCAdjldressed to FedEx Express Fra
formerly known as TATEX, regarding an investigatlmnthe FCA into anticompetitive behavior thatlieged to have occurred primarily in
the framework of trade association meetings thatiged the former general managers of TATEX proodr acquisition of that company in
July 2012. Given the early stage of this mattercenrenot yet determine the amount or range of piaidoss; however, it is reasonably
possible that it could be material.

FedEx and its subsidiaries are subject to othel lggpceedings that arise in the ordinary courgheif business. In the opinion of
management, the aggregate liability, if any, wébpect to these other actions will not have a nizdtgdverse effect on our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

NOTE 19: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offieeederick W. Smith, currently holds an approxiend®% ownership interest in the
National Football League Washington Redskins psifesl football team and is a member of its bodrdir@ctors. FedEx has a mi-year
naming rights agreement with Washington Footba#t, granting us certain marketing rights, includihg right to name the stadium where
team plays and other events are held “FedExField.”
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NOTE 20: SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY OPERATING RESULTS (UN AUDITED)

First Second Third Fourth

(in millions, except per share amour Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2014

Revenue: $ 11,02« $ 11,40: $ 11,30: $ 11,83¢
Operating incom 79t 827 641 1,18¢
Net income 48¢ 50C 37¢ 73C
Basic earnings per common sh® 1.54 1.5¢ 1.24 2.4¢
Diluted earnings per common shi® 1.52 1.57 1.2 2.4¢€
2013®@

Revenue! $ 10,79: $ 11,10° $ 10,95! $ 11,43t
Operating incom: 742 71€ 58¢ 502
Net income 45¢ 43¢ 361 30z
Basic earnings per common sh® 1.4¢ 1.3¢ 1.14 0.9¢
Diluted earnings per common shi® 1.4F 1.3¢ 1.1z 0.9t

" The sum of the quarterly earnings per share magaual annual amounts due to differences in thghted-average number of shares

outstanding during the respective peric

@ The fourth quarter of 2013 includes $496 milliorbofiness realignment costs and an impairment etafr§i100 million resulting from

the decision to retire 10 aircraft and related pegiat FedEx Express. The third quarter of 201Bidies $47 million of business
realignment costs. The second quarter of 2013 dedi$13 million of business realignment cc
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NOTE 21: CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL STATEMEN TS

We are required to present condensed consolidftiagcial information in order for the subsidianyagantors (other than FedEx Express) of
our public debt to continue to be exempt from répgrunder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934raended.

The guarantor subsidiaries, which are wholly owbhgdredEx, guarantee $4.5 billion of our debt. Thargntees are full and unconditional
and joint and several. Our guarantor subsidiarieewot determined using geographic, service liratteer similar criteria, and as a result,
“Guarantor Subsidiaries” and “Non-guarantor Sulasids” columns each include portions of our doneestid international operations.
Accordingly, this basis of presentation is not mted to present our financial condition, resultsdrations or cash flows for any purpose
other than to comply with the specific requiremdotssubsidiary guarantor reporting.

-121-



Table of Contents

FEDEX CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Condensed consolidating financial statements folgoarantor subsidiaries and non-guarantor subidiare presented in the following

tables (in millions):

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSET¢
Cash and cash equivalel
Receivables, less allowanc
Spare parts, supplies, fuel, prepaid expenses thed, (
less allowance
Deferred income taxe

Total current asse

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, AT COS
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize
Net property and equipme

INTERCOMPANY RECEIVABLE
GOODWILL

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
OTHER ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' INVESTMENT
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current portion of lon-term debt

Accrued salaries and employee bene

Accounts payabl

Accrued expense

Total current liabilities

LONG-TERM DEBT, LESS CURRENT PORTIO
INTERCOMPANY PAYABLE
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Deferred income taxe
Other liabilities
Total other lon-term liabilities
STOCKHOLDER¢ INVESTMENT

May 31, 2014
Non-
Guarantor guarantor

Parent Subsidiarie Subsidiarie Eliminations Consolidate
$ 1,75¢ $ 441 $ 861 $ (250) $ 2,90¢
2 4,33¢ 1,151 (31) 5,46(
59 674 60 — 79z
— 501 21 — 522
1,81 5,95¢ 2,09:¢ (181) 9,68:
28 38,30: 2,36( — 40,69:
22 19,89¢ 1,22( — 21,14
6 18,40 1,14( — 19,55(
— 1,05¢ 1,26¢ (2,329 —
— 1,55z 1,23¢ — 2,79(
20,78t 3,75¢4 — (24,539 —
2,08¢ 747 25C (2,039 1,047
$ 24,69¢ $ 31,46¢ $ 5,98¢ $ (29,081 $ 33,07(
$ — $ 1 $ — $ — $ 1
55 1,04: 18C — 1,277
2 1,53( 62C (181) 1,971
40E 1,444 214 — 2,06:
462 4,015 1,01« (1817) 5,312
4,487 24¢ — — 4,73¢
2,32¢ — — (2,329 —
— 4,05¢ 93 (2,03¢) 2,11
2,147 3,23( 254 — 5,631
2,147 7,28¢ 347 (2,03¢) 7,74¢F
15,27 19,91« 4,62 (24,539 15,27
$ 24,69¢ $ 31,46¢ $ 5,98¢ $ (29,08) $ 33,07(
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSET¢
Cash and cash equivalel
Receivables, less allowanc

Spare parts, supplies, fuel, prepaid expense

other, less allowance
Deferred income taxe

Total current asse

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, AT COS
Less accumulated depreciation and amortizi

Net property and equipme

INTERCOMPANY RECEIVABLE
GOODWILL

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
OTHER ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’
INVESTMENT

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current portion of lon-term debt
Accrued salaries and employee bene
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense

Total current liabilities

LONG-TERM DEBT, LESS CURRENT
PORTION
INTERCOMPANY PAYABLE
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Deferred income taxe
Other liabilities
Total other lon-term liabilities
STOCKHOLDER¢ INVESTMENT

May 31, 2013
Non-
Guarantor guarantor

Parent Subsidiarie Subsidiarie Eliminations Consolidate
$ 3,892 $ 40t $ 717 $ (97) $ 4,917
— 3,98¢ 1,08¢ (29 5,04«
45 681 54 — 78C
— 51¢ 15 — 53¢
3,937 5,59: 1,87( (12€) 11,27
27 35,91¢ 2,167 — 38,10¢
21 18,46¢ 1,13¢ — 19,62¢
6 17,44¢ 1,03 — 18,48¢
— 43¢ 1,20: (1,647 —
— 1,552 1,20: — 2,75k
18,73¢ 3,34 — (22,08¢) —
2,187 822 191 (2,146 1,05¢
$ 24,86 $ 29,19¢ $ 5,49¢ $ (26,000 $ 33,56
$ 25C $ 1 $ — $ — $ 251
82 1,40¢ 204 — 1,68¢
4 1,39 60¢ (12€) 1,87¢
35E 1,36¢ 211 — 1,932
691 4,161 1,02¢ (12€) 5,75(
2,48¢ 25C — — 2,73¢
1,64z — — (1,642 —
— 3,79¢ — (2,146 1,652
2,64¢ 3,13: 24¢ — 6,02¢
2,64¢ 6,931 24¢ (2,146 7,68(
17,39¢ 17,857 4,22¢ (22,08¢) 17,39¢
$ 24,86¢ $ 29,19¢ $ 5,49¢ $ (26,000 $ 33,56
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVECOME

REVENUES

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and employee bene
Purchased transportati
Rentals and landing fe:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Fuel
Maintenance and repai
Intercompany charges, r
Other

OPERATING INCOME

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Equity in earnings of subsidiari
Interest, ne
Intercompany charges, r
Other, ne

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES

Provision for income taxe
NET INCOME

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REVENUES

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and employee bene
Purchased transportati
Rentals and landing fe:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Fuel
Maintenance and repai
Business realignment, impairment and other

charges
Intercompany charges, r
Other

OPERATING INCOME

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Equity in earnings of subsidiari
Interest, ne
Intercompany charges, r
Other, ne

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES
Provision for income taxe

Year Ended May 31, 2014

Non-
Guarantor guarantor
Parent Subsidiarie Subsidiarie Eliminations Consolidate
$ — $ 38,08t $ 7,82( $ (341) $ 45,56
99 14,30: 2,15: — 16,55¢
— 5,37¢ 2,79¢ (159 8,011
5 2,28: 34C (5) 2,622
1 2,37¢ 207 — 2,581
— 4,46( 97 — 4,557
1 1,73¢ 127 — 1,86%
(209) (125) 334 — —
103 4,82: 1,17¢ (177) 5,927
— 35,23( 7,232 (341) 42,12
— 2,85¢ 58¢ — 3,44¢
2,097 411 — (2,509 —
(167) 1€ 9 — (142)
172 (199 22 — —
® (14 4 — (19
2,097 3,07 62< (2,509 3,28¢
— 1,00¢ 18¢€ — 1,197
$ 2,09 $ 2,07t $ 43E $ (2,509 $ 2,097
$ 2,251 $ 2,07: $ 40€ $ (2,509 $ 2,22
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVECOME
Year Ended May 31, 2013
Non-
Guarantor guarantor

Parent Subsidiarie Subsidiarie Eliminations Consolidate
$ — $ 37,07 $ 7,54: $ (329) $ 44,28
103 14,37¢ 2,097 — 16,57(
— 4,83¢ 2,57¢ (147 7,272
5 2,19¢ 324 (6) 2,521
1 2,20( 18t — 2,38¢
— 4,65( 96 — 4,74¢
1 1,791 117 — 1,90¢
21 63¢ — — 66C
(227) (329 55¢€ — —
96 4 56¢ 1,192 (182) 5,67
— 34,92¢ 7,137 (329 41,73¢
— 2,14¢ 40€ — 2,551
1,561 25¢ — (1,819 —
(108) 42 5 — (62)
113 (131 18 — —
©) (20) (10 — (39
1,561 2,28¢ 41¢ (1,819 2,45k
— 71C 184 — 894
$ 1,56 $ 1,57¢ $ 23t $ (1,819 $ 1,561

NET INCOME



COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $ 2,62 $ 1,61¢ $ 26¢€ $ (1,819 $ 2,69¢
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVECOME (LOSS)
Year Ended May 31, 2012

Non-
Guarantor guarantor
Parent Subsidiarie Subsidiarie Eliminations Consolidate
REVENUES $ — $ 36,41 $ 6,56¢ $ (303) $ 42,68(
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and employee bene 114 14,15 1,832 — 16,09¢
Purchased transportati — 4,50¢ 1,94¢ (118) 6,33¢
Rentals and landing fe: 5 2,221 267 (6) 2,48
Depreciation and amortizatic 1 1,96: 15C — 2,11:
Fuel — 4,871 79 — 4,95¢
Maintenance and repai 1 1,882 97 — 1,98(
Business realignment, impairment and othe
charges — 134 — — 134
Intercompany charges, r (21¢) (323 541 — —
Other 97 4,482 98¢ (177) 5,39(
— 33,891 5,89¢ (307) 39,49
OPERATING INCOME — 2,51¢ 671 — 3,18¢
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Equity in earnings of subsidiari 2,032 39t — (2,427) —
Interest, ne (75) 31 5 — (39
Intercompany charges, r 80 (202 22 — —
Other, ne’ (5) (10) 9 — (6)
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 2,032 2,82¢ 707 (2,427) 3,141
Provision for income taxe — 87E 234 — 1,10¢
NET INCOME $ 2,03 $ 1,954 $ 473 $ (2,427) $ 2,032
COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOMI $ (120 $ 1,79¢ $ 38C $ (2,427) $ (37))
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditure
Business acquisition, net of cash acqu
Proceeds from asset dispositions and ¢

CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net transfers from (to) Pare
Payment on loan between subsidia
Intercompany dividend
Principal payments on de
Proceeds from debt issuar
Proceeds from stock issuant

Excess tax benefit on the exercise of stock

options
Dividends paic
Purchase of treasury sto
Other, ne
CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢
Net (decrease) increase in cash and
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

Year Ended May 31, 2014

Non-

Guarantor guarantor

Parent Subsidiarie Subsidiarie
$ (8 $ 3,79( $ 53E
@ (3,230 (302)

_ (36) _
— 37 (19
Q) (3,229 (32))
58¢€ (54€) (42

— (4) 4
— 54 (54)

(250 4) —
1,991 — —
557 — —

44 — —

(187) — —
(4,857 — —
(19 (16) 16
(2,129 (51€) (76)
— ) 6
(2,136 36 144
3,897 40E 717

$ 1,75¢€ $ 441 $ 861
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Consolidate

$ (59

$ 4,26¢

(3,539
(36)
18

(3,551)

(254)
1,997
557

44
(187)
(4,857)
(19

(2,719

(©)
(2,009)

4,91

$ (150)

$ 2,90¢
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended May 31, 2013

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditure
Business acquisitions, net of cash acqu
Proceeds from asset dispositions and ¢
CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net transfers from (to) Pare
Payment on loan between subsidia
Intercompany dividend
Principal payments on de
Proceeds from debt issuant
Proceeds from stock issuant
Excess tax benefit on the exercise of stock

options

Dividends paic
Purchase of treasury sto
Other, ne

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢

Net increase (decrease) in cash and
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

FEDEX CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Non-

Guarantor guarantor

Parent Subsidiarie Subsidiarie
$ 247 $ 3,93¢ $ 48¢€
(©) (3,029 (349
— — (483)

_ 49 6
©)] (2,980 (820)
141 (58) (83)

— (38%) 38t
— 21 (27)

— (417) —
1,73¢ — —
28C — —

23 — —

a77) — —
(24€) — —
(18) (119 11¢
1,742 (95¢) 40C
— (20 15
1,98¢ (12 81
1,90¢ 417 63€

$ 3,89 $ 40E $ 717
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Consolidate

$

$ 4,68¢

(3,37
(487)
55

(3,809

(4179)
1,73¢
28C

23
177)
(24¢€)

(18

1,18¢

8
2,07¢

2,84

$

$ 4,917




Table of Contents

FEDEX CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended May 31, 2012

Non-
Guarantor guarantor
Parent Subsidiarie Subsidiarie Elimination: Consolidate
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATINGC
ACTIVITIES $ (89) $ 4,38:¢ $ 57C $ (30 $ 4,83t
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditure (5) (3,799 (210 — (4,007%)
Business acquisition, net of cash acqu — — (11€) — (116
Proceeds from asset dispositions and ¢ — 74 — — 74
CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (5) (3,719 (326 — (4,049
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net transfers from (to) Pare 62E (550 (75) — —
Intercompany dividend — 76 (76) — —
Principal payments on de — (29 — — (29
Proceeds from stock issuant 12¢ — — — 12¢
Excess tax benefit on the exercise of stock
options 18 — — — 18
Dividends paic (164) — — — (169
Purchase of treasury sto (197 — — — (197)
Other, ne — (19 19 — —
CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY FINANCING
ACTIVITIES 41C (522) (132 — (244
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ — (5) (22 — (27)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and
equivalents 317 13¢ 90 (30 51t
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 1,58¢ 27¢ 54€ (8€) 2,32¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $  1,90¢ $ 417 $ 63€ $ (11€) $ 2,84:
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

INTEREST RATEWhile we currently have market risk sensitive instents related to interest rates, we have no ggnif exposure to
changing interest rates on our long-term debt tex#he interest rates are fixed on all of our ltetgr debt. As disclosed in Note 6 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statementdhageoutstanding fixed-rate, long-term debt (exelesif capital leases) with estimated fair
values of $5.0 billion at May 31, 2014 and $3.2%idml at May 31, 2013. Market risk for fixed-ratenly-term debt is estimated as the potential
decrease in fair value resulting from a hypothéti€@ increase in interest rates and amounts t6 $§diBion as of May 31, 2014 and $77
million as of May 31, 2013. The underlying fair uas of our long-term debt were estimated basedioted market prices or on the current
rates offered for debt with similar terms and misies.

We have interest rate risk with respect to our jgenand postretirement benefit obligations. Charigésterest rates impact our liabilities
associated with these benefit plans, as well aarh@unt of pension and postretirement benefit es@eacognized. Declines in the value of
plan assets could diminish the funded status opeunsion plans and potentially increase our requérg to make contributions to the plans.
Substantial investment losses on plan assets ladlliacrease pension expense in the years follotiadosses.

FOREIGN CURRENCYWhile we are a global provider of transportatiotoenmerce and business services, the substantatitpaf our
transactions are denominated in U.S. dollars. Theipal foreign currency exchange rate risks tachiwe are exposed are in the Chinese
yuan, euro, Brazilian real, British pound and tte&dian dollar. Historically, our exposure to fgrecurrency fluctuations is more signific:
with respect to our revenues than our expensessagiificant portion of our expenses are denorethat U.S. dollars, such as aircraft and
fuel expenses. During 2014, foreign currency flatians had a slightly negative impact on operaittegme. The impact of foreign currency
fluctuations was slightly positive in 2013. Howevivorable foreign currency fluctuations also rhaye had an offsetting impact on the
price we obtained or the demand for our servicdsghvis not quantifiable. At May 31, 2014, the riésdi a uniform 10% strengthening in the
value of the dollar relative to the currencies imiein our transactions are denominated would rés@tdecrease in operating income of $23
million for 2015. This theoretical calculation reed under SEC guidelines assumes that each exelrategwould change in the same
direction relative to the U.S. dollar, which is moinsistent with our actual experience in foreigmency transactions. In addition to the direct
effects of changes in exchange rates, fluctuaiioeschange rates also affect the volume of saléiseoforeign currency sales price as
competitors’ services become more or less attraclie sensitivity analysis of the effects of ctemi foreign currency exchange rates does
not factor in a potential change in sales levelecal currency prices.

COMMODITY .While we have market risk for changes in the potget and vehicle fuel, this risk is largely miigd by our variable fuel
surcharges because our fuel surcharges are clogedy to market prices for fuel. Therefore, a hiyytical 10% change in the price of fuel
would not be expected to materially affect our e&ys over the long term.

However, our fuel surcharges for FedEx ExpresskatEx Ground have a timing lag of approximatelytsiright weeks before they are
adjusted for changes in fuel prices. Our fuel sargh index also allows fuel prices to fluctuateragpnately 2% for FedEx Express and
approximately 4% for FedEx Ground before an adjesitnto the fuel surcharge occurs. Therefore, oerating income may be affected

should the spot price of fuel suddenly change bigaificant amount or change by amounts that daesilt in an adjustment in our fuel

surcharges.

OTHER.We do not purchase or hold any derivative finanicisiruments for trading purposes.

-129-



Table of Contents

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following table sets forth (in millions, excemr share amounts and other operating data) cesg¢décted consolidated financial and

operating data for FedEx as of and for the fivegemded May 31, 2014. This information shoulddsdrin conjunction with the
Consolidated Financial Statements, MD&A and otlaricial data appearing elsewhere in this Annualdre

20140 2013@ 2012 2011® 20106)

Operating Results

Revenue: $ 4556° $ 44,28 $ 42,68( $ 39,30: $ 34,73
Operating incom: 3,44¢ 2,551 3,18¢ 2,37¢ 1,99¢
Income before income tax 3,28¢ 2,45¢ 3,141 2,26 1,89
Net income 2,097 1,561 2,032 1,45z 1,18¢

Per Share Data
Earnings per shar

Basic $ 682 $ 49 $ 644 $ 461 $ 3.7¢
Diluted $ 678 $ 491 $ 641 $ 457 $ 3.7¢
Average shares of common stock outstan 307 31t 31t 31¢ 312
Average common and common equivalshares outstandir 31C 317 317 317 314
Cash dividends declart $ 06C $ 056 $ 052 $ 04 $ 044
Financial Position
Property and equipment, r $ 19,55( $ 18,48 §$ 17,24¢ $ 15,54: $ 14,38t
Total asset 33,07( 33,56 29,90: 27,38t 24,90:
Long-term debt, less current portir 4,73¢ 2,73¢ 1,25C 1,667 1,66¢
Common stockholde’ investmen 15,27: 17,39¢ 14,72 15,22( 13,81:
Other Operating Data
FedEx Express aircraft fle 65C 647 66C 68¢€ 667

@ common stockholders’ investment includes an otbergrehensive income decrease of $11 million, nédaffor the funded status of

our retirement plans at May 31, 20:

@ Results for 2013 include $560 million ($353 milljaret of tax, or $1.11 per diluted share) of bussnealignment costs and a $100

million ($63 million, net of tax, or $0.20 per digd share) impairment charge resulting from thesitat to retire 10 aircraft and related
engines at FedEx Express. See Note 1 to the aceyimgaconsolidated financial statements. Additibnaitommon stockholders’
investment includes an other comprehensive incormrease of $861 million, net of tax, for the fundgatus of our retirement plans at
May 31, 2013

Results for 2012 include a $134 million ($84 miflimet of tax or $0.26 per diluted share) impairh@rarge resulting from the decision
to retire 24 aircraft and related engines at FelKxess and the reversal of a $66 million legaémes initially recorded in 2011. See N
1 to the accompanying consolidated financial statés Additionally, common stockholdeisvestment includes an other compreher
income charge of $2.4 billion, net of tax, for faeded status of our retirement plans at May 3122

Results for 2011 include charges of approximaté§9million ($104 million, net of tax and applicablariable incentive compensation
impacts, or $0.33 per diluted share) for the comtiim of our FedEx Freight and FedEx National LTlemmtions and a $66 million
reserve associated with a legal matter at FedExeSspAdditionally, common stockholders’ investmieistudes an other comprehensive
income charge of $350 million, net of tax, for foeded status of our retirement plans at May 3112

®

@)

®" common stockholders’ investment includes an otbergrehensive income charge of $1.0 billion, netaaf for the funded status of our

retirement plans at May 31, 201
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
FedEx Corporation

We have audited the consolidated financial statésnefnFedEx Corporation as of May 31, 2014 and 2@b8 for each of the three years in
the period ended May 31, 2014, and have issuedeport thereon dated July 14, 2014 (included elsee/n this Annual Report on Form 10-
K). Our audits also included the financial statetrsmedule listed in Item 15(a) in this Annual Reémm Form 10-K. This schedule is the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupoesibility is to express an opinion based on auits.

In our opinion, the financial statement scheduferred to above, when considered in relation tdotsc financial statements taken as a
whole, presents fairly in all material respectsitifermation set forth therein.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Memphis, Tennessee
July 14, 2014
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FEDEX CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2014, 2013, AND 2012

(IN MILLIONS)
ADDITIONS
BALANCE
AT CHARGED
BEGINNING CHAF%GED
TO OTHER

DESCRIPTION OF YEAR EXPENSE! ACCOUNTS
Accounts Receivable Reserve:

Allowance for Doubtful Accoun

2014 $ 9 $ 13 $ =

2013 9 167 —

2012 97 16C —

Allowance for Revenue Adjustme

2014 $ 82 $ = $ 62€(b)

2013 84 — 57%(b)

2012 85 — 57((b)
Inventory Valuation Allowance:
2014 $ 20t $ 2C $ =
2013 184 24 —
2012 16¢ 15 —

@ Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoesx.

®) " Principally charged against reven

©  Service failures, rebills and oth

-132-

DEDUCTIONS

$

14%(a)
167(a)
163(a)

625(C)

575(c)

571(c)

13

SCHEDULE Il

BALANCE
AT
END OF
YEAR
$ 81

94

94

$ 83
82

84

$ 21z
20¢

184
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FEDEX CORPORATION

COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

(UNAUDITED)

(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT RATIOS)

Earnings:
Income before income tax
Add back:
Interest expense, net of capitalized inte
Amortization of debt issuance co:
Portion of rent expense representative of intdeegor

Earnings as adjuste

Fixed Charges
Interest expense, net of capitalized inte
Capitalized interes
Amortization of debt issuance co:
Portion of rent expense representative of intdeedor

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charg

- 133-

Year Ended May 31

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
$ 3,28 $245° $ 3147 $ 2,26 $ 1,89
16C 82 52 86 79

4 5 5 16 14

87¢ 864 797 852 80¢

$ 432¢ $340¢ $399° §$321¢ $ 2,79¢
$ 16C $ 8 $ 52 $ 8 $ 79
29 48 85 71 8C

4 5 5 16 14

87¢ 864 797 852 80¢
$106¢ $ 99€ $ 93¢ $1028 $ 9r¢
4.C 3.4 4.3 3.1 2.€
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Exhibit
Number

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5
4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description of Exhibit

Certificate of | ncorporation and Bylaws

Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporeof FedEXx. (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to FedEx's unt
Report on Form 8-K dated September 26, 2011 aed Skeptember 28, 2011, and incorporated herein by
reference.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of FedEx. (Filed astib® 1 to FedEx’'s Current Report on Form 8-K date
March 10, 2014 and filed March 14, 2014, and inoceifed herein by referenci

Long-Term Debt | nstruments

Indenture, dated as of August 8, 2006, between £atlE Guarantors named therein and The Bank of Xefk
Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (formerly, The Bank 0éN York Trust Company, N.A.), as trustee. (Filed as

Exhibit 4.3 to FedEx’s Registration Statement omfr&-3 filed on September 19, 2012, and incorpdrhgrein
by reference.

Supplemental Indenture No. 2, dated as of Janu&rg2d09, between FedEx, the Guarantors named thenel
The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.,tasstee. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to FedEx’s Curi@aport
on Form K dated January 13, 2009 and filed January 16, 20 incorporated herein by referen:

Form of 8.000% Note due 2019. (Included in Exhbit to FedEx’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
January 13, 2009 and filed January 16, 2009, acatfiorated herein by referenc

Supplemental Indenture No. 3, dated as of July2@T2, between FedEXx, the Guarantors named themdiii lae
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., asstee. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to FedEx’s Current Repno
Form &K dated July 24, 2012 and filed July 30, 2012, encdrporated herein by referenc

Form of 2.625% Note due 2022. (Included in Exhbit to FedEx’s Current Report on Form 8-K dateg 24,
2012 and filed July 30, 2012, and incorporated ihdvg reference.

Form of 3.875% Note due 2042. (Included in Exhbit to FedEx’s Current Report on Form 8-K dateg 24,
2012 and filed July 30, 2012, and incorporated ihdvg reference.

Supplemental Indenture No. 4, dated as of April2l,3, between FedEx, the Guarantors named thaneiThe
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., asstee. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to FedEx’s Current Repno
Form ¢-K dated and filed April 11, 2013, and incorporatesein by reference

Form of 2.70% Note due 2023. (Included in Exhibit b FedEx’'s Current Report on Form 8-K dated filed
April 11, 2013, and incorporated herein by refegef

Form of 4.10% Note due 2043. (Included in Exhibit b FedEx’'s Current Report on Form 8-K dated filed
April 11, 2013, and incorporated herein by refegef

-E-1-



Table of Contents

4.1C Supplemental Indenture No. 5, dated as of Janua29®4, between FedEx, the Guarantors named thaneiThe Bank of
New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustedldé as Exhibit 4.1 to Fedl's Current Report on Form 8-K dated and
filed January 9, 2014, and incorporated hereingigrence.

411 Form of 4.000% Note due 2024. (Included in Exhbit to FedEx's Current Report on Form 8-K dated fded January 9,
2014, and incorporated herein by referen

4.1z Form of 4.900% Note due 2034. (Included in Exhbit to FedEx's Current Report on Form 8-K dated fded January 9,
2014, and incorporated herein by referen

413 Form of 5.100% Note due 2044. (Included in Exhibit to FedEx’s Current Report on Form 8-K datedfilad January 9,

2014, and incorporated herein by referen
Facility L ease Agreements

10.1 Composite Lease Agreement dated May 21, 2007 (fdtive as of January 1, 2007) between the Memphislby Count
Airport Authority and FedEx Express (the “Compoditase Agreement”). (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to FedEX07 Annual
Report on Form 1-K, and incorporated herein by referenc

10.2 First Amendment dated December 29, 2009 (but effeets of September 1, 2008) to the Composite LAgseement.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Fedl's FY10 Third Quarter Report on Form-Q, and incorporated herein by referen
10.3 Second Amendment dated March 30, 2010 (but effe@ss/of June 1, 2009) and Third Amendment dated 2pr2010

(but effective as of July 1, 2009), each amendimegGomposite Lease Agreement. (Filed as ExhibR idFedEx’'s FY10
Annual Report on Form -K, and incorporated herein by referenc

10.4 Fourth Amendment dated December 22, 2011 (buttdféeas of December 15, 2011) to the Composite e dageement.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Fedl's FY12 Third Quarter Report on Form-Q, and incorporated herein by referen

10.5 Fifth Amendment dated December 19, 2012 (but effeas of January 1, 2013) to the Composite Leagedment. (Filed
as Exhibit 10.5 to Fedl's FY13 Third Quarter Report on Form-Q, and incorporated herein by referen

10.6 Sixth Amendment dated September 19, 2013 (buttdféeas of July 1, 2014) to the Composite Leases@grent. (Filed as

Exhibit 10.5 to FedE's FY14 Second Quarter Report on Forr-Q, and incorporated herein by referen
Aircraft-Related Agreements

10.7 Boeing 777 Freighter Purchase Agreement dated Bewémber 7, 2006 between The Boeing Company adBX¥Expres
(the “Boeing 777 Freighter Purchase Agreement’nf@iential treatment has been granted for confidénbmmercial and
financial information, pursuant to Rule 24b-2 untter Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendhed'Exchange Act.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Fedl's FY07 Second Quarter Report on Forr-Q, and incorporated herein by referen
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10.8

10.9

10.1C

10.11

10.1z

10.1¢

10.14

10.1¢

10.1¢€

Supplemental Agreement No. 1 dated as of JuneQlIg f the Boeing 777 Freighter Purchase Agreenfeed as Exhib
10.13 to FedE's FY08 Annual Report on Form -K, and incorporated herein by referenc

Supplemental Agreement No. 2 dated as of July Q4820 the Boeing 777 Freighter Purchase Agreenteied as Exhibi
10.3 to FedE's FY09 Second Quarter Report on Forr-Q, and incorporated herein by referen

Supplemental Agreement No. 3 dated as of Decenthe2QD8 (and related side letters) to the BoeingFRreighter
Purchase Agreement. Confidential treatment has geserted for confidential commercial and finanaibrmation,
pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Exchange ActedRils Exhibit 10.4 to FedEx’s FY09 Second Quartgd® on Form 10-
Q, and incorporated herein by referen:

Supplemental Agreement No. 4 dated as of Janu&9@ (and related side letters) to the BoeingFrérghter Purchase
Agreement. Confidential treatment has been grafiatedonfidential commercial and financial inforn@ti pursuant to Rul
24b-2 under the Exchange Act. (Filed as Exhibil16.FedEx’s FY09 Third Quarter Report on Form 1,0a€d
incorporated herein by referenc

Side letters dated May 29, 2009 and May 19, 200@raling the Boeing 777 Freighter Purchase Agreer@anmtfidential
treatment has been granted for confidential comiallesiad financial information, pursuant to Rule Ztander the
Exchange Act. (Filed as Exhibit 10.17 to FedEx’s0BYAnnual Report on Form 10-K, and incorporatecdimeby
reference.

Supplemental Agreement No. 5 dated as of JanuarQ1D to the Boeing 777 Freighter Purchase Agreen@nfidential
treatment has been granted for confidential comialesiod financial information, pursuant to Rule 2bnder the
Exchange Act. (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to FedEx’s BYThird Quarter Report on Form 10-Q, and incorpedterein by
reference.

Supplemental Agreement No. 6 dated as of Marct2QX0Q, Supplemental Agreement No. 7 dated as of IM&r¢ 2010,
and Supplemental Agreement No. 8 (and relatedlsttirs) dated as of April 30, 2010, each amenthiegBoeing 777
Freighter Purchase Agreement. Confidential treatrhas been granted for confidential commercial famhcial
information, pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the ExdeeAct. (Filed as Exhibit 10.22 to FedEx’s FY10nAll Report on
Form 1(-K, and incorporated herein by referenc

Supplemental Agreement No. 9 dated as of JuneQif), Supplemental Agreement No. 10 dated as of 78n2010,
Supplemental Agreement No. 11 (and related sider)edated as of August 19, 2010, and Suppleméngeement No. 13
(and related side letter) dated as of August 2Z0268ach amending the Boeing 777 Freighter Purchgssement.
Confidential treatment has been granted for confidecommercial and financial information, purstitmRule 24b2 unde
the Exchange Act. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to FedB¥4L1 First Quarter Report on Form 10-Q, and inocaed herein by
reference.

Supplemental Agreement No. 12 (and related sider)edated as of September 3, 2010, Supplementaiehgent No. 14
(and related side letter) dated as of October @502and Supplemental Agreement No. 15 (and rekitkdletter) dated as
of October 29, 2010, each amending the Boeing T&igter Purchase Agreement. Confidential treatrhastbeen grante
for confidential commercial and financial infornai pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Exchange(Rkied as Exhibit
10.2 to FedE's FY11 Second Quarter Report on Forr-Q, and incorporated herein by referen
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10.17

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2C

10.21

10.2Z

10.2¢

10.24

Supplemental Agreement No. 16 (and related sidertgtdated as of January 31, 2011, and Suppleim&gitaement No. 1
dated as of February 14, 2011, each amending te§@77 Freighter Purchase Agreement. Confidetrdatment has
been granted for confidential commercial and finanaformation, pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under thelange Act. (Filed
as Exhibit 10.1 to FedF's FY11 Third Quarter Report on Form-Q, and incorporated herein by referen

Supplemental Agreement No. 18 (and related sider)edated as of March 30, 2011 to the Boeing #&fghter Purchase
Agreement. Confidential treatment has been graiateconfidential commercial and financial inforn@t pursuant to Rul
24b-2 under the Exchange Act. (Filed as Exhibi2®@o FedEx’s FY11 Annual Report on Form 10-K, arabrporated
herein by reference

Supplemental Agreement No. 19 (and related sider)edated as of October 27, 2011, amending thén§o&/7 Freighter
Purchase Agreement. Confidential treatment has beserted for confidential commercial and finanaidibrmation,
pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Exchange ActedRils Exhibit 10.2 to FedEx’s FY12 Second Quartgd® on Form 10-
Q, and incorporated herein by referen:

Supplemental Agreement No. 20 (and related sidertgtdated as of December 14, 2011, amendingdeaB 777
Freighter Purchase Agreement. Confidential treatrhas been granted for confidential commercial famahcial
information, pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the ExdeeAct. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to FedEx’s FY12 ithQuarter Report
on Form 1-Q, and incorporated herein by referen:

Supplemental Agreement No. 21 dated as of Jun2®2, amending the Boeing 777 Freighter Purchaseehgent.
Confidential treatment has been granted for confidecommercial and financial information, pursuamRule 24b2 unde
the Exchange Act. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to FedBX¥4L3 First Quarter Report on Form 10-Q, and inocaed herein by
reference.

Supplemental Agreement No. 22 (and related sidertgtdated as of December 11, 2012, amending deaB 777
Freighter Purchase Agreement. Confidential treatrhas been granted for confidential commercial famahcial
information, pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the ExdeeAct. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to FedEx’s FY 13 thQuarter Report
on Form 1-Q, and incorporated herein by referen:

Supplemental Agreement No. 23 (and related sidertgtdated as December 10, 2013, amending thex@3&i7 Freighter
Purchase Agreement. Confidential treatment has beserted for confidential and financial informatjguursuant to Rule
24b-2 under the Exchange Act. (Filed as Exhibid16.FedEx’s FY14 Third Quarter Report on Form 1,0aed
incorporated herein by referenc

Boeing 767-3S2 Freighter Purchase Agreement datefl @ecember 14, 2011 between The Boeing Compaahy-adEx
Express (the “Boeing 767-3S2 Freighter Purchasedmgent”). Confidential treatment has been grardeddnfidential
commercial and financial information, pursuant Wd24b-2 under the Exchange Act. (Filed as ExHiBill to FedEX’s
FY12 Third Quarter Report on Form-Q, and incorporated herein by referen:
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10.2¢

10.2¢

10.27

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.3C

10.31

10.3Z

10.3¢

Supplemental Agreement No. 1 (and related siderBttdated as of June 29, 2012, amending the BG&RBS2 Freighter
Purchase Agreement. Confidential treatment has beserted for confidential commercial and finanaidibrmation,
pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Exchange ActedRils Exhibit 10.1 to FedEx’s FY13 First Quartep&teon Form 109,
and incorporated herein by referenc

Supplemental Agreement No. 2 dated as of Octob20B?, amending the Boeing 767-3S2 Freighter PsciAgreement.
Confidential treatment has been granted for confidecommercial and financial information, purstitmRule 24b2 unde
the Exchange Act. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to FedBX¥d.3 Second Quarter Report on FormQpand incorporated herein
reference.

Supplemental Agreement No. 3 (and related siderBttlated as of December 11, 2012, amending te8§d67-3S2
Freighter Purchase Agreement. Confidential treatrhas been granted for confidential commercial famhcial
information, pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the ExgeeAct. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to FedEx’s FY 13 thQuarter Report
onForm 1(-Q, and incorporated herein by referenc

Supplemental Agreement No. 4 (and related siderjettated as December 10, 2013, amending the Boeing

767-3S2 Freighter Purchase Agreement. Confideméatment has been granted for confidential arehfiral information,
pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Exchange Acte@Rils Exhibit 10.3 to FedEx’s FY14 Third Quartep&&on Form 10-
Q, and incorporated herein by referen:

U.S. Postal Service Agreements

Transportation Agreement dated April 23, 2013 betwthe USPS and FedEx Express (the “USPS Transiparta
Agreement”). Confidential treatment has been refgae®r confidential commercial and financial infaation, pursuant to
Rule 24b-2 under the Exchange Act. (Filed as ExHiBi52 to FedEx Corporation’s FY13 Annual Repartrmrm 10-K,
and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment dated May 28, 2013, amending the USP&spoatation Agreement. Confidential treatment haesnbgranted
for confidential commercial and financial informati pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Exchange(Rkited as Exhibit
10.53 to FedE's FY13 Annual Report on Form -K, and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment dated June 24, 2013, amending the US&&ortation Agreement. Confidential treatmentlyesen granted
for confidential commercial and financial inforrmati pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Exchange(Rkited as Exhibit
10.1 to FedE's FY14 First Quarter Report on Form-Q, and incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment dated October 10, 2013 (but effectivef &eptember 30, 2013), amending the USPS Traratjmort
Agreement. Confidential treatment has been graiateconfidential commercial and financial inforn@t pursuant to Rul
24b-2 under the Exchange Act. (Filed as Exhibil16.FedEx’s FY14 Second Quarter Report on FornQi®-
(Amendment No. 1), and incorporated herein by ezfee.)

Amendment dated October 15, 2013 (but effectivef&@ctober 10, 2013), amending the USPS Transpantétgreement.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Fedl's FY14 Second Quarter Report on Forr-Q, and incorporated herein by referen
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10.34

10.3¢

10.3¢

10.37

*10.38

*10.39

*10.40

*10.41

*10.42

*10.43

Amendment dated November 7, 2013 (but effectivef&ctober 1, 2013), amending the USPS Transportatgreement.
Confidential treatment has been granted for confidecommercial and financial information, pursuamRule 24b2 unde
the Exchange Act. (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to FedBX¥4dl4 Second Quarter Report on Form 10-Q/A (Amenurio. 1),
and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment dated November 7, 2013 (but effectivefd@ecember 15, 2013), amending the USPS Trangmrta
Agreement. Confidential treatment has been graiateconfidential commercial and financial inforn@t pursuant to Rul
24b-2 under the Exchange Act. (Filed as Exhibi#t16.FedEx’s FY14 Second Quarter Report on FornQi®-
(Amendment No. 1), and incorporated herein by ezfee.)

Amendment dated December 16, 2013 (but effectivef &ovember 4, 2013), amending the USPS Transjanta
Agreement. Confidential treatment has been grafiatedonfidential commercial and financial inforn@ti pursuant to Rul
24b-2 under the Exchange Act. (Filed as Exhibii16.FedEx’s FY14 Third Quarter Report on Form 1,0a€d
incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment dated December 16, 2013 (but effectivaf &ecember 2, 2013), amending the USPS Trangpmrta
Agreement. Confidential treatment has been graiateconfidential commercial and financial inforn@t pursuant to Rul
24b-2 under the Exchange Act. (Filed as Exhibi216.FedEx’s FY14 Third Quarter Report on Form 10a€d
incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment dated March 27, 2014 (but effective ataofiary 6, 2014), amending the USPS TransportAtioeement.
Confidential treatment has been requested for denfial commercial and financial information, puasuto Rule 24b-2
under the Exchange Ac

Amendment dated March 27, 2014 (but effective asatifruary 3, 2014), amending the USPS Transpontédtgyreement.
Confidential treatment has been requested for denfial commercial and financial information, puastito Rule 24b-2
under the Exchange Ac

Amendment dated March 27, 2014 (but effective adlafch 3, 2014), amending the USPS Transportatigiredment.
Confidential treatment has been requested for denfial commercial and financial information, puasuto Rule 24b-2
under the Exchange Ac

Amendment dated April 16, 2014 (but effective addairch 31, 2014), amending the USPS Transporta#gneement.
Confidential treatment has been requested for denfial commercial and financial information, puastito Rule 24b-2
under the Exchange Ac

Amendment dated May 27, 2014 (but effective asmfl®8, 2014), amending the USPS TransportatioreAment.
Confidential treatment has been requested for denfial commercial and financial information, puastito Rule 24b-2
under the Exchange Ac

Amendment dated May 27, 2014 (but effective as ajMl4, 2014), amending the USPS Transportation éxgest.
-E-6-
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10.44

10.4¢

10.57

10.5¢

10.5¢

10.6C

10.61

10.62

10.6¢

10.64

Financing Agreement

Five-Year Credit Agreement dated as of April 26120among FedEx, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., indalig and as
administrative agent, and certain lenders. (File&=hibit 99.1 to FedEx’s Current Report on Forik 8ated April 26,
2011 and filed April 29, 2011, and incorporateddireby reference.

First Amendment dated March 1, 2013 amending thie-Fiear Credit Agreement dated April 26, 2011, aghnBrdEX,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., individually and as amistiiative agent, and certain lenders. (Filed dsliiix10.6 to FedExs
FY13 Third Quarter Report on Form-Q, and incorporated herein by referen:

Management Contracts/Compensatory Plans or Arrangements

FedEx 1995 Stock Incentive Plan and Form of Stopkdd Agreement pursuant to the 1995 Stock Incerfilan. (The
1995 Stock Incentive Plan was filed as Exhibit AAslEx Express’s FY95 Definitive Proxy Statement] & incorporated
herein by reference, and the form of stock optigreament was filed as Exhibit 99.2 to FedEx ExpseRegistration
Statement Nc333-03443on Form -8, and is incorporated herein by referen

Amendment to the 1993 and 1995 Stock IncentiveRl@iled as Exhibit 10.79 to FedEx Express’s F¥@nual Report
on Form 1K, and incorporated herein by referenc

FedEx 1997 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, amd BbStock Option Agreement pursuant to the 19®¢ISIncentive
Plan. (The 1997 Stock Incentive Plan was filed @silfit 4.3 to FedEx's Registration Statement onnr&-8, Registration
No. 33371065, and is incorporated herein by reference the form of stock option agreement was filed aiiliit 4.4 to

FedEy's Registration Statement No. :-71065 on Form -8, and is incorporated herein by referen

Amendment to the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan. (FiledExhibit A to FedEx’s FY98 Definitive Proxy Statent, and
incorporated herein by referenc

FedEx 1999 Stock Incentive Plan and Form of Stopldd Agreement pursuant to the 1999 Stock Incerfilan. (The
1999 Stock Incentive Plan was filed as Exhibitt®.FedEx’s Registration Statement No. 333-3493&@m S-8, and is
incorporated herein by reference, and the formadlksoption agreement was filed as Exhibit 4.4 ¢dEx’s Registration
Statement No. 3:-34934 on Form -8, and is incorporated herein by referen

FedEx 2002 Stock Incentive Plan and Form of Stopkdd Agreement pursuant to the 2002 Stock Incerfilan. (The
2002 Stock Incentive Plan was filed as Exhibitt.&FedEx’'s Registration Statement No. 333-10057Zanm S-8, and is
incorporated herein by reference, and the formaifksoption agreement was filed as Exhibit 4.4 ¢dEx’s Registration
Statement No. 3:-100572 on Form -8, and is incorporated herein by referen

FedEx 2001 Restricted Stock Plan and Form of ReésttiStock Agreement pursuant to the 2001 Reddristeck Plan.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.60 to Fed’s FY01 Annual Report on Form -K, and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment to the 2001 Restricted Stock Plan. (Rake&xhibit 10.67 to FedEx's FY02 Annual Reportramm 10-K, and
incorporated herein by referenc
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10.6¢

10.6¢

10.67

10.6¢

10.6¢

10.7C

10.71

Amendment to the 1995, 1997, 1999 and 2002 Stamnlive Plans and the 2001 Restricted Stock PHiledas Exhibit
10.3 to FedE's FY04 Second Quarter Report on Forr-Q, and incorporated herein by referen

FedEx Incentive Stock Plan, as amended; Amendroghgtincentive Stock Plan, as amended, and th&, 19®9 and
2002 Stock Incentive Plans; Form of Terms and Gard of stock option grant pursuant to the Inaenttock Plan, as
amended; and Form of Restricted Stock Agreemerstuaimt to the Incentive Stock Plan, as amended. Ifidentive Stock
Plan, as amended, was filed as Exhibit 4.1 to FedB&gistration Statement No. 333-156333 on For& &ad is
incorporated herein by reference; the Amendmetiieédncentive Stock Plan, as amended, and the 1998 and 2002
Stock Incentive Plans was filed as Exhibit 4.2 énlEx’s Registration Statement No. 333-156333 omF®+8, and is
incorporated herein by reference; the Form of Teants Conditions of stock option grant pursuanh®lnhcentive Stock
Plan, as amended, was filed as Exhibit 4.3 to FedR&gistration Statement No. 333-156333 on For& &ad is
incorporated herein by reference; and the Formesititted Stock Agreement was filed as Exhibittd.EedEXx’s
Registration Statement N333-156333on Form {8, and is incorporated herein by referen

FedEx Incentive Stock Plan 2005 Inland Revenue éygut Sub-Plan for the United Kingdom and Form cdr8hOption
Agreement pursuant to the Incentive Stock Plan 20@&d Revenue Approved Sub-Plan for the Unitedggiom. (The
United Kingdom Sub-Plan was filed as Exhibit 4.FsdEx’s Registration Statement No. 333-130619@mFS-8, and is
incorporated herein by reference, and the formhafe option agreement pursuant to the United King8aoib-Plan was
filed as Exhibit 4.3 to FedEx’s Registration StageinNo. 333-130619 on Form S-8, and is incorporberdin by
reference.

Amendments to the 1993, 1995, 1997, 1999 and 26@xk $ncentive Plans, as amended, the 2001 Re=iristock Plan, as
amended, and the Incentive Stock Plan, as ame(fiést as Exhibit 10.48 to FedEx's FY10 Annual Regmm Form 10K,
and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendments to the 1993, 1995, 1997, 1999 and 2@k Ihcentive Plans, the 2001 Restricted Stock Blad the
Incentive Stock Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Erd FY11 Third Quarter Report on Form 10-Q, antbiporated herein
by reference.

FedEx 2010 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan; Form ofriteand Conditions of stock option grant pursuarthé 2010
Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan; and Form of Terms@additions of restricted stock grant pursuanti®2010 Omnibus
Stock Incentive Plan. (The 2010 Omnibus Stock IticerPlan was filed as Exhibit 4.3 to FedEx’s Ré&gison Statement
No. 333171232 on Form S-8, and is incorporated hereirefgrence; the Form of Terms and Conditions ofkstgation
grant was filed as Exhibit 4.4 to FedEx’s RegisbratStatement No. 333-171232 on Form8,%nd is incorporated herein
reference; and the Form of Terms and Conditionestficted stock grant pursuant to the 2010 Omn&tosk Incentive
Plan was filed as Exhibit 4.5 to FedEx's Registmatbtatement No. 333-171232 on Form S-8, and @rpuzated herein by
reference.

FedEx 2010 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan, as ameragetiForm of Restricted Stock Agreement pursuatite 2010
Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan, as amended. (The @B&fibus Stock Incentive Plan was filed as Exhib#t to FedEx’'s
Registration Statement No. 333-192957 on Form &18,is incorporated herein by reference, and tha @f restricted
stock agreement was filed as Exhibit 4.5 to FedBRégistration Statement No. 333-192957 on Form &18,is
incorporated herein by referenc
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10.7:

10.7:

*10.7¢4
10.7

10.7¢

10.7°

*12

*21
*23
*24
*31.1

*31.2

*32.1

*32.2

*101.1

*  Filed herewith

Amended and Restated FedEx Retirement Parity ReR$am. (Filed as Exhibit 10.35 to FedEx’s FY08 AahReport
on Form 1K, and incorporated herein by referenc

FedEx Express Supplemental Long Term DisabilitynRlad Amendment to the Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 8 @cFedExs
FY11 Annual Report on Form -K, and incorporated herein by referenc

Compensation Arrangements with Named Executivecoxsi.

Compensation Arrangements with Outside Directdtded as Exhibit 10.1 to FedEx’s Current Report on
Form ¢-K dated December 9, 2013 and filed December 10, 20i8Bincorporated herein by referenc

FedEx’'s Amended and Restated Retirement Plan ftsi@uDirectors. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to FedBx¥09 Second
Quarter Report on Form -Q, and incorporated herein by referen:

Form of Management Retention Agreement between ¥adHl each of Frederick W. Smith, David J. Bron¢cZdbert
B. Carter, T. Michael Glenn, Alan B. Graf, Jr., Wiin J. Logue, Henry J. Maier and Christine P. Rrds. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to FedE’'s FY10 Third Quarter Report on Form-Q, and incorporated herein by referen:

Other Exhibits

Statement re Computation of Ratio of Earnings t@&iCharges (presented on page 133 of this AnnediR on Form
10-K).

Subsidiaries of Registrar
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registétablic Accounting Firm
Powers of Attorney

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursudo Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the 8msuExchange
Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 30B@fSarban«-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursitdo Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the 8&suExchange
Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 30B@fSarban«-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursua8tttion 906 of
the Sarban«Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted PursuaSettion 906 of
the Sarban«Oxley Act of 2002

Interactive Data Files
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Exhibit 10.38

AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT 1. CONTRACT ID CODE| PAGE OF
1, 2

2. AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION NO. 3. EFFECTIVE DATE|4. REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQ. NO. [5. PROJECT NO.
011 01/06/2014 (If applicable)

6. ISSUED BY CODE 5ASNET 7. ADMINISTERED BY (If other than Item 1 CODE | 5ASNET

Alaina Earl Air Transportation CMC

Air Transportation CMC Air Transportation CMC

United States Postal Service United States Postal Service

475 L’Enfant Plaza SW 475 L’Enfant Plaza SW, Room 1P650

Room 1P 650 Washington DC 20260-0650

Washington DC 20260-0650

(202) 268-6580

8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (No., street, coy, Statd (x) | 9A. AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION NO.
and ZIP Code)
FEDERAL EXPRESS CORPORATION 9B. DATED (SEE ITEM 11)
3610 HACKS CROSS ROAD
MEMPHIS, TN 38125-8800

10A. MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT/ORDER NO.
x | ACN-13-FX

10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13)
04/23/201:

SUPPLIER CODE  0003891: | FACILITY CODE
11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLICATIONS

O O is extended, O
is not extendec

Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendmeanot po the hour and date specified in the solt@taor as amended, by one of the
following methods

(a)By completing Items 8 and 15, and returning copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledgirgifg of this amendment on
each copy of the offer submitted; or (c) By sepafatter or telegram which includes a referendheosolicitation and amendment number.
FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGMENT TO BE RECEIVED AT TH PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE RECEIPT OF OFFERS
PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IREJECTION OF YOUR OFFER. If by virtue of this amemght you
desire to change an offer already submitted, shahge may be made by telegram or letter, providetl éelegram or letter makes reference
to the solicitation and this amendment, and isiveckprior to the opening hour and date specified.

12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA  (Ifequired). Net Decrease: [*]
See Schedu

13. THIS ITEM APPLIES ONLY TO MODIFICATION OF CONTRCTS/ORDERS. IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS
DESCRIBED IN ITEM 14.

(x) A. THIS CHANGE BY CLAUSE IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO: (Spéctclause) THE CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14
ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.

Monthly Fuel Adjustment
B. THE ABOVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TO REECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES
(W (such as changes in paying office, appropriatide,dztc.) SET FORTH IN ITEM 14.
C. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO PURSUANTO THE AUTHORITY OF: THE CHANGES
O SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDERO. IN ITEM 10A.
D. OTHER (such as no cost change/cancellation, tetinmaetc.) (Specify type of modification and autihg: THE
O CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTRZT ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.
E. IMPORTANT: ContractofX] is not, 0 is required to sign this document and return copies to the issuing office.

14. DESCRIPTION OF AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION (Organigeby UCF section headings, including solicitatiamitact subject
matter where feasible.)

A) In accordance with contract ACN-13-FX and theiéFAdjustment” section, the following Line Haul tiegfuel) for the Day Network, as
set out in Attachment 10, is modified for perforroamuring the period of January 6, 2014 throughlraaly 2, 2014 (Operating Period 4) as
follows:

From:



[*] per cubic foot

To:
[*] per cubic foot

Continued...

Except as provided herein, all terms and conditafrithe document referenced in Item 9A or 10A, eetofore changed, remains unchar
and in full force and effect.

15A. NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNER 16A. NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER

(Type or print) (Type or print)

Paul J. Herron, Vice President Brian McKain

15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR 15C. DATE SIGNED| 16B. CONTRACT AUTHORITY 16C. DATE SIGNED

/sl PAUL J. HERRON . | 307114 /sl BRIAN MCKAIN . . 3/18/2014
(Signature of person authorized to si (Signature of Contracting Office

*Blank spaces contained confidential informationiethhas been filed separately with the SecuritrebExchange Commission pursuant to
Rule 241-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, adetk



CONTINUATION SHEET REQUISITION NO. PZAGE 02F
CONTRACT/ORDER NO. [AWARD/ MASTER/AGENCY CONTRACT NJ SOLICITATION NOJSOLICITATION
ACN-13-EX/011 EEFECTIVE DATE ISSUE DATE
01/06/2014
ITEM NO. SCHEDULE OF SUPPLIES / SERVICE QUANTITY] UNIT_|UNIT PRICE| AMOUNT

This is a decrease of [*].
[*]

Sub Rept Req'd: Y Carrier Code: FX Route Termini
S: Various Route Termini End: Various Payment
Terms: SEE CONTRACT

Discount Terms:

See Schedule

Accounting Info:

BFN: 670167

FOB: Destination

Period of Performance: 09/30/2013 to 9/30/2020

Change Item 00001 to read as follows:

00001 Day Network
Account Number: 53503 [*]

The dollar amounts included in boxes 12 and 14@r&JSPS internal
budgeting purposes only, and in no way provideaautee to the
supplier.

* Blank spaces contained confidential informationiet has been filed separately with the Securéies Exchange Commission pursuant to
Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act o188 amended.



Exhibit 10.39

AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT 1. CONTRACT ID CODE| PAGE OF
1, 2

2. AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION NO. 3. EFFECTIVE DATE|4. REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQ. NO. [5. PROJECT NO.
012 02/03/2014 (If applicable)

6. ISSUED BY CODE 5ASNET 7. ADMINISTERED BY (If other than Item 1 CODE | 5ASNET

Alaina Earl Air Transportation CMC

Air Transportation CMC Air Transportation CMC

United States Postal Service United States Postal Service

475 L’Enfant Plaza SW 475 L’Enfant Plaza SW, Room 1P650

Room 1P 650 Washington DC 20260-0650

Washington DC 20260-0650

(202) 268-6580

8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (No., street, coy, Statd (x) | 9A. AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION NO.
and ZIP Code)
FEDERAL EXPRESS CORPORATION 9B. DATED (SEE ITEM 11)
3610 HACKS CROSS ROAD
MEMPHIS, TN 38125-8800

10A. MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT/ORDER NO.
x | ACN-13-FX

10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13)
04/23/201:

SUPPLIER CODE 0003891] FACILITY CODE
11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLICATIONS

O O is extended, O
is not extendec

Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendmeanot po the hour and date specified in the solt@taor as amended, by one of the
following methods

(a)By completing Items 8 and 15, and returning copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledgirgirg of this amendment on
each copy of the offer submitted; or (c) By sematetter or telegram which includes a referenah¢osolicitation and amendment number.
FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGMENT TO BE RECEIVED AT TH PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE RECEIPT OF OFFERS
PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IREJECTION OF YOUR OFFER. If by virtue of this amemght you
desire to change an offer already submitted, shahg@e may be made by telegram or letter, provideti &elegram or letter makes reference
to the solicitation and this amendment, and isiveceprior to the opening hour and date specit
12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA  (Ifequired). Net Increase: [*]

See Schedu

13. THIS ITEM APPLIES ONLY TO MODIFICATION OF CONTRCTS/ORDERS. IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS
DESCRIBED IN ITEM 14.

(x) | A. THIS CHANGE BY CLAUSE IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO: (Spictlause) THE CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14
ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.
Monthly Fuel Adjustment

B. THE ABOVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TO REECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES

O (such as changes in paying office, appropriatide,dztc.) SET FORTH IN ITEM 14.
C. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO PURSUANTO THE AUTHORITY OF: THE CHANGES
o SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDERO. IN ITEM 10A.
D. OTHER (such as no cost change/cancellation, tetinmeetc.) (Specify type of modification and autihg: THE
g CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTR&T ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.
E. IMPORTANT: ContractofX] is not, 0 is required to sign this document and return copies to the issuing office.

14. DESCRIPTION OF AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION (Organigeby UCF section headings, including solicitatiamitact subject
matter where feasible.)

A) In accordance with contract ACN-13-FX and theiéFAdjustment” section, the following Line Haul iegfuel) for the Day Network, as
set out in Attachment 10, is modified for perforroamluring the period of February 3, 2014 throughdif&, 2014 (Operating Period 5) as
follows:



From:
[*] per cubic foot

To:
[*] per cubic foot

Continued...

Except as provided herein, all terms and conditmfrthe document referenced in Item 9A or 10A, eetofore changed, remains unchar
and in full force and effect.

15A. NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNER 16A. NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER
(Type or print) (Type or print)
Paul J. Herron, Vice President Brian McKain
15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR 15C. DATE SIGNED| 16B. CONTRACT AUTHORITY 16C. DATE SIGNED
/s/ PAUL J. HERRON /s/ BRIAN MCKAIN
. . — 3/27/14 - - - 3/18/2014
(Signature of person authorized to si (Signature of Contracting Office

*Blank spaces contained confidential informationiethhas been filed separately with the SecuritrebExchange Commission pursuant to
Rule 241-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, adetk



CONTINUATION SHEET REQUISITION NO. PZAGE 02F
CONTRACT/ORDER NO. [AWARD/ MASTER/AGENCY CONTRACT NJ SOLICITATION NOJSOLICITATION
ACN-13-EX/012 EEFECTIVE DATE ISSUE DATE
02/03/2014
ITEM NO. SCHEDULE OF SUPPLIES / SERVICE QUANTITY] UNIT_|UNIT PRICE| AMOUNT

This is a decrease of [*].
[*]

Sub Rept Req'd: Y Carrier Code: FX Route Termini
S: Various Route Termini End: Various Payment
Terms: SEE CONTRACT

Discount Terms:

See Schedule

Accounting Info:

BFN: 670167

FOB: Destination

Period of Performance: 09/30/2013 to 9/30/2020

Change Item 00001 to read as follows:

00001 Day Network
Account Number: 53503 [*]

The dollar amounts included in boxes 12 and 14@r&JSPS internal
budgeting purposes only, and in no way provideaautee to the
supplier.

* Blank spaces contained confidential informationiet has been filed separately with the Securéies Exchange Commission pursuant to
Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act o188 amended.



Exhibit 10.40

AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT 1. CONTRACT ID CODE| PAGE OF
1, 2

2. AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION NO. 3. EFFECTIVE DATE|4. REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQ. NO. [5. PROJECT NO.
013 03/03/2014 (If applicable)

6. ISSUED BY CODE 5ASNET 7. ADMINISTERED BY (If other than Item 1 CODE | 5ASNET

Alaina Earl Air Transportation CMC

Air Transportation CMC Air Transportation CMC

United States Postal Service United States Postal Service

475 L’Enfant Plaza SW 475 L’Enfant Plaza SW, Room 1P650

Room 1P 650 Washington DC 20260-0650

Washington DC 20260-0650

(202) 268-6580

8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (No., street, coy, Statd (x) | 9A. AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION NO.
and ZIP Code)
FEDERAL EXPRESS CORPORATION 9B. DATED (SEE ITEM 11)
3610 HACKS CROSS ROAD
MEMPHIS, TN 38125-8800

10A. MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT/ORDER NO.
x | ACN-13-FX

10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13)
04/23/201:

SUPPLIER CODE 0003891] FACILITY CODE
11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLICATIONS

O O is extended, O
is not extendec

Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendmeanot po the hour and date specified in the solt@taor as amended, by one of the
following methods

(a)By completing Items 8 and 15, and returning copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledgirgirg of this amendment on
each copy of the offer submitted; or (c) By sematetter or telegram which includes a referenah¢osolicitation and amendment number.
FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGMENT TO BE RECEIVED AT TH PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE RECEIPT OF OFFERS
PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IREJECTION OF YOUR OFFER. If by virtue of this amemght you
desire to change an offer already submitted, shahg@e may be made by telegram or letter, provideti &elegram or letter makes reference
to the solicitation and this amendment, and isiveceprior to the opening hour and date specit
12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA  (Ifequired). Net Increase: [*]

See Schedu

13. THIS ITEM APPLIES ONLY TO MODIFICATION OF CONTRCTS/ORDERS. IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS
DESCRIBED IN ITEM 14.

(x) A. THIS CHANGE BY CLAUSE IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO: (Spéctclause) THE CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14
ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.

Monthly Fuel Adjustment
B. THE ABOVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TO REECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES
(W (such as changes in paying office, appropriatide,dztc.) SET FORTH IN ITEM 14.
C. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO PURSUANTO THE AUTHORITY OF: THE CHANGES
O SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDERO. IN ITEM 10A.
D. OTHER (such as no cost change/cancellation, tetiomeetc.) (Specify type of modification and authg: THE
O CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTRZT ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.
E. IMPORTANT: ContractofX] is not, 0 is required to sign this document and return copies to the issuing office.

14. DESCRIPTION OF AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION (Organigeby UCF section headings, including solicitatiamfract subject
matter where feasible.)

A) In accordance with contract ACN-13-FX and theiéFAdjustment” section, the following Line Haul iegfuel) for the Day Network, as
set out in Attachment 10, is modified for perforroamuring the period of March 3, 2014 through Ma&6h2014 (Operating Period 6) as
follows:

From:



[*] per cubic foot

To:
[*] per cubic foot

Continued...

Except as provided herein, all terms and conditafrithe document referenced in Item 9A or 10A, eetofore changed, remains unchar
and in full force and effect.

15A. NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNER 16A. NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER

(Type or print) (Type or print)

Paul J. Herron, Vice President Brian McKain

15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR 15C. DATE SIGNED| 16B. CONTRACT AUTHORITY 16C. DATE SIGNED

/sl PAUL J. HERRON . | 307114 /sl BRIAN MCKAIN . . 3/18/2014
(Signature of person authorized to si (Signature of Contracting Office

*Blank spaces contained confidential informationiethhas been filed separately with the SecuritrebExchange Commission pursuant to
Rule 241-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, adetk



CONTINUATION SHEET REQUISITION NO. PZAGE 02F
CONTRACT/ORDER NO. [AWARD/ MASTER/AGENCY CONTRACT NJ SOLICITATION NOJSOLICITATION
ACN-13-EX/013 EEFECTIVE DATE ISSUE DATE
03/03/2014
ITEM NO. SCHEDULE OF SUPPLIES / SERVICE QUANTITY] UNIT_|UNIT PRICE| AMOUNT

This is a decrease of [*].
[*]

Sub Rept Req'd: Y Carrier Code: FX Route Termini
S: Various Route Termini End: Various Payment
Terms: SEE CONTRACT

Discount Terms:

See Schedule

Accounting Info:

BFN: 670167

FOB: Destination

Period of Performance: 09/30/2013 to 9/30/2020

Change Item 00001 to read as follows:

00001 Day Network
Account Number: 53503 [*]

The dollar amounts included in boxes 12 and 14@r&JSPS internal
budgeting purposes only, and in no way provideaautee to the
supplier.

* Blank spaces contained confidential informationiet has been filed separately with the Securéies Exchange Commission pursuant to
Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act o188 amended.



Exhibit 10.41

AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT 1. CONTRACT ID CODE| PAGE OF
1, 2

2. AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION NO. 3. EFFECTIVE DATE|4. REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQ. NO. [5. PROJECT NO.
014 03/31/2014 (If applicable)

6. ISSUED BY CODE 5ASNET 7. ADMINISTERED BY (If other than Item 1 CODE | 5ASNET

Alaina Earl Air Transportation CMC

Air Transportation CMC Air Transportation CMC

United States Postal Service United States Postal Service

475 L’Enfant Plaza SW 475 L’Enfant Plaza SW, Room 1P650

Room 1P 650 Washington DC 20260-0650

Washington DC 20260-0650

(202) 268-6580

8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (No., street, coy, Statd (x) | 9A. AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION NO.
and ZIP Code)
FEDERAL EXPRESS CORPORATION 9B. DATED (SEE ITEM 11)
3610 HACKS CROSS ROAD
MEMPHIS, TN 38125-8800

10A. MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT/ORDER NO.
x | ACN-13-FX

10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13)
04/23/201:

SUPPLIER CODE 0003891] FACILITY CODE
11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLICATIONS

O O is extended, O
is not extendec

Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendmeanot po the hour and date specified in the solt@taor as amended, by one of the
following methods

(a)By completing Items 8 and 15, and returning copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledgirgirg of this amendment on
each copy of the offer submitted; or (c) By sematetter or telegram which includes a referenah¢osolicitation and amendment number.
FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGMENT TO BE RECEIVED AT TH PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE RECEIPT OF OFFERS
PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IREJECTION OF YOUR OFFER. If by virtue of this amemght you
desire to change an offer already submitted, shahg@e may be made by telegram or letter, provideti &elegram or letter makes reference
to the solicitation and this amendment, and isiveceprior to the opening hour and date specit
12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA  (Ifequired). Net Increase: [*]

See Schedu

13. THIS ITEM APPLIES ONLY TO MODIFICATION OF CONTRCTS/ORDERS. IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS
DESCRIBED IN ITEM 14.

(x) A. THIS CHANGE BY CLAUSE IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO: (Spéctclause) THE CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14
ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.

Monthly Feul Adjustment
B. THE ABOVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TO REECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES
(W (such as changes in paying office, appropriatide,dztc.) SET FORTH IN ITEM 14.
C. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO PURSUANTO THE AUTHORITY OF: THE CHANGES
O SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDERO. IN ITEM 10A.
D. OTHER (such as no cost change/cancellation, tetiomeetc.) (Specify type of modification and authg: THE
O CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTRZT ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.
E. IMPORTANT: Contractofd] is not, is required to sign this document and return 1 copies to the issuing office.

14. DESCRIPTION OF AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION (Organigeby UCF section headings, including solicitatiamfract subject
matter where feasible.)

A) In accordance with contract ACN-13-FX and theiéFAdjustment” section, the following Line Haul iegfuel) for the Day Network, as
set out in Attachment 10, is modified for perforreamuring the period of March 31, 2014 through ApTi, 2014 (Operating Period 7) as
follows:

From:



[*] per cubic foot

To:
[*] per cubic foot

Continued...

Except as provided herein, all terms and conditafrithe document referenced in Item 9A or 10A, eetofore changed, remains unchar
and in full force and effect.

15A. NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNER 16A. NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER
(Type or print) (Type or print)
Paul J. Herron, Vice President Brian McKain
15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR 15C. DATE SIGNED| 16B. CONTRACT AUTHORITY 16C. DATE SIGNED
/s/ PAUL J. HERRON /s/ BRIAN MCKAIN
- . — 4/16/14 - . - 4/15/14
(Signature of person authorized to si (Signature of Contracting Office

*Blank spaces contained confidential informationiethhas been filed separately with the SecuritrebExchange Commission pursuant to
Rule 241-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, adetk



CONTINUATION SHEET REQUISITION NO. PZAGE 02F
CONTRACT/ORDER NO. [AWARD/ MASTER/AGENCY CONTRACT NJ SOLICITATION NOJSOLICITATION
ACN-13-EX/014 EEFECTIVE DATE ISSUE DATE
03/31/2014
ITEM NO. SCHEDULE OF SUPPLIES / SERVICE QUANTITY] UNIT_|UNIT PRICE| AMOUNT

This is a increase of [*].
[*]

Sub Rept Req'd: Y Carrier Code: FX Route Termini
S: Various Route Termini End: Various Payment
Terms: SEE CONTRACT

Discount Terms:

See Schedule

Accounting Info:

BFN: 670167

FOB: Destination

Period of Performance: 09/30/2013 to 9/30/2020

Change Item 00001 to read as follows:

00001 Day Network
Account Number: 53503 [*]

The dollar amounts included in boxes 12 and 14@r&JSPS internal
budgeting purposes only, and in no way provideaautee to the
supplier.

* Blank spaces contained confidential informationiet has been filed separately with the Securéies Exchange Commission pursuant to
Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act o188 amended.



Exhibit 10.42

AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT 1. CONTRACT ID CODE| PAGE OF
1, 2

2. AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION NO. 3. EFFECTIVE DATE|4. REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQ. NO. [5. PROJECT NO.
015 04/28/2014 (If applicable)

6. ISSUED BY CODE 5ASNET 7. ADMINISTERED BY (If other than Item 1 CODE | 5ASNET

Alaina Earl Air Transportation CMC

Air Transportation CMC Air Transportation CMC

United States Postal Service United States Postal Service

475 L’Enfant Plaza SW 475 L’Enfant Plaza SW, Room 1P650

Room 1P 650 Washington DC 20260-0650

Washington DC 20260-0650

(202) 268-6580

8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (No., street, coy, Statd (x) | 9A. AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION NO.
and ZIP Code)
FEDERAL EXPRESS CORPORATION 9B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13)
3610 HACKS CROSS ROAD
MEMPHIS, TN 38125-8800

10A. MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT/ORDER NO.
x | ACN-13-FX

10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 11)
04/23/201:

SUPPLIER CODE 0003891] FACILITY CODE
11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLICATIONS

O O is extended, O
is not extendec

Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendmeanot po the hour and date specified in the solt@taor as amended, by one of the
following methods

(a)By completing Items 8 and 15, and returning copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledgirgirg of this amendment on
each copy of the offer submitted; or (c) By sematetter or telegram which includes a referenah¢osolicitation and amendment number.
FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGMENT TO BE RECEIVED AT TH PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE RECEIPT OF OFFERS
PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IREJECTION OF YOUR OFFER. If by virtue of this amemght you
desire to change an offer already submitted, shahg@e may be made by telegram or letter, provideti &elegram or letter makes reference
to the solicitation and this amendment, and isiveceprior to the opening hour and date specit
12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA  (Ifequired). Net Decrease: [*]

See Schedu

13. THIS ITEM APPLIES ONLY TO MODIFICATIONS OF CONRACTS/ORDERS. IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. ,
DESCRIBED IN ITEM 14.

(x) A. THIS CHANGE BY CLAUSE IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO: (Spéctclause) THE CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14
ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.

Monthly Fuel Adjustment
B. THE ABOVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TO REECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES
(W (such as changes in paying office, appropriatide,dztc.) SET FORTH IN ITEM 14.
C. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO PURSUANTO AUTHORITY OF: THE CHANGES SET
O FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDER NQON ITEM 10A.
D. OTHER (such as no cost change/cancellation, tetiomeetc.) (Specify type of modification and authg: THE
O CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTRZT ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.
E. IMPORTANT: Contractofd] is not, is required to sign this document and return 1 copies to the issuing office.

14. DESCRIPTION OF AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION (Organigeby UCF section headings, including solicitatiamfract subject
matter where feasible.)

A) In accordance with contract ACN-13-FX and theiéFAdjustment” section, the following Line Haul iegfuel) for the Day Network, as
set out in Attachment 10, is modified for perforroamuring the period of April 28, 2014 through Jdn@014 (Operating Period 8) as
follows:

From:



[*] per cubic foot

To:
[*] per cubic foot

Continued...

Except as provided herein, all terms and conditafrithe document referenced in Item 9A or 10A, eetofore changed, remains unchar
and in full force and effect.

15A. NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNER 16A. NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER

(Type or print) (Type or print)

Paul J. Herron, Vice President Brian McKain

15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR 15C. DATE SIGNED| 16B. CONTRACT AUTHORITY 16C. DATE SIGNED

/sl PAUL J. HERRON . | 507114 /sl BRIAN MCKAIN . . 5/27/2014
(Signature of person authorized to si (Signature of Contracting Office

*Blank spaces contained confidential informationiethhas been filed separately with the SecuritrebExchange Commission pursuant to
Rule 241-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, adetk



CONTINUATION SHEET REQUISITION NO. PZAGE 02F
CONTRACT/ORDER NO. [AWARD/ MASTER/AGENCY CONTRACT NJ SOLICITATION NOJSOLICITATION
ACN-13-EX/015 EEFECTIVE DATE ISSUE DATE
04/28/2014
ITEM NO. SCHEDULE OF SUPPLIES / SERVICE QUANTITY] UNIT_|UNIT PRICE| AMOUNT

This is a decrease of [*].
[*]

Sub Rept Req'd: Y Carrier Code: FX Route Termini
S: Various Route Termini End: Various Payment
Terms: SEE CONTRACT

Discount Terms:

See Schedule

Accounting Info:

BFN: 670167

FOB: Destination

Period of Performance: 09/30/2013 to 9/30/2020

Change Item 00001 to read as follows:

00001 Day Network
Account Number: 53503 [*]

The dollar amounts included in boxes 12 and 14@r&JSPS internal
budgeting purposes only, and in no way provideaautee to the
supplier.

* Blank spaces contained confidential informationiet has been filed separately with the Securéies Exchange Commission pursuant to
Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act o183 amended.



Exhibit 10.43

AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT 1. CONTRACT ID CODE| PAGE OF
1,1

2. AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION NO. 3. EFFECTIVE DATE|4. REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQ. NO. [5. PROJECT NO.
016 05/14/2014 (If applicable)

6. ISSUED BY CODE 5ASNET 7. ADMINISTERED BY (If other than Item 1 CODE | 5ASNET

Alaina Earl Air Transportation CMC

Air Transportation CMC Air Transportation CMC

United States Postal Service United States Postal Service

475 L’Enfant Plaza SW 475 L’Enfant Plaza SW, Room 1P650

Room 1P 650 Washington DC 20260-0650

Washington DC 20260-0650

(202) 268-6580

8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (No., street, coy, Statd (x) | 9A. AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION NO.
and ZIP Code)
FEDERAL EXPRESS CORPORATION 9B. DATED (SEE ITEM 11)
3610 HACKS CROSS ROAD
MEMPHIS, TN 38125-8800

10A. MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT/ORDER NO.
x | ACN-13-FX

10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13)
04/23/201:

SUPPLIER CODE 0003891] FACILITY CODE
11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLICATIONS

O O is extended, O
is not extendec

Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendmeanot po the hour and date specified in the solt@taor as amended, by one of the
following methods

(a)By completing Items 8 and 15, and returning copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledgirgirg of this amendment on
each copy of the offer submitted; or (c) By sematetter or telegram which includes a referenah¢osolicitation and amendment number.
FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGMENT TO BE RECEIVED AT TH PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE RECEIPT OF OFFERS
PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IREJECTION OF YOUR OFFER. If by virtue of this amemght you
desire to change an offer already submitted, shahg@e may be made by telegram or letter, provideti &elegram or letter makes reference
to the solicitation and this amendment, and isiveceprior to the opening hour and date specit
12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPIRATION DATA  (Ifequired). $0.00

See Schedu

13. THIS ITEM APPLIES ONLY TO MODIFICATION OF CONTRCTS/ORDERS. IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS
DESCRIBED IN ITEM 14.

(x) | A. THIS CHANGE BY CLAUSE IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO: (Spictlause) THE CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14
ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.
|
B. THE ABOVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TO REECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES
(such as changes in paying office, appropriatide,dztc.) SET FORTH IN ITEM 14.
C. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO PURSUANTO AUTHORITY OF: THE CHANGES SET
o FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT ORDER NON ITEM 10A.
D. OTHER (such as no cost change/cancellation, tetinmaetc.) (Specify type of modification and autihg: THE
O CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTR2T ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.
E. IMPORTANT: Contractof] is not, is required to sign this document and return 1 copies to the issuing office.

14. DESCRIPTION OF AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION (Organigeby UCF section headings, including solicitatiamitact subject
matter where feasible.)

A) This Modification is put in place to clarify viaus Administrative Changes to the “Personnel Streg section of the contract per the
attached document.

Sub Rept Req'd: Y Carrier Code: FX Route Termini
S: Various Route Termini End: Various Payment



Terms: SEE CONTRACT
Period of Performance: 09/30/2013 to 09/30/2020

Except as provided herein, all terms and conditafithe document referenced in Item 9A or 10A, eetofore changed, remains unchar
and in full force and effect.

15A. NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNER 16A. NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER
(Type or print) (Type or print)
Paul J. Herron, Vice President Brian McKain
15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR 15C. DATE SIGNED| 16B. CONTRACT AUTHORITY 16C. DATE SIGNED
/s/ PAUL J. HERRON /s/ BRIAN MCKAIN
- _ — 5/23/14 - _ - 5/27/2014
(Signature of person authorized to si (Signature of Contracting Office




Postal Service Employees Allowed Access

The aviation supplier shall allow escorted Postfitials showing proper credentials access to aildings, field areas, ground equipment
being used to sort, stage, or transport mail utfdercontract or under any subcontract service®opaed under this contract. Government
regulations (e.g., Transportation Security Admnaison) will supersede this section.

The aviation supplier will allow unescorted accesBostal Service employees stationed on the awigtipplier’'s premises pending
compliance with all required processes. Photographydeo taping will not be permitted except aflinad in the security protocols.

Personnel Screening

In general, the Postal Service accepts air caggeurity program requirements set forth by the 3pantation Security Administration (TSA).
In addition to these, the Postal Service also masdadditional requirements.

The Postal Service is aware that the aviation seipplust implement its human resources progranas@ordance with certain state laws and
that in that respect there may be certain deviatiorthe literal application of some of the PoStaitvice requirements set forth herein.

In the event the aviation supplier establishesdtgtate law prohibits it from requesting fromdtaployees or prospective employees any ¢
of the information requested in responses to guest?1a through 21e of PS Form 202bntract Personnel Questionnairas required by
1.c below, or from certifying, as the result ofrarinal records check, to any of the items requstader 1.bCriminal History, below, the
aviation supplier shall be relieved of its contuattobligation to require employees or prospectingloyees to respond to the portions of
those questions requesting the prohibited inforomatir to provide that information as part of itsrinal records check. In these situations,
Postal Service Security Investigations Service @ef8ISC) shall conduct the required criminal clsegk outlined in 1.b. below.

To establish the existence and the extent of thkipitory effect of any such state law referenckdve, the aviation supplier shall provide to
the SISC documentary evidence (including a copyefstate law) demonstrating the stated prohihifidre Postal Service’s concurrence
about the prohibitory nature of a state law shatllie unreasonably withheld.

The Contracting Officer may, in consultation wittetaviation supplier and the U.S. Postal Inspec®iervice, grant other appropriate
deviations or implement alternate processes tetdredard U.S. Postal Inspection Service requiresrantetter.

Applicability

Individuals providing services to the Postal Sezvinider this contract (including aviation suppliemployees of aviation suppliers, and
subcontractors and their employees at all leveikginafter, “individuals,” who have been hireceathe effective date of this contract and
whose duties will or likely may involve handing thmail must obtain a security clearance from thed&ervice, as provided herein. Access
to the mail as defined by 3.a below is permitted@mn as the security clearance package has bbmitsd to the SISC in Memphis.

If the aviation supplier commences a new operdjiatiernally or with an aviation supplier) for thenpose of processing Postal volume, the
employees hired since the effective date of thigract will be subject to Personnel Screening.

Access to the mail is permitted as soon as theriggclearance package has been submitted to th€ 81 Memphis. If the aviation supplier
has ground handling services performed at air dtgpother aviation supplier (subcontractor), énid the best knowledge of the prime
aviation supplier, that subcontractor is in compudia with the provisions of this clause, the primaton supplier may certif



that fact to the Contracting Officer in writing,cathereby be relieved of the primary responsibfiitypersonnel screening. Prime aviation
suppliers are in all cases responsible for medtinge screening requirements for all persons hadngss to the mail who are their direct
employees. For example, if ABC, Inc. is an aviasopplier, and it performs ground handling serviaesne or more air stops for CDE, Inc.,
CDE must certify in writing that:

| certify that at the following air stops groundrwling services are being performed by ABC, and th#éhe best of my knowledge, ABC
is an aviation supplier of air transportation sexgs under contract number__. A listing of airpatsved by ABC is attached hereto as
follows.

Aviation suppliers must have clauses in their cets with subcontractors requiring adherence tdthstal Service screening procedures
contained in this contract.

1. Requirements: The aviation supplier, when employing individualso will or are likely to handle the mail in theniormance of
their duties under this contract, must providefthi®wing documentation as early as possible toSkeurity Investigations
Services Center (SISC), 225 N. Humphreys Blvdh, léorf Memphis, Tennessee, 38161-0001 for thosevithaal aviation
supplier employees who will or are likely to hantiie mail in the performance of their duties. (Faam be obtained by calling t
SISC at (901) 747-7712 or by email at Meg@uspis)gblve items listed in sub-sections 1 through 4 atidrough ¢ below must
be completed prior to the employee being grantechizsion to handle mail. For purposes of this reguent, the term
“complete” means that all tasks have been done, and the eggaibmissions to the SISC in Memphis have beerer

1. Completed PS Form 21-C. This form must be dated within 90 days of rechipthe SISC

2. PS Form 2025. Each item on the PS Form 2025 beuatidressed. Applicants must provide their cotepksidential
address, including city, state, and ZIP+4. The fanost be signed and dated by the applicant witBid&ys of receipt
by the SISC

3.  The aviation supplier must obtain and providtheSISC two original fingerprint cards (FD-258) €ach applicant.
The signature of the applicant and the individa&lrig the prints must be on each FD-258. In lieguifmitting
fingerprint cards, a FBI rap sheet may be submittealvided it is dated within 90 days of receipttbg SISC. The
Postal Inspection Service will provide additionalgerprint cards for aviation supplier use. Theddittonal forms
may be obtained by calling the Memphis office &1(974°-7712 or via email at Meg@uspis.g

4.  Certification and Transmittal Cover Sheet docatimg Criminal History records check as requiredshipsection
(b) below. The Certification and Transmittal cosbeet must include the administrative officer’'s patelephone
number, facility name, email address and mailindresss.

The aviation supplier is required to maintain alttfications required in sections a., b., andrctfi@ length of the contract.

a. Drug Screening: The aviation supplier must certify that individsigroviding service under this contract have passe
screening test for those substances identifiethéySubstance Abuse and Mental Health Services Aslration
(SAMHSA) as the five (5) most abused substancesltwhie cocaine, marijuana, amphetamine / methamuplires, opiate:
and phencyclidine (PCP). The tests must be perfdtnyea SAMHSA approved certified laboratory. Thagitest must
meet the cubff levels established by SAMHSA. All drug screemiests must be completed within ninety (90) dayer o
having access to the mail since drug tests oldar tiinety (90) days are invalid and must be red®he.prime



aviation suppliers and all subcontractors must ta&irthe name of the institution conducting the el a document
indicating if the employee passed or tested pasi

Criminal History : The aviation supplier must certify, based upamiminal records check (a state records checkpohe
employee through local agencies (state, countgitpr where the applicant has resided and workedhfe past five

(5) years (this may require multiple checks forleggmts who live in one location and work in anatkeeation, or for
applicants who have moved within that time peridkiat each individua

i. Has not been convicted of a felony criminal viaatin the past five (5) year

i. Has not been convicted of serious criminal ¢fesr(e.g. murder, rape, robbery, burglary, physisahults,
weapons violations, or drug charges [felony or misdanor])

iii. Does not have any pending felony or serious critiharges; an
iv. Is not on parole for or probation for any felonyserious criminal charge

This will be documented on the Certification an@rismittal Cover Sheet. This form is provided urfdersonnel Security
Administrative Instructions, and may be reprodulbgdhe aviation supplier.

Citizenship: Certification of U.S. citizenship must be documente PS Form 202%;ontract Personnel Questionnaifer
legal work status authorizing the individual to wan the United States is required. (I-9 FoEmployment Eligibility
Verification, is to be used for ni-citizens).



Exhibit 10.74

Compensation Arrangements with Named Executive Offiers

Base Salaries

FedEx’s named executive officers did not receiveelsalary increases for fiscal 2015. Accordindig, annual base salaries of FedEx’s
named executive officers remain as follows:

Name and Current Positic Base Salar
Frederick W. Smith $1,266,96!
Chairman, President and

Chief Executive Office

Alan B. Graf, Jr. $ 902,78
Executive Vice President a

Chief Financial Officel

David J. Bronczek $ 942,09¢
President and Chief Executive Offi— FedEx Expres
T. Michael Glenn $ 833,36:¢

Executive Vice Presider

Market Development ar

Corporate Communicatior

Robert B. Carter $ 762,96(
Executive Vice Presider

FedEx Information Services ai

Chief Information Office

Fiscal 2015 Annual Incentive Compensation Program
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer BadEx Express CEO

Mr. Smith’s fiscal 2015 annual incentive compermaif‘AIC”) payout opportunity will be tied to thechievement of corporate
objectives for company financial performance far fiscal year, subject to adjustment by the inddpahmembers of the Board of Directors
as described below. The fiscal 2015 AIC payout opymity for Mr. Bronczek, the president and chigéeutive officer of FedEx Express, w
be based on the same company financial performaeesures, subject to downward adjustment by MrttSbaised on Mr. Bronczek’s
achievement of individual performance objectivasigsshed at the beginning of the fiscal year. Smith will determine the achievement
level of Mr. Broncze’s individual performance objectives at the condnsif fiscal 2015



The independent members of the Board of Directgyen the recommendation of the Compensation Comaithay adjust Mr. Smits’
bonus amount upward or downward based on theiram@waluation of Mr. Smitls performance, including the quality and effectegnof hi
leadership, the execution of key strategic initiesi and the following corporate performance measure

FedEx’s stock price performance relative to then&aad & Poor’'s 500 Composite Index, the Dow Jores3portation Average,
the Dow Jones Industrial Average and competit

FedEx’s stock price to earnings (P/E) ratio relativ the Standard & Poor’s 500 Composite Indexxbe Jones Industrial
Average and competitor

FedEy's market capitalizatior
FedEy's revenue and operating income growth (excludimaceunusual items) relative to competitc

FedEXxs5 free cash flow (excluding business acquisitioretlyrn on invested capital (excluding certain walsems), and weighte
average cost of capite

Analyst coverage and ratings for Fe’s stock;
FedEys U.S. and international revenue market share
FedEy's reputation rankings by various publications andeys.

None of these factors will be given any particul@ight in determining whether to adjust Mr. Sr's bonus amount.

Mr. Smith’s and Mr. Bronczek’s fiscal 2015 AIC payavill be based on the following company finangalformance measures
(subject to adjustment as described above):

FedEx Express Segment Operating Incortieghe FedEx Express segment operating incongetarbjective under the fiscal 2015
AIC program is met or exceeded, a payout of 50%heif respective target bonus will be earned. Té@EX Express segment
operating income target objective under the fi€dl5 AIC program is higher than the fiscal 2015ifess plan objective for
FedEx Express segment operating inca

Consolidated Operating Incomé the FedEx Express segment operating incomgetarbjective under the fiscal 2015 AIC
program is achieved, the balance of Mr. Smith’s kindBronczek’s AIC payout opportunity will be tigd the achievement of
corporate objectives for consolidated operatingine, subject to the maximum payout opportunity. Gtesolidated operating
income target objective under the fiscal 2015 ArGgpam is higher than the fiscal 2015 business plgective for consolidated
operating income




Mr. Smith’s AIC bonus target for fiscal 2015 is 28®f his annual base salary (at fiscal year-enith amaximum payout of 200% of
his target bonus. Mr. Bronczek’s AIC bonus targetfiscal 2015 is 100% of his annual base salarfigeal year-end), with a maximum
payout of 200% of his target bonus.

Other Named Executive Officers

With respect to Messrs. Graf, Glenn and Carter, 80%eir target AIC payout will be based on th@iagement of individual
performance objectives established at the beginoifitige fiscal year for each executive. Mr. Smitifl determine the achievement level of
each executive’s individual objectives at the caosidn of fiscal 2015. The payout opportunity reigtto individual objectives will not be
contingent upon achievement of any company findpe&gormance objectives.

The balance of Messrs. Graf's, Glenn’s and CatAIC payout is contingent upon achievement ofRedEx Express segment opera
income target objective under the fiscal 2015 Ar@gpram. If such target objective is achieved, thkaihce of their AIC payout opportunity
will be based on the achievement of corporate oibjes for consolidated operating income (as desdriibove), subject to the maximum
payout opportunity.

The AIC bonus target for fiscal 2015 for each ofgsis. Graf, Glenn and Carter is 90% of their repeannual base salary (at fiscal
yearend), with a maximum payout of 200% of the tatgsrus.

Long-Term Incentive Program

LTI Payout Opportunities

FedEx’s long-term incentive (“LTI") plans for thbree-fiscal-year periods 2013 through 2015, 20tdutiph 2016 and 2015 through
2017 provide long-term cash bonus opportunitiesémbers of upper management, including the nameciugixe officers, upon the
conclusion of fiscal 2015, 2016 and 2017, respebtjuf certain aggregate fully diluted earnings peare (“EPS”) goals established by the
Board of Directors are achieved with respect ta¢hperiods. No amounts can be earned for the #2848 through 2015, 2014 through 2016
and 2015 through 2017 plans until 2015, 2016 arid 2fespectively, because achievement of the ERE gan only be determined followil
the conclusion of the applicable three-fiscal-ygeniod.




The following table sets forth the potential futy@youts to each of FedEx’s named executive officeder FedEx’s LTI plans:

Potential Future Payou

Performance Threshold Target Maximum
Name Period ($) (%) (%)
Frederick W. Smith FY201:-FY201t 1,000,000 4,000,000  6,000,00

FY2014-FY201€¢ 1,000,000 4,000,000  6,000,00!
FY201t-FY2017 1,000,000 4,000,000  6,000,00!
Alan B. Graf, Jr FY201:-FY201¢ 300,00¢  1,200,00¢ 1,800,001
FY2014+FY201¢€ 300,00  1,200,00¢  1,800,00
FY2015-FY2017 300,00  1,200,00¢  1,800,00t
David J. Bronczel FY201:-FY201¢ 375,00 1,500,000 2,250,001
FY2014-FY201¢ 375,00 1,500,000 2,250,00i
FY2015-FY2017 375,00 1,500,000 2,250,001
T. Michael Glenr FY201:-FY201¢ 300,00  1,200,00¢ 1,800,001
FY2014FY201¢€ 300,00¢  1,200,00¢  1,800,00
FY2015-FY201i 300,00¢  1,200,00¢ 1,800,001
Robert B. Carte FY201:-FY201¢ 300,00¢  1,200,00¢ 1,800,001
FY2014-FY201¢ 300,00¢  1,200,00¢  1,800,00i
FY2015-FY201i 300,00  1,200,00¢ 1,800,00t

The potential individual future payouts set fomkthe table above are set dollar amounts rangorg threshold (minimum) amounts, if
the EPS goal achieved is less than target, up knmuan amounts, if the plan goal is substantiallgeeded. There can be no assurance th
potential future payouts shown in this table wéldchieved.

Stock Repurchase PrograRelated Adjustments to EPS for LTI Plan Purposes

During fiscal 2014, FedEx repurchased 36.8 milbbares as part of its stock repurchase programrékhetion in outstanding shares
resulting from the stock repurchase program in@eédiscal 2014 EPS. Because this positive impathdt reflect core business performance,
the Board of Directors, upon the recommendatiothefCompensation Committee, approved the exclusfitime impact of the stock
repurchase program (net of interest expense onisiled to fund a portion of the program) on fif#l4 EPS for purposes of the LTI plans.
As a result, adjusted fiscal 2014 EPS of $6.68 belused for purposes of the FY2013-FY2015 and B¥Z0Y2016 LTI plans, rather than
reported fiscal 2014 EPS of $6.75.

Fiscal 2015 and 2016 EPS will be adjusted usinighndas methodology to exclude the impact of thecktoepurchase program following
the end of those fiscal years for purposes of th20A3-FY2015 and FY2014-FY2016 LTI plans.

4



Modified BaseYear EPS for FY201%Y2017 LTI Plan

Traditionally, the base-year number over whichttiree-year average annual EPS growth rate goalm@asured for an LTI plan is the
final full-year EPS of the preceding fiscal yeaor Ehe FY2015-FY2017 LTI plan, however, the basaryear number will be $7.12, not
reported fiscal 2014 EPS of $6.75. The Board oé€&lors, upon the recommendation of the Compens@iionmittee, approved this increase

in the base-year EPS in order to exclude the impidleedEX’s stock repurchase program on a prosgebasis, thereby making subsequent
adjustments of EPS in future years unnecessanyuigroses of the FY2015-FY2017 LTI plan.

5



Exhibit 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF FEDEX CORPORATION

The following is a list of subsidiaries of FedExrgoration as of May 31, 2014. Pursuant to Iltem BJ2() of Regulation S-K, we have
omitted some subsidiaries that, considered in ¢ogemate as a single subsidiary, would not constésignificant subsidiary as of May 31,

2014 under Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X. FedExgooation owns, directly or indirectly, 100% of theting securities of each of the listed
subsidiaries.

NAME OF SUBSIDIARY

JURISDICTION OF
INCORPORATION OR
ORGANIZATION

Federal Express Corporati
Federal Express Canada L
Federal Express International, i
Federal Express Pacific, Ir
Federal Express Europe, It
Federal Express Holdings S.

FedEx International Holdings Limited (LuxembourgLCSS.

Federal Express (China) Company Limi
FedEx Brasil Logistica e Transporte S
FedEx de México S. de R.L. de C.
FedEx UK Limited
FedEx Trade Networks, In
FedEx Trade Networks Trade Services,
World Tariff, Limited
FedEx Trade Networks Transport & Brokerage,
FedEx Ground Package System, |
FedEx Ground Package System, |
FedEx SmartPost, In
FedEx Freight Corporatic
FedEx Freight, Inc
FedEx Custom Ciritical, Int
FedEx Corporate Services, It
FedEx TechConnect, In
FedEx SupplyChain Systems, h
FedEx Office and Print Services, It

Delaware
Canade
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Grand Duchy of Luxembour
Peopl¢s Republic of Chini
Federative Republic of Bra:z
United Mexican State
England and Wale
Delaware
Delaware
California
New York
Delaware
Wyoming
Delaware
Delaware
Arkansas
Ohio
Delaware
Delaware
Ohio
Texas



Exhibit 23
Consent of the Independent Registered Public Accoting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-1923853,171232, 333-03443, 333-45037,
333-71065, 333-34934, 333-100572, 333-111399, 233+18, 333-130619, 333-156333 and Form S-3 No.1BZ389) of FedEx
Corporation and in the related Prospectuses ofeports dated July 14, 2014, with respect to thesclidated financial statements and

schedule of FedEx Corporation, and the effectiveinéinternal control over financial reporting afdEx Corporation, included in this Ann
Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended May 31, 2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Memphis, Tennessee
July 14, 2014



Exhibit 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, a Director of FedEx Corporatihe “Corporation”), a Delaware corporation, sibereby constitute and appoint
Frederick W. Smith, Alan B. Graf, Jr. and John LerMo, and each of them, with full power of suhgittn and resubstitution, his true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full paveand authority to execute in the name and on helfithe undersigned as such Director, the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K with resipi® the Corporation’s fiscal year ended May 3114 and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all #&tl attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of tramtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hans #8ith day of June, 2014.

/s/ JAMES L. BARKSDALE
James L. Barksda

STATE OF TENNESSEE
COUNTY OF SHELBY

I, Joyce J. Jones, a Notary Public in and for €aidnty, in the aforesaid State, do hereby certiff James L. Barksdale, personally
known to me to be the same person whose namessrsied to the foregoing instrument, appeared lefoe this day in person, and
acknowledged that he signed and delivered theissidiment as his free and voluntary act, for thesuand purposes therein set forth.

/s/ JOYCE J. JONES
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

12-1C-2016



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, a Director of FedEx Corponatthe “Corporation”), a Delaware corporation, sibereby constitute and appoint
Frederick W. Smith, Alan B. Graf, Jr. and John Lervio, and each of them, with full power of suhgiitn and resubstitution, his true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full paveend authority to execute in the name and on helfithe undersigned as such Director, the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K with resip® the Corporation’s fiscal year ended May 3114 and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all gwt attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of th@mtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand 1t3ith day of June, 2014.

/s/ JOHN A. EDWARDSON
John A. Edwardso

STATE OF TENNESSEE
COUNTY OF SHELBY

I, Joyce J. Jones, a Notary Public in and for €aidnty, in the aforesaid State, do hereby certifit fohn A. Edwardson, personally
known to me to be the same person whose name ssriobd to the foregoing instrument, appeared befue this day in person, and
acknowledged that he signed and delivered theissiciment as his free and voluntary act, for teesuand purposes therein set forth.

/s JOYCE J. JONES
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

12-1C-2016



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, a Director of FedEx Corponatthe “Corporation”), a Delaware corporation, sibereby constitute and appoint
Frederick W. Smith, Alan B. Graf, Jr. and John Lervo, and each of them, with full power of suhsgiiin and resubstitution, her true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full paveend authority to execute in the name and on helfithe undersigned as such Director, the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K with resip® the Corporation’s fiscal year ended May 3114 and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all gwt attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of th@mtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hansd 15ith day of June, 2014.

/sl MARVIN R. ELLISON
Marvin R. Ellison

STATE OF TENNESSEE
COUNTY OF SHELBY

I, Joyce J. Jones, a Notary Public in and for €aidnty, in the aforesaid State, do hereby certifif Marvin R. Ellison, personally
known to me to be the same person whose name ssriobd to the foregoing instrument, appeared befue this day in person, and
acknowledged that she signed and delivered thersstidiment as her free and voluntary act, forubes and purposes therein set forth.

/s JOYCE J. JONES
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

12-1C-2016



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, a Director of FedEx Corponatthe “Corporation”), a Delaware corporation, sibereby constitute and appoint
Frederick W. Smith, Alan B. Graf, Jr. and John Lervo, and each of them, with full power of suhsgiiin and resubstitution, her true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full paveend authority to execute in the name and on helfithe undersigned as such Director, the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K with resip® the Corporation’s fiscal year ended May 3114 and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all gwt attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of th@mtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hans @tih day of June, 2014.

/s/ KIMBERLY ANN JABAL
Kimberly Ann Jaba

STATE OF TENNESSEE
COUNTY OF SHELBY

I, Joyce J. Jones, a Notary Public in and for €aidnty, in the aforesaid State, do hereby certifif Kimberly Ann Jabal, personally
known to me to be the same person whose name ssriobd to the foregoing instrument, appeared befue this day in person, and
acknowledged that she signed and delivered thersstidiment as her free and voluntary act, forubes and purposes therein set forth.

/s JOYCE J. JONES
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

12-1C-2016



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, a Director of FedEx Corponatthe “Corporation”), a Delaware corporation, sibereby constitute and appoint
Frederick W. Smith, Alan B. Graf, Jr. and John Lervo, and each of them, with full power of suhsgiiin and resubstitution, her true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full paveend authority to execute in the name and on helfithe undersigned as such Director, the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K with resip® the Corporation’s fiscal year ended May 3114 and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all gwt attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of th@mtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand t#ith day of June, 2014.

/s/ SHIRLEY ANN JACKSON
Shirley Ann Jackso

STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF RENSSELAER

I, Theresa Hobbs, a Notary Public in and for saidii@@y, in the aforesaid State, do hereby certifit Bhirley Ann Jackson, personally
known to me to be the same person whose name ssriodd to the foregoing instrument, appeared befue this day in person, and
acknowledged that she signed and delivered thersstidiment as her free and voluntary act, forubes and purposes therein set forth.

/sl THERESA HOBBS
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

12/27/17



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, a Director of FedEx Corponatthe “Corporation”), a Delaware corporation, sibereby constitute and appoint
Frederick W. Smith, Alan B. Graf, Jr. and John Lervio, and each of them, with full power of suhgiitn and resubstitution, his true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full paveend authority to execute in the name and on helfithe undersigned as such Director, the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K with resip® the Corporation’s fiscal year ended May 3114 and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all gwt attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of th@mtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand tith day of June, 2014.

/s/ STEVEN R. LORANGER
Steven R. Lorange

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SANTA BARBARA

I, Dawn Alisha Mitcham, a Notary Public in and &&id County, in the aforesaid State, do herebyfgdtat Steven R. Loranger,
personally known to me to be the same person whase is subscribed to the foregoing instrumenteapu before me this day in person,
and acknowledged that he signed and deliveredatiddrsstrument as his free and voluntary act, ierises and purposes therein set forth.

/sl DAWN ALISHA MITCHAM
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

April 2, 2018



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, a Director of FedEx Corponatthe “Corporation”), a Delaware corporation, sibereby constitute and appoint
Frederick W. Smith, Alan B. Graf, Jr. and John Lervio, and each of them, with full power of suhgiitn and resubstitution, his true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full paveend authority to execute in the name and on helfithe undersigned as such Director, the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K with resip® the Corporation’s fiscal year ended May 3114 and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all gwt attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of th@mtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hang @th day of June, 2014.

/s/ GARY W. LOVEMAN
Gary W. Lovemat

STATE OF TENNESSEE
COUNTY OF SHELBY

I, Joyce J. Jones, a Notary Public in and for €aidnty, in the aforesaid State, do hereby certifit Gary W. Loveman, personally
known to me to be the same person whose name ssriobd to the foregoing instrument, appeared befue this day in person, and
acknowledged that he signed and delivered theissiciment as his free and voluntary act, for teesuand purposes therein set forth.

/s JOYCE J. JONES
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

12-1C-2016



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, a Director of FedEx Corponatthe “Corporation”), a Delaware corporation, sibereby constitute and appoint
Frederick W. Smith, Alan B. Graf, Jr. and John Lervio, and each of them, with full power of suhgiitn and resubstitution, his true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full paveend authority to execute in the name and on helfithe undersigned as such Director, the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K with resip® the Corporation’s fiscal year ended May 3114 and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all gwt attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of th@mtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand ith day of June, 2014.

/s/ R. BRAD MARTIN
R. Brad Matrtin

STATE OF TENNESSEE
COUNTY OF SHELBY

I, Rachel Wohlfarth, a Notary Public in and fords@ounty, in the aforesaid State, do hereby cettiéy R. Brad Martin, personally
known to me to be the same person whose name ssriodd to the foregoing instrument, appeared befue this day in person, and
acknowledged that he signed and delivered theissiciment as his free and voluntary act, for teesuand purposes therein set forth.

/sl RACHEL WOHLFARTH
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

2/19/201¢



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, a Director of FedEx Corponatthe “Corporation”), a Delaware corporation, sibereby constitute and appoint
Frederick W. Smith, Alan B. Graf, Jr. and John Lervio, and each of them, with full power of suhgiitn and resubstitution, his true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full paveend authority to execute in the name and on helfithe undersigned as such Director, the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K with resip® the Corporation’s fiscal year ended May 3114 and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all gwt attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of th@mtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hang @th day of June, 2014.

/s/ JOSHUA COOPER RAMO
Joshua Cooper Ran

STATE OF TENNESSEE
COUNTY OF SHELBY

I, Anne R. Coleman, a Notary Public in and for daalinty, in the aforesaid State, do hereby cetttifif Joshua Cooper Ramo,
personally known to me to be the same person whase is subscribed to the foregoing instrumenteapm before me this day in person,
and acknowledged that he signed and deliveredatiddrsstrument as his free and voluntary act, ierises and purposes therein set forth.

/sl ANNE R. COLEMAN
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

9-17-2017



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, a Director of FedEx Corponatthe “Corporation”), a Delaware corporation, sibereby constitute and appoint
Frederick W. Smith, Alan B. Graf, Jr. and John Lervio, and each of them, with full power of suhgiitn and resubstitution, his true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full paveend authority to execute in the name and on helfithe undersigned as such Director, the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K with resip® the Corporation’s fiscal year ended May 3114 and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all gwt attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of th@mtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand 2aith day of June, 2014.

/s/ SUSAN C. SCHWAB
Susan C. Schws

STATE OF TENNESSEE
COUNTY OF SHELBY

I, Joyce J. Jones, a Notary Public in and for €aidnty, in the aforesaid State, do hereby certifif Susan C. Schwab, personally kn
to me to be the same person whose name is sulibtoiltlee foregoing instrument, appeared beforehisediay in person, and acknowledged
that she signed and delivered the said instrumeheafree and voluntary act, for the uses andqeeptherein set forth.

/s JOYCE J. JONES
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

12-1C-2016



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, a Director of FedEx Corponatthe “Corporation”), a Delaware corporation, sibereby constitute and appoint
Frederick W. Smith, Alan B. Graf, Jr. and John Lervio, and each of them, with full power of suhgiitn and resubstitution, his true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full paveend authority to execute in the name and on helfithe undersigned as such Director, the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K with resip® the Corporation’s fiscal year ended May 3114 and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all gwt attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of th@mtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hans 2md day of June, 2014.

/s/ DAVID P. STEINER
David P. Steine

STATE OF TEXAS
COUNTY OF HARRIS

I, Ayn B. Garza, a Notary Public in and for saidu@ity, in the aforesaid State, do hereby certify Bbavid P. Steiner, personally known
to me to be the same person whose name is sulibtoiltlee foregoing instrument, appeared beforehisediay in person, and acknowledged
that he signed and delivered the said instrumehisafsee and voluntary act, for the uses and pmepaherein set forth.

/sl AYN B. GARZA
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

05-03-2016



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, a Director of FedEx Corponatthe “Corporation”), a Delaware corporation, sibereby constitute and appoint
Frederick W. Smith, Alan B. Graf, Jr. and John Lervio, and each of them, with full power of suhgiitn and resubstitution, his true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full paveend authority to execute in the name and on helfithe undersigned as such Director, the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K with resip® the Corporation’s fiscal year ended May 3114 and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all gwt attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of th@mtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hans 4tih day of June, 2014.

/s/ PAUL S. WALSH
Paul S. Walsl

ENGLAND AND WALES

I, Mark Jonathan White, a Commissioner for Oattts alicitor, do hereby certify that Paul S. Walgérsonally known to me to be the
same person whose name is subscribed to the fagegutrument, appeared before me this day in peesuwd acknowledged that he signed
and delivered the said instrument as his free ahghtary act, for the uses and purposes thereifogét

/sl MARK JONATHAN WHITE
Commissioner for Oaths al

Solicitor of the Supreme Court
Judicature of England and Wa

4 June 201«



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, the principal financial afiof FedEx Corporation (the “Corporation”), a Dredae corporation, does hereby
constitute and appoint Frederick W. Smith and Johvierino, and each of them, with full power of stitution and resubstitution, his true
and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with fadiwer and authority to execute in the name andedralb of the undersigned as such officer,
the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K wilspect to the Corporation’s fiscal year ended Mgy2814, and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all gwt attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of th@mtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand @th day of June, 2014.

/s/ ALAN B. GRAF, JR.
Alan B. Graf, Jr

STATE OF TENNESSEE
COUNTY OF SHELBY

I, Anne R. Coleman, a Notary Public in and for Saalinty, in the aforesaid State, do hereby cettifif Alan B. Graf, Jr., personally
known to me to be the same person whose name ssriodd to the foregoing instrument, appeared befue this day in person, and
acknowledged that he signed and delivered theissiciment as his free and voluntary act, for teesuand purposes therein set forth.

/sl ANNE R. COLEMAN
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

9-17-2017



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, the principal executive effiend a director of FedEx Corporation (the “Cogtion”), a Delaware corporation,
does hereby constitute and appoint Alan B. Grafdd John L. Merino, and each of them, with faliver of substitution and resubstitution,
his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agenih full power and authority to execute in the naanel on behalf of the undersigned as such
officer and director, the Corporation’s Annual Rem Form 10-K with respect to the Corporationscél year ended May 31, 2014, and any
and all amendments thereto; and hereby ratifiescanfirms all that said attorneys-in-fact and ageat any of them, or their or his substitute
or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be doneirtue of these presents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand tith day of June, 2014.

/s/ FREDERICK W. SMITH
Frederick W. Smitt

STATE OF TENNESSEE
COUNTY OF SHELBY

I, Anne R. Coleman, a Notary Public in and for daalinty, in the aforesaid State, do hereby cetttifif Frederick W. Smith, personally
known to me to be the same person whose name ssriodd to the foregoing instrument, appeared befue this day in person, and
acknowledged that he signed and delivered theissiciment as his free and voluntary act, for teesuand purposes therein set forth.

/sl ANNE R. COLEMAN
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

9-17-2017



POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That the undersigned, the principal accountingceffiof FedEx Corporation (the “Corporation”), a @®ghre corporation, does hereby
constitute and appoint Frederick W. Smith and AaGraf, Jr., and each of them, with full powesabstitution and resubstitution, his true
and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with fadiwer and authority to execute in the name andedralb of the undersigned as such officer,
the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K wilspect to the Corporation’s fiscal year ended Mgy2814, and any and all amendments
thereto; and hereby ratifies and confirms all gwt attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of th@mtheir or his substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of thpeesents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand 2aith day of June, 2014.

/s/ JOHN L. MERINO
John L. Merinc

STATE OF TENNESSEE
COUNTY OF SHELBY

I, Joyce J. Jones, a Notary Public in and for €xidnty, in the aforesaid State, do hereby certifit fohn L. Merino, personally known
to me to be the same person whose name is sulibtoiltlee foregoing instrument, appeared beforehisediay in person, and acknowledged
that he signed and delivered the said instrumehtisafsee and voluntary act, for the uses and pepaherein set forth.

/s JOYCE J. JONES
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

12-10-2016



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIEEXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Frederick W. Smith, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of FedEx Corporation (th“registran”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period

covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financégdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyaport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallyciéfe, or is reasonably likely to materially affettte registrang internal control ove
financial reporting; an

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent

functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: July 14, 201

/s/ Frederick W. Smith

Frederick W. Smitt
Chairman, President ai
Chief Executive Office



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIEEXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Alan B. Graf, Jr., certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of FedEx Corporation (th“registran”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period

covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financégdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyaport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallyciéfe, or is reasonably likely to materially affettte registrang internal control ove
financial reporting; an

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent

functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: July 14, 201

/sl Alan B. Graf, Jr.

Alan B. Graf, Jr.
Executive Vice President ai
Chief Financial Office



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of FedEx Cagtion (“FedEX”) on Form 10-K for the period endddy 31, 2014 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), |, Frederick W. Smith, certifgursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@ydt of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementseéttion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of
FedEx.

Date: July 14, 2014

/s/ Frederick W. Smit|
Frederick W. Smitt
Chairman, President ai
Chief Executive Office




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of FedEx Cagtion (“FedEX”) on Form 10-K for the period endddy 31, 2014 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), |, Alan B. Graf, Jr., certifyupsuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@ydt of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementseéttion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of
FedEx.

Date: July 14, 2014

/sl Alan B. Graf, Jr

Alan B. Graf, Jr

Executive Vice President al
Chief Financial Office




